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Important information  

This Registration Document has been approved by the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway (the 

“Norwegian FSA” or “Finanstilsynet”), as competent authority under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. 

The Norwegian FSA only approves this Registration Document as meeting the standards of 

completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. Hence, 

the Norwegian FSA has not examined or approved the correctness of the information disclosed in the 

Registration Document. Nor has the Norwegian FSA performed any form of examination or approval 

of company law aspects described in, or encompassed by, the Registration Document. Consequently, 

such approval by the Norwegian FSA should not be considered as an endorsement of the Company 

that is the subject of this Registration Document 

The Registration Document has been prepared in connection with listing of the bonds at Oslo Børs. 

The Registration Document is based on sources such as annual reports and publicly available 

information and forward looking information based on current expectations, estimates and 

projections about global economic conditions, the economic conditions of the regions and industries 

that are major markets for the Company and Guarantors’ lines of business.   

A prospective investor should consider carefully the factors set forth in chapter 1 Risk factors, and 

elsewhere in the Prospectus, and should consult his or her own expert advisers as to the suitability 

of an investment in bonds, including any legal requirements, exchange control regulations and tax 

consequences within the country of residence and domicile for the acquisition, holding and disposal 

of bonds relevant to such prospective investor. 

The managers and/or affiliated companies and/or officers, directors and employees may be a market 

maker or hold a position in any instrument or related instrument discussed in this Registration 

Document, and may perform or seek to perform financial advisory or banking services related to such 

instruments. The managers’ corporate finance departments may act as manager or co-manager for 

the Issuer in private and/or public placement and/or resale not publicly available or commonly known.   

Copies of this Registration Document are not being mailed or otherwise distributed or sent in or into 

or made available in the United States. Persons receiving this document (including custodians, 

nominees and trustees) must not distribute or send such documents or any related documents in or 

into the United States. 

Other than in compliance with applicable United States securities laws, no solicitations are being 

made or will be made, directly or indirectly, in the United States. Securities will not be registered 

under the United States Securities Act of 1933 and may not be offered or sold in the United States 

absent registration or an applicable exemption from registration requirements. 

The distribution of the Registration Document may be limited by law also in other jurisdictions, for 

example in the United Kingdom. Verification and approval of the Registration Document by the 

Norwegian FSA implies that the Registration Document may be used in any EEA country. No other 

measures have been taken to obtain authorisation to distribute the Registration Document in any 

jurisdiction where such action is required.  

This Registration Document is not an offer to sell or a request to buy bonds. 

The Registration Document together with a Securities Note and any supplements to these documents 

constitutes the Prospectus. 

Unless otherwise stated, the Prospectus is subject to Norwegian law. In the event of any dispute 

regarding the Prospectus, Norwegian law will apply. 

The content of the Prospectus does not constitute legal, financial or tax advice and bond owners 

should seek legal, financial and/or tax advice. 
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1 RISK FACTORS 

General 

An investment in bonds involves inherent risks. A prospective investor should carefully consider the 

risk factors and all information contained in this Registration Document, including the financial 

statements and related notes, and should consult his or her own expert advisors as to the suitability 

of an investment in securities of the Company. The risks and uncertainties described in this section 

of the Registration Document are not intended to be exhaustive, but only intended to highlight the 

principal known risks and uncertainties faced by the Company as at the date hereof, that the 

Company believes are relevant to an investment in the securities of the Company. An investment in 

securities of the Company is suitable only for investors who understand the risks associated with this 

type of investment and who can afford a loss of all or part of their investment. The absence of 

negative experience associated with a given risk factor does not mean that the risks and uncertainties 

described are not a genuine potential threat to an investment in securities of the Company.  

If any of the following risks were to materialise, individually or together with other circumstances, 

they could have a material adverse effect on the Company and its subsidiaries and/or its/their 

business, results of operations, cash flow and financial condition and/or prospects, which may cause 

the value of the securities of the Company to deteriorate and/or the Company being unable to fulfil 

its payment obligations under such securities, resulting in the loss of all or part of an investment in 

the same. The risks mentioned herein may materialise individually or cumulatively. The risk factors 

for the Company and the Group (including all Guarantors) are considered to be equivalent for the 

purpose of this Registration Document unless otherwise stated. The information in this section is 

based on facts and circumstances as at the date of this Registration Document. 

Industry risks 

Highly competitive market – the markets for wet room panels, tiles, wallpaper, paint and other 

substitutes for the Group’s products are highly competitive. It is the Group’s view that its market 

share in certain markets for wet room panels is strong but that its overall market share when 

including tiles, wallpaper and paint is relatively low. Although the Group has several competitive 

advantages (including brand recognition and the low cost of its offering), there can be no assurance 

that alternative product offerings may be introduced by the Group's (existing or new) competitors, 

which undermine the Group’s existing market share. Any increase in competition in the Group’s core 

markets or its failure to compete successfully against current as well as new competitors in the future 

could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition and future prospects. 

Product development and quality – the Group’s business and offering of wet-room products is 

dependent upon its ability to maintain a high product quality and to develop new products and 

services and to offer such products and services in a cost and time effective manner within existing 

and new market segments. Furthermore, the Group’s wet-room panels, as well as substitutes such 

as tiles and wallpaper products, are subject to differing local “wet-room” regulations in certain of the 

jurisdictions it conducts business with which it must comply affecting design and development of its 

products. If the Group is not successful in developing new products and technology competitively or 

in a timely and cost-effective manner, or to maintain the quality of its existing offering, the Group's 

business, financial condition and future prospects could be materially adversely affected. 

Issuer specific risks 

IP rights and know how - the Group relies on a combination of trademarks, trade secrets and 

confidentiality provisions to establish and protect the Group’s intellectual property (IP) and know how 

related to its design and development of wet-room products. A third party may question, challenge 

or infringe the Group's designs and/or other IP/know how or require the Group to pay royalties for 

the use of services, products, designs and IP/know how owned by others.  

Furthermore, the Group could also be required to pay royalties for the use of services, products, 

designs and IP/know how owned by others. Furthermore, certain production methods and designs 
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used by the Group in its wet-room products have not been patented or registered and, in some cases, 

have only been registered in Norway. In some instances, development of various designs and/or 

production methods is made in cooperation with third parties and not all of these processes have 

historically been formalised in development agreements (or similar). The occurrence of any such 

disputes, an adverse decision in respect of any dispute, or increased competition or the failure to 

protect the Group’s intellectual property rights sufficiently could have a material adverse effect on 

the Group’s business or financial position. 

Brand value and reputation – the reputation and brand value of the Group's respective brands and 

trade names are important for the continued success of the Group’s business. Any negative publicity 

hurting the reputation of the Group may affect the perceived attractiveness among both customers 

and candidates and consequently have a material adverse effect on future performance. 

Uninsured losses and liabilities – the Group’s existing insurance coverage may be insufficient to cover 

all risks associated with its business and operations. The Group is exposed to various types of risks, 

such as product liability, property damage, third party liability and business interruption. While the 

Group maintains product liability insurance and other insurance cover standard for companies in the 

same line of business, the Group is unable to insure against indirect consequences of product defects, 

such as rehousing end customers and renovating building as a result of leaks. The occurrence of any 

material liability in respect of which there is not sufficient insurance coverage may result in a material 

adverse effect on the business, financial condition, operating results and/or cash flows of the Group. 

Risk of labour issues and disputes - the working environment in the Group is considered by the board 

of directors to be good, however, organised labour unrest or disputes cannot be ruled out as a number 

of the Group’s employees in Norway are members of trade unions. Labour unrest or disputes could 

prevent or hinder the Group's production and timely delivery to customers, potentially risking 

breaches of customer contracts and loss of customers. If not resolved in a timely and cost effective 

manner, any such labour unrest or disputes could therefore have a material adverse effect on its 

business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. 

Health and safety risks potential claims and penalties - the Group is subject to a broad range of 

health and safety laws and regulations in each of the jurisdictions in which it operates, and these 

laws and regulations impose increasingly stringent health and safety protection standards. The costs 

of complying with, and the liabilities imposed pursuant to, health and safety laws and regulations 

could be significant, and failure to comply could result in the assessment of civil and criminal 

penalties, suspension of permits, temporary or permanent closure of production facilities, or claims 

or lawsuits by third parties. The Group is subject to the risk of industrial accidents that could lead to 

production stoppages, the loss of key assets and employees (and those of subcontractors and 

suppliers) or injuries to persons living near affected sites. The occurrence of any of these events 

could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business and financial condition. 

Supplier agreements - the running of the Group’s business is dependent on several suppliers. While 

none of those suppliers are sole source suppliers, in order to obtain the optimal balance of pricing 

and supply volumes, it is necessary to have a number of different suppliers for each of the materials 

required for the Company’s production processes. The contractual agreements with those suppliers 

contain undertakings and warranties to which the Group is bound, including, in certain cases, 

minimum purchase requirements and guaranteed volumes, which may prove challenging to meet in 

more difficult market conditions. Any failure by the Group to meet such guaranteed volume 

requirements may result in the loss of key suppliers, and conversely where minimum purchase 

requirements are included in supply contracts, the Issuer may be obliged to purchase products that 

they are unable to sell on to customers in the short term, or at all, leading to unnecessary costs 

(including potentially storage or disposal costs). In the event that the Group’s relationships with any 

of its existing suppliers are terminated due to contractual breaches or otherwise, the Group may find 

it difficult to replace those suppliers on similar economic terms or at all. Any failure to continue to 

honour existing arrangements or to replace existing suppliers whose business is lost for any reason 

may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business and financial position. 
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Risk related to global events - the uncertainties and recent downturn of the global economy as a 

result of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, could adversely affect the Group's business. Certain of the 

Group’s suppliers are based in Russia and may be subject to trade sanctions imposed by the EU. The 

Group is monitoring the situation closely and has initiated a process to replace its Russian suppliers. 

Any failure of the Group to replace sanctioned suppliers may cause production delays, which may 

have a material adverse effect on the Group's business and financial position. 

 

Customer agreements and risk of reduced sales volumes - the Group's customer agreements include, 

in a number of cases, comprehensive schemes for customer rebates, bonuses and marketing support 

and several of the agreements contain provisions regarding annual price negotiations, strict 

requirements to ethical standards, and in a few cases free return policies and other undertakings and 

warranties. Furthermore, free return policies and the absence of minimum purchase obligations 

where applicable may lead to increased returns and lower purchase volumes in a downturn market 

and therefore a lower sales volume and revenue for the Group. A failure to comply with the terms of 

such customer agreements or to effectively deal with the effects of reduced volumes in the event of 

a downturn in the market may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business and financial 

position.    

Foreign exchange risk - the Group is exposed to currency exchange fluctuations, particularly to 

fluctuations in NOK/USD and NOK/EUR under its supplier agreements (primarily in connection with 

access to raw materials) and, by virtue of its operations in the UK and Sweden, SEK/NOK and GBP 

/NOK fluctuations.  The recent weakening of the NOK against the USD, EUR and SEK currencies may 

have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations, cash flows and financial 

condition.  

Risks related to debt financing – the Group has high leverage and may not be able to repay all or 

part of the indebtedness, or alternatively, refinance all or part of the indebtedness on commercially 

reasonable terms. The Group may not be able to comply with the covenants (and in particular the 

financial covenants) contained in the debt instruments. The occurrence of any one of these events 

could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition. Increased 

debt levels may impair the Issuer’s ability to borrow additional capital on a timely basis to fund 

opportunities as they arise. 

Seasonality - the Group’s business is subject to seasonality in the demand for its products, peaking 

in the first and fourth quarters of the year. As the Group relies on the availability of capital to fund 

its operations, extraordinary working capital needs or the lack of availability of working capital on 

acceptable terms or at all during periods of reduced sales during the second and third quarter of the 

year, caused by market fluctuations or otherwise may have a material adverse effect on the Group's 

ability to fund its operations. This risk is exacerbated by the fact that the Group’s suppliers also suffer 

from seasonality and fluctuations in their ability to supply materials to the Group. It may be that to 

obtain the required volume of materials, the Group is forced to order volumes throughout the year 

therefore placing strains on the working capital of the Group at times of lower levels of business. 

Regulatory and environmental risk – the Group's operations are currently not regulated by law or 

regulation, nor are they subject to any licences, and waste from the Group's production facilities is 

currently not considered harmful to the environment. However, several of the customer and supplier 

agreements entered into by the Group contain requirements with regards to various certifications 

(for instance Forest steward council certification). The introduction of new laws, regulations and 

industry standards could affect the Group’s operations, by increasing operating costs or by restricting 

or making it more challenging for it to conduct its business and operations. Furthermore, the 

Company has subsidiaries in jurisdictions outside Norway, including the UK, which are subject to 

different regulatory regimes. Expansion into new jurisdictions on the basis of distribution contracts 

also brings with it exposure to unknown regulatory regimes and customer requirements. While 

distribution agreements include requirements for the distributor to comply with local requirements 
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and regulations, any unforeseen additional requirements may lead to further costs or an inability to 

distribute to certain customers in a specific jurisdiction, or even claims for breaches of such 

requirements or regulations. Any changes to the regulatory environment the Group operates in, or 

failure to meet existing or new requirements or challenges, may have a material adverse effect on 

the Group’s business and financial position. 

Risks related to the corona virus (COVID-19) and other contagious diseases - the COVID-19 global 

pandemic and efforts to contain it has severely impacted companies and markets globally. Although 

the financial performance of the Group has continued to strengthen during the outbreak, the Group 

has suffered a negative impact from the COVID-19 pandemic, mainly through reduced revenue from 

UK activities due to lockdowns and the weak Norwegian currency. Any future outbreak of COVID-19 

or other contagious diseases is beyond the Group’s control and there is no assurance that any future 

outbreak of COVID-19 or other contagious diseases occurring in areas in which the Group, its 

suppliers or customers operate, will not seriously interrupt the Group’s business. The occurrence of 

any such interruptions may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business and financial 

position. 

Brexit risk - Uncertainty surrounding consequences of the exit of the United Kingdom from the 

European Union (“Brexit”) may be a source of instability in international markets, create significant 

currency fluctuations, and adversely impact current trading and supply arrangements, which given 

the Group’s exposure to the British market through, its UK subsidiary, could have a material adverse 

effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.  

In particular Brexit may result in logistical problems at the UK border (such as the introduction of 

custom barrier at ports), which in turn may lead to barriers or difficulties getting supplies through 

ports. Furthermore, fuel supplies disruption as a result of border delays could affect customer 

deliveries within the UK. Delays on deliveries to the Group’s UK subsidiary could potentially lead to 

temporary shortages of supply which could lead to breaches of contract and give competitors the 

opportunity to take over some or all of the Group’s existing contracts with its UK-based customers. 

Brexit may also in the future cause an increase custom duty cost for the Group’s products sold in the 

UK.  

The occurrence of any of the above negative consequences resulting from Brexit may have a material 

adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Tax structure and tax liabilities - the Group’s operations are subject to a number of different tax 

jurisdictions. While the Group conducts its business in accordance with its own interpretation of 

applicable tax regulations and applicable requirements and decisions in the separate jurisdictions, in 

particular in relation to value added tax, corporate tax and customs duties, there is a risk that the 

Group’s or its advisers’ interpretation, and the Group’s application of, laws, provisions and judicial 

practice has not been, or will in the future not be, correct in one or more jurisdictions or that such 

laws, provisions and practice will be changed, potentially with retroactive effect. If such an event 

should occur, the Group’s tax liabilities can increase and penalties could be imposed, which could 

have a material adverse effect on the Group’s results and financial position. Revisions to tax 

regulations could for example comprise denied interest deductions and/or tax losses carried forward 

being forfeited or the Group’s use of custom duty exemptions becoming reviewed or revised, any of 

which may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s results and financial position in the future. 

2 PERSONS RESPONSIBLE AND COMPETENT AUTHORITY APPROVAL 

2.1 Persons responsible for the information 

Persons responsible for the information given in the Registration Document are as follows: 

Fibo Group AS, Karenslyst allé 53, 0279 Oslo 
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2.2 Declaration by persons responsible 

This Registration Document has been prepared on behalf of Fibo Group AS. The Company confirms 
that to the best of our knowledge, the information contained in the Registration Document is in 
accordance with the facts and that the Registration Document makes no omissions likely to affect its 
import. 

Fibo Group AS 

_____________________________  ______________________________ 
Name: Name: 
Title:  Title:  

2.3 Competent authority approval 

Fibo Group AS confirms that: 

a) the Registration Document has been approved by the Norwegian FSA, as competent authority
under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129;

b) the Norwegian FSA only approves this Registration Document as meeting the standards of
completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by Regulation (EU) 2017/1129;

c) such approval shall not be considered as an endorsement of the issuer that it the subject of
this Registration Document.

Board member
Eskil Koffeld

Board member
Eirik Hjeltnes Wabø

Oslo, 7 July 2022
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3 STATUTORY AUDITORS   

3.1 Issuer 

The Issuer’s independent auditors for the period covered by the historical information in this 

Registration Document was PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS AS.   

2020 and 2021 

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS AS 
Dronning Eufemias gate 71 
NO-0194 Oslo, Norway 

 
Telephone: +47 02316 
www.pwc.no 
Org. no. 987 009 713 MVA 

 
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS AS is a member of 
The Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants. 

3.2 Guarantors 

3.2.1 Fibo AB 

The independent auditors for Fibo AB for the period covered by the historical information in this 

Registration Document was Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB. 

2020 and 2021 

Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB 
Tullhusgatan 1B, Box 351  
65108 KARLSTAD  

 
Telephone: +46 010-212 40 00 
www.pwc.se 

Org. no. 556029-6740 
 
Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB is a member 
of the institute for the accountancy profession in 
Sweden - FAR. 

3.2.2 Fibo UK Limited 

The independent auditors for Fibo UK Limited for the period covered by the historical information in 

this Registration Document was Wilkins Kennedy LLP. 

2020 and 2021 

Wilkins Kennedy LLP 
2nd Floor Regis House, 45 King William Street, 
London, United Kingdom, EC4R 9AN 
 
Telephone: +44-20-7403-1877 
www.wilkinskennedy.com 

Company number: OC370220 
 
Wilkins Kennedy LLP is a member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales 
(ICAEW)  
 

 

3.2.3 Fibo AS 

The Issuer’s independent auditors for the period covered by the historical information in this 

Registration Document was PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS AS.     

http://www.wilkinskennedy.com/
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2020 and 2021 

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS AS 
Dronning Eufemias gate 71 
NO-0194 Oslo, Norway 
 
Telephone: +47 02316 
www.pwc.no 
Org. no. 987 009 713 MVA 

 
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS AS is a member of 
The Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants. 

 

4 INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER AND GUARANTORS  

4.1 Issuer  

The Issuer, formerly named Fibo-Trespo Group AS, is registered as a private limited liability company 

domiciled in Oslo, Norway, organized and existing under the laws of Norway in accordance with and 

pursuant to the Norwegian Limited Companies Act (Nw. aksjeloven). The legal name of the Issuer is 

Fibo Group AS, and the commercial name is Fibo Group. The Issuer was incorporated in Norway 23 

January 2015. The Issuer is registered in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises (Nw. 

Enhetsregisteret) with the registered number 914 925 460 and LEI-code 5493002KR7D5D081MD24. 

The Issuer’s address is Karenslyst allé 53, NO-0279 Oslo, and the telephone number is +47 90 64 

65 40 (Roger Øqvist, interim CFO). 

Website: https://fiboinvestor.com/1 

Fibo Group AS, with its subsidiaries, offers high quality wet room wall panels, kitchen boards, 

countertops as well as accessories for installing the products.  

The Issuer is the holding company of the Group, and as stated in article 3 of the Issuer’s articles of 

association, its objective is to operate as an investment vehicle and everything connected therewith. 

As all operations of the Group are carried out in the Issuer’s subsidiaries, the Issuer is dependent on 

other entities in the Group. 

4.2 Guarantors 

4.2.1 Fibo AB 

Fibo AB is registered as a private limited liability company domiciled in Stockholm, Sweden, organized 

and existing under the laws of Sweden in accordance with and pursuant to the Swedish companies 

act (Sw.: Aktiebolagslagen 2005:551). The company’s legal name is Fibo AB, and the commercial 

name is Fibo Sverige. The company was incorporated in Sweden 10 April 2015. Fibo AB is registered 

in the Swedish Companies Registration Office with the registered number 559010-1704 and LEI-code 

635400SXGMD4SCLEO128. The company’s address is Sveavägen 166, 113 46 Stockholm, Sweden, 

and the telephone number is +46 070 2839310.  

Website: https://.fibo.se1 

Fibo AB is 100% owned by the Issuer. As stated in article 3 of Fibo AB’s articles of association, the 

company’s stated objective is to manage real estate and movable property, to conduct management 

of wet room panels and associated products, and everything connected therewith. 

 

1 Disclaimer: The information on the website does not form part of the Registration Document unless that 

information is incorporated by reference into the Registration Document. 
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Fibo AB provides high quality wet room wall panels, kitchen boards, countertops as well as accessories 

for installing the products.  

4.2.2 Fibo UK Limited 

Fibo UK Limited is registered as a private limited liability company domiciled in Chesham, 

Buckinghamshire in the United Kingdom, organized and existing under the laws of England and Wales 

in accordance with and pursuant to the Companies Act 2006. The company’s legal name is Fibo UK 

Limited, and the commercial name is Fibo UK. The company was incorporated in the United Kingdom 

on 13 May 1981. Fibo UK Limited is registered in the UK Companies House with the registered number 

01561013 and LEI-code 635400DSRMGBRVNIKS49. The company’s address is Watermeadow House, 

HP51L, Chesham, Bucks, United Kingdom, and the telephone number is +44 01494 771242. 

Website: https://fibo.co.uk/1 

Fibo UK Limited is 100% owned by the Issuer.  

Fibo UK Limited provides high quality wet room wall panels, kitchen boards, countertops as well as 

accessories for installing the products.  

4.2.3 Fibo AS 

Fibo AS is registered as a private limited liability company domiciled in Lyngdal, Norway, organized 

and existing under the laws of Norway in accordance with and pursuant to the Norwegian Limited 

Companies Act (Nw. aksjeloven). The company’s legal name is Fibo AS, and the commercial name is 

Fibo. The company was incorporated in Norway the 31 March 1992. Fibo AS is registered in the 

Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises (Nw. Enhetsregisteret) with the registered number 964 

193 991 and LEI-code 549300RTMUGE5XKULQ95. The company’s address is Industriveien 2, NO-4580 

Lyngdal, and the telephone number is +47 38 34 33 00. 

Website: https://fibo.no/1 

Fibo AS is 100 % owned by the Issuer. As stated in article 3 of Fibo AS’ articles of association, the 

company’s stated objective is to engage in the production and sales of interior products and 

everything connected therewith, and that it may participate in other companies through share 

contributions or in other ways.  

Fibo AS provides high quality wet room wall panels, kitchen boards, countertops as well as accessories 

for installing the products.  

5 BUSINESS OVERVIEW  

5.1 General overview and history 

The Issuer with its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) is the leading provider of high quality wood-

based wall panels, a more efficient substitute to traditional tiles with significant benefits both in terms 

of product cost and installation time.  

The Group is established in the Nordics, in several European markets, in the United Kingdom, and in 

the United States of America, and have sales to more than 15 countries. The main markets are 

Norway, Sweden, Netherlands, United Kingdom and North America.    The Group has 129 full time 

employees. The Group’s headquarter is located in Oslo.  

5.2 Product offerings 

The products offered by the Issuer, with its subsidiaries, can be split in the following four categories: 

(i) Wet room wall panels: Water proof wood-based panels with membrane, primarily 
used in bathrooms, providing an attractive combination of high quality, low cost and 

decorative design. 
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(ii) Kitchen boards: Water proof wood based panels mainly used on kitchen walls between 
countertop and cupboards, which main purpose is to provide decoration and hygienic 
protection. 

 
(iii) Kitchen countertops: Countertops made of laminate and solid wood offered in a 

variety of styles to provide decoration and protection. 
 
(iv) Other: E.g. installation accessories for wall panels, kitchen boards and countertops 

(profiles, sealing and adhesives, screws etc.) 

5.3 Investments and/or new products and/or activities 

Subsequent to the period covered by the financial statements for 2021, the Group has not made any 

material new investments or introduced any new product groups or activities. 

5.4 Principal markets and competition 

The principal markets for the Group’s products is the Nordic countries, and the other EEA countries. 

In the Norwegian market, competition has increased over the last years due to an aggressive pricing 

strategy from Alloc, Fibo’s only direct competitor, who is gaining market share in the low price 

customer space. However, Fibo has managed to defend its market share and, in its own opinion, 

maintains the position as the number one supplier of wet room wall panels and kitchen boards to the 

Norwegian market. 

In the export markets , the competition is mainly tiles and other alternative wet room wall solutions, 

implying that increased awareness of wet room wall panels as a competing solution is key. In the 

UK, there are two main competitors that offers competing solutions for wet room walls, but none are 

dominant competitors. Fibo has worked targeted to reach decision makers for larger projects within 

commercial and social housing. In the Swedish market, Fibo is the dominant provider and main 

competition is traditional tiles. Alloc has attempted to gain foothold, but has not succeeded. 

6 ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 

6.1 Description of group 

6.1.1 Legal structure as of the date of the Registration Document2 

 

 

2 Shares held by current and former members of management and board of directors under a management 

incentive program. 
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6.2 Dependence upon other entities 

The Issuer is a holding company with no operations other than administration and management of 
the Group. Consequently, the Issuer’s cash flow is dependent on the cash flow provided by its 
Subsidiaries. The Bond Agreement includes cross default provisions for financial indebtedness with a 
NOK 10 million threshold. A cross-default may result in a material adverse effect for the Group.  
 

7 TREND INFORMATION 

7.1 Statement of no material adverse change 

There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer or the Guarantors since 
the date of its last published audited financial statements. Nor has there been any significant change 
in the financial performance of the Group since the end of the last financial period for which financial 
information has been published to the date of the Registration Document. 

 
The Issuer is not aware of any other trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events that 

are reasonably likely to have a material effect on the Issuer’s prospects for the current financial year. 

8 ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES  

8.1 Issuer 

Board of Directors:              Management: 

Name Title 

Lars Patrik 

Nolåker 

Chairman of the Board 

Eirik Wabø Board member 

Åsa Marie 

Söderström 

Winberg 

Board member 

Tanya Pedersen Board member 

Eskil Gundersen 

Koffeld 

Board member 

Torbjørn 

Dugstad 

Kvinnesland 

Board member 

 
The abovementioned persons can be reached at the Issuer’s business address at Karenslyst allé 53, 
NO-0279 Oslo. None of the abovementioned persons perform activities outside of the Group that are 
significant with respect to that issuer. 
 

8.2 Guarantors 

8.2.1 Fibo AB 

Board of Directors:              Management: 

Name Title  Name Title 

Anders Carlson Chairman of the Board  Anders Carlson CEO 

Per Richard 

Olsen 

Board member    

Eskil G Koffeld Board member    

Name Title 

Anders Carlson Group CEO 

Roger Øqvist Interim Group CFO 
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The abovementioned persons can be reached at the Issuer’s business address at Karenslyst allé 53, 
NO-0279 Oslo. None of the abovementioned persons perform activities outside of the Group that are 

significant with respect to that issuer. 
 

8.2.2 Fibo UK Limited 

Board of Directors:              Management: 

Name Title 

Anders Carlson Chairman of the Board 

Scott Beattie Board member 

Per Richard 

Olsen 

Board member 

Eskil Gundersen 

Koffeld 

Board member 

 
The abovementioned persons can be reached at the Issuer’s business address at Karenslyst allé 53, 
NO-0279 Oslo. None of the abovementioned persons perform activities outside of the Group that are 
significant with respect to that issuer. 
 

8.2.3 Fibo AS 

Board of Directors:              Management: 

Name Title 

Anders Carlson Chairman of the Board 

Tanya Pedersen Board member 

Torbjørn 

Dugstad 

Kvinnesland 

Board member 

Gunnar 

Gabrielsen 

Board member 

Eskil Gundersen 

Koffeld 

Board member 

 
The abovementioned persons can be reached at the Issuer’s business address at Karenslyst allé 53, 

NO-0279 Oslo. None of the abovementioned persons perform activities outside of the Group that are 
significant with respect to that issuer. 

 

8.3 Conflicts of interest 

There are no potential conflicts of interests between any duties to the Group and the private interests 

and or other duties of the persons referred to in item 8.1 nor 8.2. 
 
 

9 BOARD PRACTICES 

The Issuer is a private limited company and not subject to the corporate governance code in its home 

jurisdiction as this code only applies to companies with listed shares in Norway. 

 
 

Name Title 

Scott Beattie CEO 

Name Title 

Gunnar 

Gabrielsen 

CEO 
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10 MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS 

10.1 Issuer 

The Issuer’s share capital consists of 298,449,933 shares each with a par value of NOK 0.12. All 

shares have been fully paid in and all shares have equal voting rights. There is only one share class. 

The Issuer is indirectly owned and controlled by FSN Capital GP IV Limited, a registered private 
company incorporated in Jersey, in its capacity as general partner of FSN Capital IV LP, FSN Capital 

IV (B) LP and FSN Capital IV Invest LP, each of which are limited partnerships incorporated in Jersey. 
 
The Board of the Issuer consist of 4 out of 6 external members in order to avoid any abuse of single 
control. The Issuer follow applicable law and incorporate internal corporate governance to avoid any 
abuse. 
 

There are no arrangements, known to the Issuer, which may at a subsequent date result in a change 

in control of the Group. 

10.2 Guarantors 

10.2.1 Fibo AB 

Fibo AB’s share capital is SEK 50,000, consisting of 50,000 shares, each with a par value of SEK 1. 

The company is owned 100 % by the Issuer.  

10.2.2 Fibo UK Limited 

Fibo UK Limited’s’ share capital is GBP 10,000, consisting of 10,000 shares, each with a par value of 

GBP 1. The company is owned 100 % by the Issuer. 

10.2.3 Fibo AS 

Fibo AS’ share capital is NOK 20,000,000, consisting of 2,000 shares, each with a par value of NOK 

10,000. The company is owned 100 % by the Issuer. 

 

11 FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ISSUERS ASSETS AND LIABLITIES, 

FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES 

11.1 Historical financial information covering the latest two financial years 

The financial statements covering the latest two financial years, for both the Issuer and the 

Guarantors, are incorporated into the Registration Document by reference.  

The entirety of the annual financial statements referred to below in section 11.1 are audited.  

Please find enclosed the financial statements to this Registration Document. The summary tables 

below refer to the page numbers in each relevant appendix. 
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11.1.1 Consolidated historical financial statements for the Group and the Issuer 

The consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for 2020 and 2021 have been prepared in 

accordance with, and comply with, IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standard) 

 

 2021 2020 

Income Statement Group: Page 16 

Issuer: Page 42 

Group: Page 16 

Issuer: Page 44 

Balance sheet  Group: Page 17 - 18 

Issuer: Page 44 - 45 

Group: Page 17 - 18 

Issuer: Page 45 

Cash flow statement Group: Page 19 

Issuer: Page 46 

Group: Page 19 

Issuer: Page 46 

Notes Group: Page 20 - 41 

Issuer: Page 47 - 51 

Group: Page 20 - 41 

Issuer: Page 47 - 51 

Accounting principles Group: Page 20 

Issuer: Page 47 

Group: Page 20 

Issuer: Page 47 

Auditors report Group: Page 52 - 56 

Issuer: Page 52 - 56 

Group: Page 65 - 69 

Issuer: Page 65 - 69 

 

 

11.1.2 Historical financial statements for Fibo AB 

The financial statements for Fibo AB have been prepared in accordance with, and comply with, 

Swedish GAAP. 

 

 2021 2020 

Income Statement Page 5 Page 5 

Balance sheet  Page 6 - 7 Page 6 - 7 

Cash flow statement N/A N/A 

Notes Page 8 Page 8 

Accounting principles Page 8 Page 8 

Auditors report Page 10 - 11 Page 9 - 10 
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11.1.3 Historical financial statements for Fibo UK Limited 

The financial statements for Fibo UK Limited have been prepared have been prepared in accordance 

with, and comply with, IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standard). 

 2021 2020 

Income Statement Page 9 Page 9 

Balance sheet  Page 10 - 11 Page 10 - 11 

Cash flow statement Page 12 Page 12 

Notes Page 13 - 26 Page 13 - 26 

Accounting principles Page 16 Page 13 

Auditors report Page 6 - 8 Page 6 - 8 

 

11.1.4 Historical financial statements for Fibo AS 

The financial statements for Fibo AS have been prepared in accordance with, and comply with, 

Norwegian GAAP. 

 2021 2020 

Income Statement Page 7 Page 6 

Balance sheet  Page 8 - 9 Page 7 - 8 

Cash flow statement Page 10 Page 19 

Notes Page 13 - 20 Page 11 - 18 

Accounting principles Page 11 - 12 Page 9 - 10 

Auditors report 21 - 22 Separate document 

11.2 Legal and arbitration proceedings 

The Group is not, and has not for the previous 12 months, been involved in any governmental, legal 

or arbitration proceedings which may have, or have had in the recent past, significant effects on the 

Group’s financial position or profitability, nor is the Group aware of any such proceedings which are 

pending or threatened. 

 

11.3 Significant change in the Issuer’s financial or trading position 

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Group since the end 

of the last financial period for which either audited financial information or interim financial 

information have been published. 

11.4 Borrowing and financing 

There has been no change in the Group’s borrowings or financing since the last financial year. The 

Group’s activities are mainly financed by the Bonds.  

The Group has no ongoing or planned activities that require additional financing. 
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12 DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY 

For the term of the registration document, where applicable, the following documents (or copies 

thereof) may be inspected for the life of the Registration Document at https://fiboinvestor.com/: 

• memorandum of incorporation and articles of association of the Issuer and the Guarantors; 
• all reports, letters, and other documents, historical financial information, valuations and 

statements prepared by any expert at the Issuer's request, any part of which is included or 
referred to in the Registration Document. 

13 MANAGERS’ DISCLAIMER 

ABG Sundal Collier ASA, Carnegie AS and DNB Markets, a part of DNB Bank ASA, the Managers, have 

not verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or 

undertaking, express or implied, is made and the Managers expressly disclaim any legal or financial 

liability as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Registration Document 

or any other information supplied in connection with the issuance or distribution of bonds by Fibo 

Group AS. 

Each person receiving this Registration Document acknowledges that such person has not relied on 

the Managers, nor on any person affiliated with it in connection with its investigation of the accuracy 

of such information or its investment decision. 

Oslo, 7 July 2022 

ABG Sundal Collier ASA, Carnegie AS and DNB Markets, a part of DNB Bank ASA. 
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14 DEFINITIONS 

“Bonds” means  the bonds issued under the Bond Issue 
 
 
“Bond Issue” means the bonds issued by Fibo Group AS on 28 

January 2022 in a senior secured callable 

bond issue in the maximum amount of NOK 
800,000,000 with maturity in 2025 

 
 
“Company” / “Issuer” means Fibo Group AS 
 

 
“Guarantors” means  Fibo AB  
       Fibo UK Limited 

       Fibo AS 
        
 
“Group” means  the Issuer and all its (directly and indirectly 

owned) subsidiaries from time to time (each 
a “Group Company”). 

 
“IFRS” means  International Financial Reporting Standards 
 
 
“Managers” means ABG Sundal Collier ASA, Carnegie AS and 

DNB Markets, a part of DNB Bank ASA.  
 
“NOK” means the official currency of Norway, the 

Norwegian Krone. 

 
 

“Prospectus” means  the Registration Document along with the 
Securities Note 

 
 
“Registration Document” means  this registration document dated 7 July 2022 
 
 

“Securities Note” means  Document to be prepared for each new issue 
of bonds under the Prospectus 

 
 
“Subsidiaries” means Fibo AS (reg.no. 964 193 991), Fibo AB (reg. 

no. 559010-1704), Fibo UK Limited (reg. no. 

01561013), Fibosystem OY (reg. no. 

2910667-7), and Fibo USA, LLC (reg. no. 
6647425) 
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15 ATTACHMENTS: 

The following appendices are attached to this Registration Document: 

• Fibo Group AS – Annual report 2020 (including auditor’s report)  
• Fibo Group AS – Annual report 2021 (including auditor’s report)  

• Fibo AS – Annual report 2020 (including auditor’s report) 
• Fibo AS – Annual report 2021 (including auditor’s report) 
• Fibo AB – Annual report (including auditor’s report) 2020 
• Fibo AB – Annual report (including auditor’s report) 2021 
• Fibo UK Limited – Annual report (including auditor’s report) 2020 
• Fibo UK Limited – Annual report (including auditor’s report) 2021 
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This is Fibo Group

Direct sales

International	sales

Production	 
(Lyngdal,	Norway)

Fibo Group main markets

Headquarter  
(Oslo,	Norway)

Geographical revenue distribution

UK  
14 %

EU             12 %

Swed
en		

							8	
%

No
rw
ay
		

					
		6
6	%

Revenue per product

Other               7 %

93 %

Wall panels  

& countertops

Number of employees 141 

Number of legal units  7
incl. parent company

Number of markets  4
where Fibo is established

Fibo Group is a leading global manufacturer of high-quality waterproof wall 
panel systems. Based in Lyngdal, Norway, the company serves residential and 
commercial customers across the new construction, repair and remodel, and 
manufactured housing markets throughout Scandinavia, Europe, New Zealand, 
Canada and North America. 
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DOMESTIC
Growth   

INTERNATIONAL
Growth

REVENUE
NOKm

REVENUE
Growth 

Highlights

Despite challenging markets during the Covid-19 pandemic,  
the Fibo Group has grown both domestically and internationally. 

NOKm / % 2020 2019

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 

Total Revenue  653 612
Revenue	Growth		 6 % 
Revenue Norway  433 406 
Revenue	Growth		 6 % 
Revenue International  220  206 
Revenue	Growth		 7 %
Raw Materials and Consumables Used  347 322
Gross	Margin	 47 % 47 %
Salary, personell cost and other operationg expenses 220 226 
In % of Total Revenue 34 % 37 %
Total operating cost exl. D&A  567 548 
In % of Total Revenue 87 % 90 %
Net Profit (loss) before gains and losses, financial items and D&A 87 63 
In % of Total Revenue 13 % 10 %

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCIAL POSITION 

Total Assets  797 746 
Total	Current	Liabilities		 134 98 
Total	Liabilities		 362 364 
Total Current Liabilities Ratio  27 % 21 %
Equity  301 284 
Equity Ratio 38 % 38 %
Gross Debt (note 16) 250 250 
Cash and Cash equivalents  85 27 
Net Debt  165 223 
Net Debt/Equity Ratio 0.5 0.8 
Earnings per Share  0.051 -0.015

653

Key figures

6%+

6%+ 7%+

The	combination	of	design,	environmental	impact	
and quality are deciding factors for the customer’s 
preference	of	Fibo	solutions.	Innovation	and	product	
development	are	continuous	and	prioritized	endeavors	
and	several	new	product	designs	have	been	launched	
during	2020.	Efforts	to	digitalize	and	improve	the	pro-
duction	process	have	continued.	

A	growing	international	revenue	and	positive	
feedback	from	customers	has	confirmed	the	significant	
potential	for	accelerated	international	growth,	and	
the	Group’s	investment	in	the	sales	and	marketing	
organization	outside	Norway	has	continued.	Also	the	
domestic	market	developed	positively	during	the	year,	
leaving	Fibo	in	a	better	financial	position	at	year-end	as	
highlighted	in	selected	key	figures	below.	
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YOUR DREAM BATHROOMHighlights

The Marcato collection comes 
in a variety of colours, surfaces 
and tile sizes, creating a striking, 
modern effect.

The Crescendo three-dimensional 
wall panel gives a vibrant and 
natural impression.

For interior designers, architects 
and creative souls, we have the 
Colour collection. 

A very versatile collection, 
Fortissimo comes in everything 
from glossy flower patterns to 
tree structure in the surface.

Use Adagio to create a feeling of 
Italy or Greece with an exciting 
collection of structures without 
a floral pattern. 

Legato consists of smooth wall 
panels without a tile pattern. The 
colours are light, giving the room 
a modern impression.
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1952
The	birth	of	Fibo	headquartered	in	Oslo,	Norway.	
Fibo	was	established,	originally	developing	painted	
panels used in shipbuilding

1960s 
Fibo	introduces	wall	panels	for	residential	and	 
commercial	building	and	construction.

1987 
Acquired by Norske Skog.

1990s 
Fibo	develop	and	launched	a	new	click-joint	system	
for	laminated	waterproof	wall	panel	systems.

2000 
Acquired	by	Byggma	after	being	demerged	from	
Norske Skog.

2007 
New	stand-alone	production	facility	in	Lyngdal.

2008 – 2009 
10	%	growth	through	the	financial	crisis	and	 
European expansion.

2010, 2013 and 2015 
Appointed	the	Lean	Company	Award	in	Norway	
(“Årets	Lean	bedrift”).

2015 
Acquired by FSN Capital IV and management 
(carved out from Byggma Group).

2016 – 2017 
Expansion	and	modification	of	the	Lyngdal	 
facility (NOKm 140).

2017 – 2018 
Invested	in	sales	and	marketing	organisation	 
to	facilitate	for	international	expansion.

2019 
Delivered	wet	room	wall	panels	corresponding	 
to	~95 000	bathrooms	p.a.

2020 
Growing	through	the	Covid-19	pandemic.

The Fibo story

Fibo started out quite modestly as a small factory for wall panels from 
Norwegian wood. It became our mission to develop walls which make wet room 
challenges easy. Today, Fibo is a leading supplier of high-quality, waterproof 
wall systems. Our wall panels are much easier to install, more affordable 
and more eco-friendly than ceramic tiles. Over the latter years the group has 
also completed substantial investments in both assets and operations, which 
provides a sound platform for the future.
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Fibo’s mission is to make wet room challenges easy. 
Our systems are inherently waterproof, eliminating 
the need for a separate membrane layer.

AN ENVIRONMENTALLY FRIENDLY ALTERNATIVE TO CERAMIC TILES
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Fibo wall panels are 100 % waterproof, durable, 
easy to install and can be seen in numerous high 
profile buildings around the globe.

WE MAKE SYSTEMS FOR KITCHENS, BATHS AND OTHER WET ROOMS

Stieng,Herm
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Fibo’s system mounts directly onto wood  
or metal studs, existing walls or over ceramic 
tiles. The Fibo Aqualock system minimizes 
the joints; no need for water vapor barrier or 
waterproof membranes.

SIMPLIFYING INSTALLATION AND REDUCING LABOR COSTS
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We carefully select suppliers that comply with 
strict recycling requirements, and our eco-friendly 
wall systems are made from PEFC-certified wood. 

COMMITTED TO PRODUCING SUSTAINABLE ECO-FRIENDLY PRODUCTS
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BASED IN LYNGDAL, NORWAY BUT SERVING A GLOBAL MARKET

Fibo Group works with both residential and commercial 
customers. Fibo has been on the market for over 60 years: 
over 1 million installations in total and more than 2 
million square feet produced and sold annually.
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Board of directors’ and CEO’s report 

THE YEAR IN BRIEF

As	part	of	the	Group’s	internationalization	strategy,	
investment	in	the	sales	and	marketing	organization	
outside	Norway	has	continued.	The	results	from	
these	efforts	are	considered	to	be	satisfactory,	with	a	
combined	growth	rate	of	7	%	for	international	sales	
in	2020.	Based	on	feedback	from	customers	in	new	
geographical	markets,	there	is	significant	potential	for	
accelerated	international	growth	in	the	years	to	come.	
Total	sales	growth,	including	domestic	sales,	ended	at	 
6 % for 2020.  

To	support	growth	in	both	domestic	and	interna-
tional	markets,	innovation	and	product	development	
are	continuous	and	prioritized	endeavors.	During	2020,	
new	product	designs	have	been	launched	with	very	
positive	feedback	from	customers.	In	addition	to	new	
designs,	several	other	initiatives	are	ongoing	with	the	
aim	of	strengthening	the	Group’s	product	offering	
through improved technical performance and reduced 
installation	complexity.			

Throughout	the	year,	the	Group	has	worked	to	
strengthen	its	processes	within	different	business	
areas.	A	key	initiative	is	to	improve	the	Group’s	cus-
tomer	journey,	focusing	on	the	customer	acquisition	
process,	as	well	as	how	to	secure	customer	retention	
and drive recurring sales. To meet the customers’ needs 
and	requirements	in	the	best	possible	way,	the	Group’s	
value	proposition	towards	professionals	and	consumers	
has been further developed. Furthermore, the Group 
continues	to	invest	in	digital	channels	with	relevant	
content, to create an appealing customer experience 
online.	Significantly	improved	Net	Promoter	Scores	
(NPS) from recently conducted customer surveys indi-
cate	these	efforts	are	yielding	good	results.			

During	the	last	five	years,	a	comprehensive	invest-
ment	program	has	been	completed	with	the	purpose	of	
securing	operational	targets	and	stable	and	cost-effi-
cient	production	for	the	future.	To	further	accelerate	
efficiency,	the	Group	is	in	the	process	of	conducting	a	
digitalization	program.	The	purpose	of	this	is	to	develop	
an	integrated	production	environment	with	a	higher	
automation	level	and	extensive	data	analysis,	as	a	basis	
for	adopting	AI	and	machine	learning.		

As	during	the	previous	year,	the	weak	Norwegian	
currency	has	had	a	negative	impact	on	the	gross	
margin.	To	compensate	for	this,	internal	efficiency	
measures have been implemented. 

Although	the	financial	performance	has	continued	
to	strengthen	during	the	period,	the	Group	has	suffered	
a	negative	impact	from	the	Covid-19	pandemic,	mainly	
through	reduced	revenue	from	UK	activities	due	to	
lockdowns	and	the	weak	Norwegian	currency.

GOING CONCERN

In	accordance	with	the	Accounting	Act	§	3-3a,	we	con-
firm	that	the	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	
under	the	assumption	of	going	concern.	This	assump-
tion	is	based	on	profit	forecasts	for	the	years	2021-
2025 and the Group’s long-term strategic forecasts. The 
Group’s	economic	and	financial	position	is	sound.

COMMENTS REL ATED TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue reached NOKm 653.1 in 2020 compared to 
NOKm	611.8	in	2019,	representing	revenue	growth	of	
6 %. Revenue from export markets increased by 7 % 
during	the	year,	while	domestic	sales	increased	by	6	%.	

Net	profit	before	gains	and	losses	and	financial	
items improved by 65 % compared to 2019. This is 
mainly	due	to	the	significant	revenue	growth,	paired	
with	an	improved	gross	margin,	as	well	as	lower	oper-
ating	costs.				

Net	Profit	before	financial	items	improved	by	
NOKm 23.1 or 57 % vs. last year. 

Net Finance ended at NOKm -44.6 compared to 
NOKm -46.5 in 2019. 

Net	profit	after	tax	improved	to	a	profit	of	NOKm	
15.2 compared to a loss of NOKm 4.4 in 2019.

Net	cash	flow	from	operating	activities	increased	
from NOKm 75.9 in 2019 to NOKm 109.8. 

The	NOKm	7.3	negative	net	cash	flow	from	
investing	activities	is	mainly	due	to	maintenance	capital	
expenditure	in	production	and	business	support	sys-
tems.	Net	cash	flow	from	financing	activities	was	NOKm	
-43.6, compared to NOKm -55.1 in 2019. The liquidity 
reserve	as	of	year-end	improved	significantly	to	NOKm	
85.4, compared to NOKm 26.7 in 2019. 

Fibo Group AS (the company) and its subsidiaries (together, the Group) develop 
and manufacture waterproof wall panel solutions, countertops and other 
laminated products which are marketed and sold under the Fibo brand name. 
Main customers are builder’s merchants, house builders and distributors. The 
Group’s headquarters are in Oslo, with production facilities located in Lyngdal, 
Norway. In addition to the country-wide sales organization in Norway, export 
sales offices are located in Sweden, Finland, UK and the USA.
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Board of directors’ and CEO’s report 

The	total	short-term	debt	as	of	year-end	consti-
tuted 27 % of the total debt vs. 21 % in 2019. Consider-
ing	the	liquidity	reserves,	the	financial	position	is	sound	
and adequate. Total assets at year-end amounted to 
NOKm	797.0	vs.	NOKm	745.5	in	2019.	The	equity	ratio	
was	37.8	%	as	of	31.12.2020	vs.	38.1	%	in	2019.

For	Fibo	Group	AS,	revenue	in	2020	was	NOKm	
21.2	compared	to	NOKm	19.0	in	2019,	while	Net	
Profit	after	tax	improved	significantly	to	NOKm	20.3	
compared to a loss of NOKm 16.3 in the previous year. 
The	liquidity	reserve	as	of	year-end	2020	was	NOKm	1.9	
compared	to	NOKm	2.5	in	2019.	The	financial	position	
is	sound,	and	adequate	to	settle	short-term	debt	as	of	
year-end. Total assets at year-end amounted to NOKm 
539.1	vs.	NOKm	516.9	in	2019.	The	equity	ratio	at	year-
end	was	53.4	%	vs.	51.7	%	in	2019.

FINANCIAL RISK 

The	Group	is	exposed	to	financial	risk	in	different	areas,	
in	particular	exchange	rate	risk,	and	initiatives	to	reduce	
the	financial	risk	are	considered	on	a	continuous	basis.		

Market risk

The	Group	has	operations	in	Norway,	Sweden,	Finland	
and	the	UK.	Net	income	from	these	operations	is	
presented	in	NOK	and	thus	affected	by	changes	in	
exchange	rates.	The	operating	entities’	day-to-day	
business	is	carried	out	in	their	local	currency,	while	
inter-company purchases of goods are carried out in 
the	entity’s	local	currency	denomination.	

A	dominating	part	of	raw	materials	are	purchased	
from suppliers denominated in SEK, EUR and USD. 
These	currency	cash	flows	are	partially	balanced	by	
cash	flows	from	international	sales.	The	group	has	
from	time	to	time	entered	into	currency	derivatives	to	
reduce	cash	flow	impact	caused	by	currency	fluctua-
tions.	In	such	cases,	derivatives	are	recognized	at	fair	
value in the balance sheet.    

During the period, the Group has not made any 
set-off	or	other	derivative	agreements	to	reduce	the	
market risk.

Credit risk

Following	factoring	agreements	established	prior	to	
Covid-19,	losses	on	receivables	have	been	insignificant.	
Gross credit risk exposure per 31.12.20 is NOKm 32.2 
(NOKm	20.5	in	2019).	The	above	figures	do	not	include	
inter-company receivables.

The	Group	has	not	made	any	set-off	or	other	deriv-
ative	agreements	to	reduce	the	credit	risk.

Liquidity risk

The	Group’s	liquidity	is	considered	satisfactory	and	
free	available	cash	secures	sufficient	liquidity	to	meet	
operational	needs	and	financing	of	investments.		

The	Group	has	not	made	any	set-off	or	other	
derivative	agreements	to	reduce	the	liquidity	risk.

WORKING ENVIRONMENT  
AND THE EMPLOYEES

Leave	of	absence	due	to	illness	in	2020	was	in	average	
1.3 % for short-term and 3.4 % for long-term (2.3 % and 
4.7 % in 2019).  

The	Group	had	seven	work-related	accidents	
with	personal	injuries	in	2020	(2	in	2019).	Action	has	
been	taken	to	avoid,	and	minimize	the	risk,	of	future	
accidents.  

The	working	environment	is	considered	to	be	good,	
and	improvement	efforts	are	made	on	an	ongoing	
basis.	The	results	from	these	efforts	are	confirmed	by	
strong results in the employee survey conducted for 
2020	with	a	Net	Promoter	Score	(NPS)	of	52	%	(on	a	
scale from 0 to 100 %) compared to 21 % in 2019 and  
13 % in 2018. 

Cooperation	with	employee	trade	unions	has	been	
constructive	and	contributed	positively	to	operations.	
The	Board	wishes	to	thank	the	employees	for	their	
positive	contribution	during	2020.

CODE OF CONDUC T

The Group has implemented a Code of Conduct, includ-
ing Ethical guidelines, Environmental and Corporate 
Social	Responsibility	and	Reporting	procedures.

EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES

The	Group	aims	to	be	a	workplace	with	equal	oppor-
tunities,	and	encourages	women	to	apply	for	open	posi-
tions	in	the	Group.	The	company	has	141	employees,	of	
which	32	(23	%)	are	women.	

DISCRIMINATION

The	Discrimination	Act’s	objective	is	to	promote	gender	
equality,	ensure	equal	opportunities	and	rights,	and	
to	prevent	discrimination	due	to	ethnicity,	national	
origin, descent, skin color, language, religion, and faith. 
The	Group	is	working	actively	to	encourage	the	act’s	
purpose	within	our	business.	
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The	Group’s	operations	are	not	regulated	by	licenses	
or	impositions.	Waste	from	production	facilities	is	not	
considered	harmful	to	the	environment.	Most	of	the	
waste	from	production	is	recycled	and	used	in	the	
production	of	biofuels.

Raw	materials	used	in	production	meet	the	
require		ments	of	a	PEFC	certification.	The	completed	
investments	in	production	facilities	will	have	a	positive	
environmental	impact	through	a	significant	reduction	in	
power	consumption.			

OUTLOOK 

Despite	the	continued	impact	of	the	pandemic,	market	
expectations	for	2021	are	fairly	good.	For	Norway,	
the	Group’s	largest	market,	growth	is	expected	to	be	
moderate	to	low	—	particularly	driven	by	a	continued	
decline	in	the	building	of	new	residential	homes.	How-
ever,	this	will,	to	some	extent,	be	offset	by	continued	
positive	development	in	the	private	refurbishment	mar-
ket	and	increased	public	spending	in	both	new	builds	
and	refurbishment.	Hence,	the	Group	still	expects	to	
see	growth	in	demand	for	its	products	in	2021.

Despite the Group’s strong market share in certain 
markets	for	wet-room	wall	panels,	the	relative	market	
share	when	including	tiles,	wallpaper	and	paint	is	

comparatively	low.	Given	the	advantages	of	the	Group’s	
products	compared	to	competitors	and	substitutes,	the	
potential	for	continued	growth	from	increased	market	
penetration	is	therefore	positive.	

The Group’s investments in markets outside of 
Norway	are	expected	to	contribute	significantly	to	
growth	in	coming	years,	and	the	introduction	into	
the	British	market	is	already	demonstrating	strong	
traction.	Assuming	the	re-opening	and	normalization	
of	the	market	in	the	UK	to	continue,	it	is	expected	this	
potential	will	further	materialize	during	the	next	year.

Although strengthening so far in 2021, the 
continued	weak	Norwegian	currency	will	have	a	
negative	impact	on	prices	of	raw	materials	from	non-
domestic	suppliers.	

The	Board	emphasizes	the	general	uncertainty	
related to future market development and all state-
ments related to the future are based on the best 
current	knowledge.

Oslo, 15 April 2021 
The Board of Directors of Fibo Group AS

Lars Patrik Nolåker 
Chairman of the board

Åsa Söderström Winberg 
Board member

Tanya Pedersen 
Board member

Eskil Gunderson Koffeld
Board member

Torbjørn D. Kvinnesland 
Board member

Erik Nelson 
Board member 

Anders Carlson 
CEO/President
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Consolidated income statement

NOK 1000  Note 2020 2019

Revenue  6 653 148 611 824

Total revenue   653 148 611 824

Raw	materials	and	consumables	used	 	 	 346 563 322 084
Salary and personnel costs  7,23 98 854 104 320
Depreciation	and	amortization	 	 13,14,22 27 983 28 001
Other	operating	expenses	 	 8,22 121 190 121 923

Total operating costs   594 590 576 328

Net profit (loss) before gains and losses and financial items  58 558 35 496

Other gains and (losses) net  10 5 408 5 349

Net profit (loss) before financial items   63 966 40 845
Finance income   10 116 447
Finance expense   10 -44 716 -46 975

Net finance   -44 600 -46 528

Net profit (loss)   19 366 -5 684
Income tax expense  11 4 131 -1 313

Net profit (loss) after tax   15 235 -4 371

Attributable to
Equity holders of the parent   15 235 -4 371
Earnings per share, ordinary and diluted   0.051 -0.015 

NOK 1000 Note 2020 2019

Net profit (loss) after tax  15 235 -4 371

Other comprehensive income 
Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit and loss
Actuarial	gains	(losses)	on	defined	benefit	pension	plans	 23 422 -4 103
Tax	related	to	items	which	will	not	be	reclassified	 11 -105 903

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit and  
loss in subsequent periods 
Exchange	differences	 	 1 310 471

Net other comprehensive income  1 627 -2 729

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year   15 837 -7 100

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent  16 862 -7 100

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
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Consolidated statement of financial position

NOK 1000  Note 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Plant, machinery and equipment  13 92 540 104 274
Intangible assets  14,15 416 535 421 340
Right-of-use asset  22 79 313 85 923
Other non-current assets    714 506

Total non-current assets   589 102 612 042

Current assets
Inventories   17 80 375 83 383
Accounts receivable   16,18 32 171 20 489
Other current assets   19 9 950 2 941
Cash and cash equivalents   20 85 362 26 693

Total current assets   207 858 133 506

Total assets   796 961 745 548

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 
Paid in capital
Share capital   21 32 829 32 829
Share premium account  21 271 101 271 101

Total paid in capital   303 930 303 930

Other equity
Retained earnings   -2 771 -19 633

Total other equity   -2 771 -19 633

Total equity   301 159 284 297

Non-current liabilities 
Pension	obligation	 	 23 699 5 989
Deferred	tax	liabilities	 	 11 38 154 34 124
Interest-bearing	loans	and	borrowings,	non-current	 	 16 245 183 241 767
Leasing	liabilities,	non-current	 	 22 78 128 81 620

Total non-current liabilities   362 164 363 500

Current liabilities
Leasing	liabilities,	current	 	 22 12 025 11 935
Accounts	payable	and	other	current	liabilities		 	 16,24 121 613 85 347
Current income taxes payable  11 0 470

Total current liabilities    133 637 97 752

Total liabilities   495 801 461 251

Total equity and liabilities   796 961 745 548

CONSOLIDATED

Oslo, 15 April 2021 
The Board of Directors of Fibo Group AS

Lars Patrik Nolåker 
Chairman of the board

Åsa Söderström Winberg 
Board member

Tanya Pedersen 
Board member

Eskil Gunderson Koffeld
Board member

Torbjørn D. Kvinnesland 
Board member

Erik Nelson 
Board member 

Anders Carlson 
CEO/President
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    Paid in   Other equity

	 	 	 Share	 Share	 Translation	 Actuar	gains	 Accumulated
NOK 1000 capital premium reserves and losses losses Total equity

Equity as at 1 January 2019 29 845 268 335 -882 -1 151 -10314 285 833

Total comprehensive income 
Net	profit	for	the	period	 	 	 		 0	 -4	371	 -4	371
Other comprehensive income net of tax   471 -3 200 -176 -2 905

Total comprehensive income   471 -3 200 -4 547 -7 276

Transactions with owners of the company
Issue of share capital  2 984 2 766 0   0 -10 5 740

Equity as at 31 December 2019 32 829 271 101 -411 -4 351 -14 871 284 297

Total comprehensive income 
Net	profit	for	the	period	 	 	 		 	 15	235	 15	235
Other comprehensive income net of tax   1310 317 0 1 627

Total comprehensive income   1310 317 15 235 16 862

Equity as at 31 December 2020 32 829 271 101 899 -4 034 364  301 159

Statement of changes in equity
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Consolidated cash flow statement

NOK 1000  Note 2020 2019

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net	profit	before	tax    19 366 -5 684
Adjustments	for:
– Pensions paid in excess of expense    -1 096 -2 373
– Income taxes paid  11 -936 -1 059
–	Depreciation	and	amortization	 	 13,14 27 983 28 001
–	Net	finance	and	other	gains	and	losses	 	 		 39 192 41 180
Changes	in	working	capital	 	 25 25 298 15 861

Net cash flow from operating activities    109 807 75 926

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   0 2 485
Purchase of property, plant, equipment and intangibles  13,14 -4 343 -5 290
Other non-current assets    -3 093 -472
Interest received    116 447

Net cash flow used in investing activities    -7 320 -2 830

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of equity    5 740
Proceeds	from	borrowings	 	 16 0 239 022
Repayment	of	borrowings	 	 16 0 -258 053
Payments	of	lease	liabilities	 	 		 -11 935 -11 847
Interest	and	other	financial	expenses	paid	 		 	 -31 657 -30 479

Net cash flow from financing activities    -43 592 -55 115

Net	currency	translation	effect	on	bank	accounts	 		 	 -226 521

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    58 895 18 502

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    26 693 8 190

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  20 85 362 26 693

CONSOLIDATED
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Notes to the consolidated accounts

NOTE 1  CORPORATE INFORMATION
The	consolidated	financial	statements	(‘the	State-
ments’)	of	Fibo	Group	AS	(‘the	Company’)	and	its	
subsidiaries	(‘the	Group’)	for	the	year	ended	31	
December	2020	were	authorized	for	issue	by	the	
board	of	directors	in	their	meeting	on	15	April	2021.	
The	Group’s	shareholders	have	the	power	to	amend	
and reissue the Statements.

The company is a limited liability company, incor-
porated	in	Norway,	with	corporate	headquarters	in	
Oslo.	The	address	of	its	registered	office	is	Karenslyst	
Alle 53, 0279 Oslo.

Fibo	Group	AS	(‘the	Company’)	and	its	subsid-
iaries	(together,	‘the	Group’)	is	in	the	business	of	
development,	production,	marketing	and	sale	of	wall	
panels	and	other	laminated	products.	The	production	
is	carried	out	in	Lyngdal,	Norway.	The	Group	has	
sale	offices	in	Sweden,	Finland	and	UK	in	addition	to	
Norway.	The	main	customers	are	builder	merchants,	
distributors and the manufacturing home industry. 

NOTE 2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The	principal	accounting	policies	applied	in	the	
preparation	of	these	consolidated	financial	state-
ments	are	set	out	below.	

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	
prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	
Reporting	Standards	as	approved	by	the	EU.

The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the 
following:	

•	 Financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	(including	
derivative	instruments)	at	fair	value	through	profit	
or loss.

•	 Defined	benefit	pension	plans	—	plan	assets	meas-
ured at fair value. 

The	consolidated	financial	statements	are	presented	
in	Norwegian	kroner	(NOK).	Amounts	are	rounded	
to	the	nearest	thousand,	unless	otherwise	stated.	
As	a	result	of	rounding	adjustments,	amounts	and	
percentages may not add up to the total.

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
Amended standards and interpretations

Several	amendments	and	interpretations	apply	for	
the	first	time	in	2020.	These	include:

•	 Definition	of	a	business	—	Amendments	to	IFRS	3
•	 Interest	rate	benchmark	reform	—	Amendments	to	

IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IAS 39
•	 Definition	of	material	—	Amendments	to	IAS	1	 

and IAS 8
•	 Revised	Conceptual	Framework	for	Financial	

reporting
•	 Covid-19	related	rent	concessions	—	Amendments	

to IFRS 16

The	amendments	have	no	significant	impact	on	the	
Group’s	consolidated	financial	statements.

2.2 CONSOLIDATION

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries	are	all	entities	(including	structured	
entities)	over	which	the	Group	exercises	control.	
The	Group	controls	an	entity	when	the	Group	is	
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 
its	involvement	with	the	entity	and	has	the	ability	
to	affect	those	returns	through	its	power	over	the	
entity.	Subsidiaries	are	fully	consolidated	from	the	
date	on	which	control	is	transferred	to	the	Group.	
Subsidiaries are deconsolidated from the date that 
control ceases. 

The	Group	applies	the	acquisition	method	to	
account	for	business	combinations.	The	consideration	
transferred	for	the	acquisition	of	a	subsidiary	is	the	
fair	values	of	the	assets	transferred,	the	liabilities	
incurred and any equity interests issued by the Group 
to	the	former	owners	of	the	acquired	subsidiary.	The	
consideration	transferred	includes	the	fair	value	of	
any	asset	or	liability	resulting	from	a	contingent	con-
sideration	arrangement.	Identifiable	assets	acquired	
and	liabilities	and	contingent	liabilities	assumed	in	a	
business	combination	are	measured	initially	at	their	
fair	values	at	the	acquisition	date.	

Acquisition-related	costs	are	expensed	as	incurred.	
Contingent	consideration	is	classified	either	as	

equity	or	a	financial	liability.	Amounts	classified	as	a	
financial	liability	are	subsequently	remeasured	to	fair	
value	with	changes	in	fair	value	recognized	in	profit	
or loss. 

Inter-company	transactions,	balances	and	unreal-
ized	gains	on	transactions	between	Group	companies	
are	eliminated.	Unrealized	losses	are	also	eliminated	
unless	the	loss	indicates	an	impairment	situation.	
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiar-
ies,	have	been	adjusted	to	conform	to	the	Group’s	
accounting	policies.

2.3 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Functional and presentation currency

Items	included	in	the	financial	statements	of	each	of	
the	Group’s	entities	are	measured	using	the	currency	
of	the	primary	economic	environment	in	which	the	
entity	operates	(‘the	functional	currency’).	The	con-
solidated	financial	statements	are	presented	in	NOK,	
which	is	the	Group’s	presentation	currency.	
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CONSOLIDATED

Transactions and balances

Foreign	currency	transactions	are	translated	into	
the	functional	currency	using	the	average	monthly	
exchange	rates,	unless	this	deviates	significantly	
from actual rates. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting	from	the	settlement	of	such	transactions	
and	from	the	translation	at	year-end	exchange	rates	
of	monetary	assets	and	liabilities	denominated	in	
foreign	currencies	are	recognized	in	the	income	
statement. Foreign exchange gains and losses are 
presented	in	the	income	statement	within	‘Other	
(losses)/gains’. 

Group companies

The	results	and	financial	position	of	all	the	Group	
entities	(none	of	which	has	the	currency	of	a	
hyper-inflationary	economy)	that	have	a	functional	
currency	different	from	the	presentation	currency	are	
translated	into	the	presentation	currency	as	follows:	

•	 assets	and	liabilities	for	each	balance	sheet	pre-
sented are translated at the closing rate at the date 
of that balance sheet;

• income and expenses for each income statement 
are translated at average exchange rates (unless 
this	average	is	not	a	reasonable	approximation	of	
the	cumulative	effect	of	the	rates	prevailing	on	
the	transaction	dates,	in	which	case	income	and	
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of 
the	transactions);	and

•	 all	resulting	exchange	differences	are	recognized	in	
other comprehensive income.

Goodwill	and	fair	value	adjustments	arising	on	the	
acquisition	of	a	foreign	entity	are	treated	as	assets	
and	liabilities	of	the	foreign	entity	and	translated	
at	the	closing	rate.	Exchange	differences	arising	are	
recognized	in	other	comprehensive	income.

2.4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

All property, plant and equipment is stated at histor-
ical	cost	less	depreciation.	Historical	cost	includes	
expenditure	that	is	directly	attributable	to	the	acqui-
sition	of	the	items.	

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying	amount	or	recognized	as	a	separate	asset,	
as	appropriate,	only	when	it	is	probable	that	future	
economic	benefits	associated	with	the	item	will	flow	
to the Group and the cost of the item can be meas-
ured reliably. The carrying amount of any component 
accounted	for	as	a	separate	asset	is	derecognized	
when	replaced.	All	other	repairs	and	maintenance	
are charged to the income statement during the 
financial	period	in	which	they	are	incurred.	

Depreciation	on	assets	is	calculated	using	the	
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their 
residual	values	over	their	estimated	useful	lives,	as	
follows:

Machinery and equipment 
5-15 years

Software -ERP systems
5 to 10 years

Computers
3 years

Furniture, fixture, fittings and vehicles
5 to 10 years

Leasehold improvements
Shortest of useful life and leasing period of contract

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed,	and	adjusted	if	appropriate,	at	the	end	of	
each	reporting	period.	

An	asset’s	carrying	amount	is	written	down	
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying	amount	is	greater	than	its	estimated	recov-
erable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing	the	proceeds	with	the	carrying	amount	
and	are	recognized	within	other	income	or	other	
operating	expenses	in	the	income	statement.

2.5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Goodwill

Goodwill	arises	on	the	acquisition	of	subsidiaries	
and	represents	the	excess	of	the	consideration	
transferred	over	the	fair	value	of	the	identifiable	net	
assets acquired.

For	the	purpose	of	impairment	testing,	goodwill	
acquired	in	a	business	combination	is	allocated	to	
each	of	the	Cash	Generating	Units	(CGUs),	or	groups	
of	CGUs,	that	is	expected	to	benefit	from	the	syner-
gies	of	the	combination.	Each	unit	or	group	of	units	
to	which	the	goodwill	is	allocated	represents	the	
lowest	level	within	the	entity	at	which	the	goodwill	
is monitored for internal management purposes. 
Goodwill	is	monitored	at	the	country	level.

Customer relationships, brands and product features

Customer	contracts,	customer	relationships,	brands	
and product features acquired in a business combi-
nation	are	recognized	at	fair	value	at	the	acquisition	
date. They are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortization.	Amortization	is	calculated	using	the	
straight-line method to allocate the cost over their 
estimated	useful	lives	as	follows:

Customer relationships
10 years

Brands
Infinite

Product features
5	to	10	years/indefinite
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Computer software

Costs	associated	with	maintaining	computer	soft-
ware	programmes	are	recognized	as	an	expense	as	
incurred.	Development	costs	that	are	directly	attrib-
utable	to	the	design	and	testing	of	identifiable	and	
unique	software	products	controlled	by	the	Group	
are	recognized	as	intangible	assets	when	all	of	the	
following	criteria	are	met:	

•	 it	is	technically	feasible	to	complete	the	software	
product	so	that	it	will	be	available	for	use;

•	 management	intends	to	complete	the	software	
product and use or sell it;

•	 there	is	an	ability	to	use	or	sell	the	software	 
product;

•	 it	can	be	demonstrated	how	the	software	product	
will	generate	probable	future	economic	benefits;

•	 adequate	technical,	financial	and	other	resources	
to complete the development and to use or sell 
the	software	product	are	available;	and

•	 the	expenditure	attributable	to	the	software	
product during its development can be reliably 
measured. 

Directly	attributable	costs	that	are	capitalized	as	
part	of	the	software	include	employee	costs	and	an	
appropriate	portion	of	relevant	overheads.	

Capitalized	development	costs	are	recorded	as	
intangible	assets	and	amortized	from	the	point	at	
which	the	asset	is	ready	for	use.	

Computer	software	development	costs	recog-
nized	as	assets	are	amortized	over	their	estimated	
useful	lives,	as	follows:

Software -ERP systems
5 to 10 years 

Research and development

Research expenditure and development expenditure 
that do not meet the criteria in (c) above are recog-
nized	as	an	expense	as	incurred.	Development	costs	
previously	recognized	as	an	expense	are	not	recog-
nized	as	an	asset	in	a	subsequent	period.	Product	
development	costs	recognized	as	assets	are	amor-
tized	over	their	estimated	useful	lives,	as	follows:

Product development
4 years

2.6 IMPAIRMENT OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Goodwill,	intangible	assets	that	have	an	indefinite	
useful life or intangible assets not ready for use are 
not	subject	to	amortization	and	are	tested	annually	
for	impairment.	Intangible	assets	that	are	subject	to	
amortization	are	reviewed	for	impairment	whenever	
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impair-
ment	loss	is	recognized	for	the	amount	by	which	
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in 
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets 
are	grouped	at	the	lowest	levels	for	which	there	are	
largely	independent	cash	inflows	(cash-generating	
units).

2.7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	initially	measured	
at	fair	value.	Transaction	costs	that	are	directly	attrib-
utable	to	the	acquisition	of	issue	of	financial	assets	
and	liabilities	are	added	to	or	deducted	from	fair	
value	of	the	financial	asset	or	liability,	as	appropriate,	
on	initial	recognition.	However,	transaction	costs	for	
instruments subsequently measured at fair value 
through	profit	and	loss	are	recognized	immediately	in	
profit	or	loss.

2.7.1 Subsequent measurement

Financial assets

All	recognized	financial	assets	are	subsequently	
measured	at	either	amortized	cost	or	fair	value,	
based	on	the	business	model	for	managing	financial	
assets	and	the	characteristics	of	the	contractual	cash	
flows	from	the	financial	assets.

The Group holds loans and receivables (includ-
ing trade receivables and other receivables, bank 
balances	and	cash)	within	the	business	model	hold	to	
collect	contractual	cash	flows.	These	financial	assets	
are	subsequently	measured	at	amortized	cost	using	
the	effective	interest	model,	less	any	impairments	
identified.

Financial liabilities

The	Group	classifies	and	measures	its	financial	liabil-
ities,	including	borrowings	and	trade	and	other	pay-
ables,	at	amortized	cost	using	the	effective	interest	
model.	Transaction	costs	related	to	the	establishment	
of	credit	facilities	are	treated	similar	to	the	above	
description	to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	that	some	
or	all	of	the	facility	will	be	drawn	down.	In	this	case,	
the	fee	is	deferred	until	the	draw-down	occurs.	To	the	
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that 
some	or	all	of	the	facility	will	be	drawn	down,	the	fee	
is	capitalized	as	a	pre-payment	for	liquidity	services	
and	amortized	over	the	period	of	the	facility	to	which	
it relates.

2.7.2 Derecognition

The	Group	derecognizes	a	financial	asset	when	the	
contractual	rights	to	the	cash	flow	from	the	assets	
expire,	or	when	it	transfers	the	financial	assets	and	
substantially	all	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	of	the	
asset to another party.

A	financial	liability	is	derecognized	when	the	
obligation	under	the	liability	is	discharged,	cancelled	
or expires.

2.7.3 Impairment of financial assets

Assets carried at amortised cost

The	group	recognizes	an	allowance	for	expected	
credit losses (ECL’s) for all debt instruments not held 
at	fair	value	through	profit	and	loss.	ECLS	are	based	
on	the	difference	between	the	contractual	cash	flows	
due	in	accordance	with	the	contract	and	the	cash	
flows	the	group	expects	to	receive,	discounted	at	an	
approximation	of	the	original	effective	interest	rate.	
For	trade	receivables	the	Group	applies	the	simplified	
approach	in	calculating	ECLs.
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2.7.4 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	offset	and	the	net	
amount	reported	in	the	balance	sheet	when	there	
is	a	legally	enforceable	right	to	offset	the	recognized	
amounts	and	there	is	an	intention	to	settle	on	a	net	
basis	or	realise	the	asset	and	settle	the	liability	simul-
taneously. The legally enforceable right must not be 
contingent	on	future	events	and	must	be	enforceable	
in the normal course of business and in the event of 
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or 
the counterparty.

2.7.5 Derivative financial instruments  
and hedging activities

The	Group	uses	derivative	financial	instruments	such	
as	forward	currency	contracts,	currency	swaps	and	
interest	rate	swaps	to	hedge	foreign	currency	and	
interest	rate	risks.	Derivatives	are	initially	recognized	
at	fair	value	on	the	date	a	derivative	contract	is	
entered into and are subsequently re-measured at 
their fair value. The method of recognising the result-
ing	gain	or	loss	depends	on	whether	the	derivative	
is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the 
nature of the item being hedged. Currently the Group 
has	not	applied	hedge	accounting	for	its	derivative	
contracts.	Fair	value	of	the	contracts	is	classified	as	
‘derivatives’	in	the	balance	sheet,	and	any	changes	
in	fair	value	is	recognized	in	the	income	statement	
under	Other	gains	and	losses.	Derivatives	are	carried	
as	financial	assets	when	the	fair	value	is	positive	and	
as	financial	liabilities	when	the	fair	value	is	negative.	

2.7.6 Borrowing cost

General	and	specific	borrowing	costs	that	are	directly	
attributable	to	the	acquisition,	construction	or	
production	of	a	qualifying	asset	are	capitalized	during	
the	period	of	time	that	is	required	to	complete	and	
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualify-
ing assets are assets that necessarily take a substan-
tial	period	of	time	to	get	ready	for	their	intended	use	
or sale. 

Investment income earned on the temporary 
investment	of	specific	borrowings	pending	their	
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from 
the	borrowing	costs	eligible	for	capitalisation.	

Other	borrowing	costs	are	expensed	in	the	
period	in	which	they	are	incurred.	

2.8 INVENTORIES 

Raw	materials,	work	in	progress	and	finished	goods	
are	stated	at	the	lower	of	cost	and	net	realizable	
value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labor 
and	an	appropriate	proportion	of	variable	and	fixed	
overhead	expenditure,	the	latter	being	allocated	
on	the	basis	of	normal	operating	capacity.	Costs	
are assigned to individual items of inventory on the 
basis	of	weighted	average	costs.	Costs	of	purchased	
inventory	are	determined	after	deducting	rebates	
and	discounts.	Net	realizable	value	is	the	estimated	
selling price in the ordinary course of business less 
the	estimated	costs	of	completion	and	the	estimated	
costs necessary to make the sale. 

2.9 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash is cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash 
equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments 
that	are	readily	convertible	to	known	amounts	of	
cash	and	which	are	subject	to	insignificant	risk	of	
changes in value. Investments normally only qualify 
as cash equivalent if they have a short maturity of 
three	months	or	less	from	the	date	of	acquisition.

2.10 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX 

The income tax expense or credit for the period 
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 
income based on the applicable income tax rate for 
each	jurisdiction	adjusted	by	changes	in	deferred	
tax	assets	and	liabilities	attributable	to	temporary	
differences	and	to	unused	tax	losses.	

Current	end	deferred	tax	is	recognized	in	the	
income statement, except to the extent that it relates 
to	items	recognized	in	other	comprehensive	income	
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recog-
nized	in	other	comprehensive	income	or	directly	in	
equity,	respectively.	

The current income tax charge is calculated on 
the	basis	of	the	tax	laws	enacted	or	substantively	
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries 
where	the	company	and	its	subsidiaries	operate	and	
generate taxable income. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the 
liability	method,	on	temporary	differences	arising	
between	the	tax	bases	of	assets	and	liabilities	and	
their	carrying	amounts	in	the	consolidated	financial	
statements.	However,	deferred	tax	liabilities	are	not	
recognized	for:

•	 taxable	temporary	differences	arising	on	initial	
recognition	of	goodwill

Temporary	differences	on	the	initial	recognition	of	
an	asset	or	liability	in	a	transaction	other	than	a	busi-
ness	combination	that	at	the	time	of	the	transaction	
affects	neither	accounting	nor	taxable	profit	or	loss.	

Temporary	differences	related	to	investments	in	
subsidiaries to the extent the Group is able to control 
the	timing	of	the	reversal	of	the	temporary	differ-
ence	and	it	is	probable	that	they	will	not	reverse	in	
foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax is determined using tax 
rates	(and	laws)	that	have	been	enacted	or	substan-
tively	enacted	by	the	balance	sheet	date	and	are	
expected	to	apply	when	the	related	deferred	income	
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liabil-
ity	is	settled.	

Deferred	income	tax	assets	are	recognized	only	
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit	will	be	available	against	which	the	temporary	
differences	can	be	utilized.	

Deferred	income	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	off-
set	when	there	is	a	legally	enforceable	right	to	offset	
current	tax	assets	against	current	tax	liabilities	and	
when	the	deferred	income	taxes	assets	and	liabilities	
relate	to	income	taxes	levied	by	the	same	taxation	
authority	on	either	the	same	taxable	entity	or	dif-
ferent	taxable	entities	where	there	is	an	intention	to	
settle	the	balances	on	a	net	basis.
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2.11 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension obligations 

The Group operates various post-employment 
schemes,	including	both	defined	benefit	and	defined	
contribution	pension	plans.	

The	liability	or	asset	recognized	in	the	balance	
sheet	in	respect	of	defined	benefit	pension	plans	is	
the	present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	
at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	less	the	fair	value	
of	plan	assets.	The	defined	benefit	obligation	is	cal-
culated annually by independent actuaries using the 
projected	unit	credit	method.	

The	present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	obli-
gation	is	determined	by	discounting	the	estimated	
future	cash	outflows	using	interest	rates	of	high-qual-
ity corporate bonds that are denominated in the 
currency	in	which	the	benefits	will	be	paid,	and	that	
have	terms	approximating	to	the	terms	of	the	related	
obligation.	In	countries	where	there	is	no	deep	mar-
ket in such bonds, the market rates on government 
bonds are used. 

The net interest cost is calculated by applying 
the	discount	rate	to	the	net	balance	of	the	defined	
benefit	obligation	and	the	fair	value	of	plan	assets.	
This	cost	is	included	in	employee	benefit	expense	in	
the	statement	of	profit	or	loss.	

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from 
experience	adjustments	and	changes	in	actuarial	
assumptions	are	recognized	in	the	period	in	which	
they occur, directly in other comprehensive income. 

Changes	in	the	present	value	of	the	defined	
benefit	obligation	resulting	from	plan	amendments	
or	curtailments	are	recognized	immediately	in	profit	
or loss as past service costs. 

For	defined	contribution	plans,	the	Group	pays	
contributions	to	publicly	or	privately	administered	
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual 
or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment 
obligations	once	the	contributions	have	been	paid.	
The	contributions	are	recognized	as	employee	benefit	
expense	when	they	are	due.	Prepaid	contributions	
are	recognized	as	an	asset	to	the	extent	that	a	cash	
refund	or	a	reduction	in	the	future	payments	is	
available. 

Termination benefits

Termination	benefits	are	payable	when	employ-
ment is terminated by the Group before the normal 
retirement	date,	or	whenever	an	employee	accepts	
voluntary	redundancy	in	exchange	for	these	benefits.	
The	Group	recognizes	termination	benefits	at	the	
earlier	of	the	following	dates:	(a)	when	the	Group	can	
no	longer	withdraw	the	offer	of	those	benefits;	and	
(b)	when	the	entity	recognizes	costs	for	a	restruc-
turing	that	is	within	the	scope	of	IAS	37	and	involves	
the	payment	of	termination	benefits.	In	the	case	of	
an	offer	made	to	encourage	voluntary	redundancy,	
the	termination	benefits	are	measured	based	on	the	
number	of	employees	expected	to	accept	the	offer.	
Benefits	falling	due	more	than	12	months	after	the	
end	of	the	reporting	period	are	discounted	to	their	
present value. 

Bonus plans

The	Group	recognizes	a	liability	and	an	expense	for	
bonuses	when	the	bonus	has	been	earned	by	the	
employee	based	on	the	bonus	agreements	with	its	
employees.	The	Group	recognizes	a	provision	where	
contractually	obliged	or	where	there	is	a	past	practice	
that	has	created	a	constructive	obligation.

2.12 PROVISIONS 

Provisions	for	environmental	restoration,	restructur-
ing	costs	and	legal	claims	are	recognized	when:	

•	 the	Group	has	a	present	legal	or	constructive	 
obligation	as	a	result	of	past	events;	

•	 it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	resources	will	be	
required	to	settle	the	obligation;	and	

•	 the	amount	has	been	reliably	estimated.	

Restructuring	provisions	comprise	lease	termination	
penalties	and	employee	termination	payments.	 
Provisions	are	not	recognized	for	future	operating	
losses. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of 
the	expenditures	expected	to	be	required	to	settle	
the	obligation	using	a	pre-tax	rate	that	reflects	cur-
rent	market	assessments	of	the	time	value	of	money	
and	the	risks	specific	to	the	obligation.	The	increase	
in	the	provision	due	to	passage	of	time	is	recognized	
as interest expense.

2.13 ISSUED CAPITAL

Ordinary	shares	together	with	preference	shares	
and	share	premium	are	classified	as	equity.	Incre-
mental	costs	directly	attributable	to	the	issue	of	new	
ordinary	shares	or	options	are	shown	in	equity	as	a	
deduction,	net	of	tax,	from	the	proceeds.

2.14 REVENUE RECOGNITION

Sale of wall panels

The Fibo Group is in the business of manufacturing 
and	selling	laminated	wall	panels	and	related	prod-
ucts.	The	sale	of	wall	panels	and	related	products	
are	satisfied	upon	transfer	of	control	over	the	panels	
to	the	customer	which	in	general	is	upon	delivery	to	
the customer. Each order/delivery is considered as a 
performance	obligation	that	is	satisfied	at	a	point	in	
time.	

Rights of return

The Group has historically accepted that customers 
in	specific	cases	can	return	unsold	inventory	if	the	
Group	discontinues	a	product	line.	These	returns	
are infrequent and immaterial, and are made at 
the	discretion	of	management.	The	Group	uses	the	
expected	value	method	to	estimate	the	goods	that	
will	not	be	returned.	For	goods	that	are	expected	to	
be	returned	the	Group	recognizes	a	refund	liability.
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Variable consideration

The	group	provides	retrospective	volume	rebates	
to	certain	customers	once	the	quantity	of	products	
purchased during the period exceeds a threshold in 
the	contract.	To	estimate	the	variable	consideration	
for the expected future rebates the Group applies the 
most	likely	mount	method	for	contracts	with	a	sin-
gle-volume threshold and the expected value method 
for	contracts	with	more	than	one	volume	threshold.	

Warranties

The	Group	generally	provides	warranties	in	line	
with	normal	business	practices	and	does	not	
provide	extended	warranties	in	its	contracts	with	
customers.	As	such,	most	existing	warranties	will	be	
assurance-type	warranties	under	IFRS	15,	which	is	
accounted	for	under	IAS	37	Provisions,	Contingent	
Liabilities	and	Contingent	Assets.

2.15 GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Grants	from	the	government	are	recognized	at	their	
fair	value	where	there	is	a	reasonable	assurance	that	
the	grant	will	be	received	and	the	Group	will	comply	
with	all	attached	conditions.	

	Government	grants	relating	to	costs	are	deferred	
and	recognized	in	the	profit	or	loss	over	the	period	
necessary	to	match	them	with	the	costs	that	they	are	
intended to compensate. 

Government	grants	relating	to	the	purchase	
of property, plant and equipment are included in 
non-current	liabilities	as	deferred	income	and	are	
credited	to	profit	or	loss	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	
the expected lives of the related assets

2.16 LEASES

The Group has lease contracts for buildings related 
to	its	production	plant	in	Lyngdal,	Norway,	it’s	head	
office	in	Norway	and	to	various	items	of	machinery,	
vehicles and other equipment. 

The	Group	assesses	at	contract	inception	
whether	a	contract	is,	or	contains,	a	lease.	The	
Group	applies	a	single	recognition	and	measurement	
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases 
and	leases	of	low-value	assets.	The	Group	recognizes	
lease	liabilities	to	make	lease	payments	and	right-of-
use	assets	representing	the	right	to	use	the	underly-
ing assets. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, 
less	any	accumulated	depreciation	and	impairment	
losses,	and	adjusted	for	any	remeasurement	of	lease	
liabilities.	The	cost	of	right-of-use	assets	includes	the	
amount	of	lease	liabilities	recognized,	initial	direct	
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before 
the	commencement	date	less	any	lease	incentives	
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease 
term	and	the	estimated	useful	lives	of	the	assets,	as	
follows:

Property and plant
15 years

Machinery and equipment
5-15 years

If	ownership	of	the	leased	asset	transfers	to	the	
Group at the end of the lease term or the cost 
reflects	the	exercise	of	a	purchase	option,	depreci-
ation	is	calculated	using	the	estimated	useful	life	of	
the	asset.	The	right-of-use	assets	are	also	subject	to	
impairment.

At the commencement date of the lease, the 
Group	recognizes	lease	liabilities	measured	at	the	
present value of lease payments to be made over the 
lease	term.	The	lease	payments	include	fixed	pay-
ments	less	any	lease	incentives	receivable,	variable	
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, 
and amounts expected to be paid under residual 
value guarantees. The lease payments also include 
the	exercise	price	of	a	purchase	option	reasonably	
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of 
penalties	for	terminating	the	lease,	if	the	lease	term	
reflects	the	Group	exercising	the	option	to	terminate.	
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an 
index	or	a	rate	are	recognized	as	expenses	in	the	
period	in	which	the	event	or	condition	that	triggers	
the payment occurs.

In	calculating	the	present	value	of	lease	pay-
ments,	the	Group	uses	its	incremental	borrowing	
rate at the lease commencement date because the 
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily deter-
minable.	To	determine	the	incremental	borrowing	
rate	the	Group,	where	possible,	uses	it’s	recent	
third-party	financing	for	the	contracting	entity	as	a	
starting	point.	The	carrying	amount	of	lease	liabilities	
is	remeasured	if	there	is	a	modification,	a	change	in	
the lease term, a change in the lease payments or a 
change	in	the	assessment	of	an	option	to	purchase	
the underlying asset

The	Group’s	lease	liabilities	are	included	in	
Non-current	or	Current	leasing	liabilities.	Current	
leasing	liabilities	is	the	undiscounted	cash	flow	for	
the next 12 months.

The Group applies the short-term lease recogni-
tion	exemption	to	its	short-term	leases	of	machinery	
and	equipment.	It	also	applies	the	lease	of	low-value	
assets	recognition	exemption	to	leases	of	office	
equipment	that	are	considered	to	below	value.	
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases 
of	low-value	assets	are	recognized	as	expense	on	a	
straight-line	basis	over	the	lease	term.	Low-value	
assets comprise IT equipment and small items of 
office	furniture.

2.17 DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend 
declared,	being	appropriately	authorized	and	no	
longer	at	the	discretion	of	the	entity,	on	or	before	the	
end	of	the	reporting	period	but	not	distributed	at	the	
end	of	the	reporting	period.	

Stieng,Herm
an

05/19/2022 13:54:04



26   FIBO  Annual Report 2020

NOTE 3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

Below	is	a	description	of	the	Group’s	exposure	to	
financial	risks	and	how	these	risks	could	affect	the	
Group’s	future	financial	performance.	Current	year	
profit	and	loss	information	has	been	included	where	
relevant to add further context. 

The Group’s overall risk management programme 
focuses	on	the	unpredictability	of	financial	markets	
and	seeks	to	minimize	potential	adverse	effects	on	
the	Group’s	financial	performance.	

Risk management is carried out by Group man-
agement	under	directions	approved	by	the	board	of	
directors.	Group	management	identifies,	evaluates	
and	mitigate	financial	risks	in	close	co-operation	with	
the	Group’s	operating	units.	

Market risk 

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The	Group	has	operations	in	Norway,	Sweden,	Fin-
land and UK and is exposed to foreign exchange risk 
arising	from	currency	exposures	related	to	Norwe-
gian kroner. The carrying amount of the Group’s net 
investment	in	foreign	entities	varies	with	changes	
in the value of NOK compared to SEK, EUR and GBP. 
The	net	income	of	the	Group	is	also	affected	by	
changes	in	exchange	rates,	as	the	profit	and	loss	from	
foreign	operations	are	translated	into	NOK	using	
average	exchange	rates	for	the	period.	The	operating	
entities’	day	to	day	business	is	carried	out	in	their	
local	currency.	The	operating	entities	have	no	foreign	
exchange exposure related to purchase of goods from 
the	Norwegian	sister	company	as	sales	are	denomi-
nated	in	respective	local	currency.	

The	Group	purchases	most	of	its	raw	materials	
from suppliers denominated in SEK, EUR and USD. 
The	Group	may	from	time	to	time	enter	into	currency	
derivatives	to	reduce	cash	flow	impact	caused	by	
currency	fluctuations.	In	such	case,	the	derivatives	
are	recognized	at	fair	value	in	the	balance	sheet.			

The Bond issue is denominated in NOK. 

(ii) Price risk
Due to the nature of the business, the Group is 
neither	exposed	to	equity	securities	price	risk	nor	
commodity	price	risk.	However,	raw	materials	are	
indirectly exposed to price risk as components of the 
raw	materials	are	traded	in	certain	market	places

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term 
and	short-term	borrowings.	Borrowings	issued	at	
variable	rates	expose	the	Group	to	cash	flow	interest	
rate risk. Financial instruments may be used from 
time	to	time	to	offset	the	interest	rate	risk.	In	such	
cases,	instruments	are	recognized	at	fair	value.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, 
derivative	financial	instruments	and	deposits	with	
banks	and	financial	institutions,	as	well	as	credit	
exposures to customers. 

The	carrying	amount	of	financial	assets	repre-
sents maximum credit exposure. 

Credit risk is managed on Group basis, except 
for	credit	risk	relating	to	customers.	Each	local	entity	
is	responsible	for	managing	and	analyzing	the	credit	
risk	for	each	of	their	new	customers	before	stand-
ard	payment	and	delivery	terms	and	conditions	are	
offered.	The	credit	quality	of	the	customer	takes	into	
account	its	financial	position,	past	experience	and	
other factors. 

See note 18 for aging of accounts receivable. 

 Liquidity risk 

Cash	flow	forecasting	is	performed	in	the	operating	
entities	of	the	Group	and	aggregated	at	Group	level.	At	
Group level rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity 
requirements are monitored to ensure the Group has 
sufficient	cash	to	meet	operational	needs	while	main-
taining	sufficient	headroom	at	all	times	so	that	the	
Group	does	not	breach	borrowing	limits	or	covenants	
(where	applicable)	on	any	of	its	borrowing	facilities.	
Such	forecasting	takes	into	consideration	the	Group’s	
debt	financing	plans,	covenant	compliance,	compli-
ance	with	internal	balance	sheet	ratio	targets	and,	if	
applicable external regulatory or legal requirements.

3.2 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The	Group’s	objectives	when	managing	capital	are	to	
safeguard	the	Group’s	ability	to	continue	as	a	going	
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders, 
benefits	for	other	stakeholders	and	to	maintain	an	
optimal	capital	structure	to	reduce	the	cost	of	capital.	
In	addition	the	Group	has	covenants	requirements	
related to leaverage, cash and capital expenditure, 
which	is	monitored	closely.	

In	order	to	maintain	or	adjust	the	capital	struc-
ture,	the	Group	may	adjust	the	amount	of	dividends	
paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, 
issue	new	shares	or	sell	assets	to	reduce	debt.	

Consistent	with	others	in	the	industry,	the	Group	
monitors	capital	on	the	basis	of	the	gearing	ratio.	This	
ratio	is	calculated	as	net	debt	divided	by	total	capital.	
Net	debt	is	calculated	as	total	borrowings	(including	
‘current	and	non-current	borrowings’	as	shown	in	the	
consolidated balance sheet) less cash and cash equiv-
alents.	Total	capital	is	calculated	as	‘equity’	as	shown	
in the consolidated balance sheet plus net debt. 

3.3 FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

The	Group	classifies	its	financial	instruments	carried	
at	fair	value,	by	valuation	method.	The	different	
levels	have	been	defined	as	follows:

Quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	
identical	assets	or	liabilities	(Level	1).

Inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, 
derived from prices) (Level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based 
on observable market data (that is, unobservable 
inputs) (Level 3). 
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CONSOLIDATED

NOTE 4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates	and	judgements	are	continually	evaluated	
and are based on historical experience and other fac-
tors,	including	expectations	of	future	events	that	are	
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES  
AND ASSUMPTIONS

The	Group	makes	estimates	and	assumptions	
concerning	the	future.	The	resulting	accounting	
estimates	will,	by	definition,	seldom	equal	the	related	
actual	results.	The	estimates	and	assumptions	that	
have	a	significant	risk	of	causing	a	material	adjust-
ment	to	the	carrying	amounts	of	assets	and	liabilities	
within	the	next	financial	year	are:	
 
Impairment test; key assumptions underlying  
recoverable amount 

As	part	of	the	business	combination,	the	Group	
identified	intangible	assets,	such	as	customer	rela-
tionships,	brands,	product	features	and	goodwill.	
The	impairment	test	carried	out	showed	that	the	

goodwill	is	not	impaired	as	at	December	31	2020.	
However,	the	impairment	test	is	based	on	several	
assumptions	concerning	the	future,	where	unfavora-
ble	development	might	cause	a	need	for	recognition	
of an impairment loss. EBITDA margin, terminal value 
multiple	and	discount	rate	has	been	identified	as	
being	the	most	significant.	

Leases – Estimating the incremental borrowing  
rate and contract extensions

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate 
implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental 
borrowing	rate	(IBR)	to	measure	lease	liabilities.	The	
Group	estimates	the	IBR	using	observable	inputs	
(such	as	market	interest	rates)	when	available	and	is	
required	to	make	certain	entity-specific	estimates.

The Group’s leasing contracts include extension 
options.	The	Group	applies	judgement	in	evaluating	
whether	it	is	reasonably	certain	whether	or	not	to	
exercise	the	option	to	renew	the	leases.

NOTE 5  GROUP INFORMATION
The	following	entities	are	included	in	the	consolidated	financial	statements:

     Ownership Voting 
     interest power 
 Company	 Place	of	incorporation	 Main	operations	 2020	&	2019	 2020	&	2019

Fibo	AS	 Lyngdal,	Norway		 Production,	marketing	and	sales	 100	%	 100	%
Fibo	AB	 Stockholm,	Sweden	 Marketing	and	sales	 100	%	 100	%
Fibo	Group	AS,	branch	 Stockholm,	Sweden	 Administration	 100	%	 N/A
Fibosystem	Finland	OY	 Helsinki,	Finland	 Marketing	and	sales	 100	%	 100	%
Fibo	UK	Ltd	 Chesham,	UK	 Marketing	and	sales	 100	%	 100	%
Fibo	USA	LLC	 Delaware,	USA	 Marketing	and	sales	 100	%	 100	%

Shares in subsidiaries have been pledged as security for bank loans, see note 16.
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NOTE 6  SEGMENTS AND REVENUE INFORMATION

For management purposes the Group is organised in 
two	business	units	based	on	geographical	areas.	All	the	
Groups products are produced at the manufacturing 
plant	in	Lyngdal,	Norway,	and	sold	to	to	the	wholly	
owned	subsidiares	listed	in	note	5,	for	resale	in	local	
markets.	In	addition	there	is	direct	sales	from	Norway	
to customers abroad. Segments are reported in the 
same	manner	as	internal	financial	reporting	to	the	
Group’s	highest	descision	make,	which	is	defined	as	

the	board	and	the	CEO.	The	internal	financial	reporting	
follows	current	IFRS	standards	as	described	in	the	
notes to these Group accounts. The geographical 
segments	outside	Norway	are	grouped	together	
as	they	are	similar	with	respect	to	products	sold,	
customers	and	distribution	methods.	Direct	sales	from	
Norway	to	foreign,	non-interagroup	customers	is	also	
included	in	the	Rest	of	world	segment.

      	 	 Elimination
     Rest of Total  and
NOK 1000	 	 Norway	 world	 segments	 group	items		 Consolidated

2020

Revenue
External customers  432 850 220 298 653 148 0 653 148
Intersegment  110 890 0 110 890 -110 890 0
Total revenue  543 740 220 298 764 038 -110 890 653 148

Segment EBITDA  66 060 25 147 91 207 -4 666 86 541
Depreciation	and	amortization	 	 26	507	 334	 26	841	 1	142	 27	983
Segment EBIT   39 553 24 813 64 366 -5 808 58 558
Total assets   808 769 61 052 869 821 -72 860 796 961
Total	liabilities	 	 211	383	 35	601	 246	984	 248	817	 495	801

2019

Revenue
External customers  405 898 205 926 611 368 0 611 824
Intersegment  103 026 0 103 026 -103 026 0

Total revenue  508 924 205 926 714 394 -103 026 611 824

Segment EBITDA  58 831 12 957 71 788 -8 291 63 497
Depreciation	and	amortization	 	 25	920	 45	 25	965	 2	036	 28	001

Segment EBIT   32 911 12 912 45 823 -10 327 35 496

Total assets  670 853 46 203 717 056 28 492 745 548
Total	liabilities	 	 219	222	 23	254	 242	476	 218	775	 461	251

NOK 1000    2020 2019

Revenue by product
Wall panels and countertops    482 401 517 728
Other    170 747 94 096

Total revenue    653 148 611 824

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time    653 148 611 824

Revenue by jurisdiction 
Revenue	Norway	 	 	 	 432 850 405 898
Revenue UK    73 954 84 256
Revenue	Sweden	 	 	 	 54 044 46 956
Other EU markets    83 919 67 709
Outside Europe    8 381 7 005

Total revenue    653 148 611 824

The	group	has	two	customers	that	with	sales	of	more	than	10	%	of	total	revenue.		 
The	total	sales	to	these	customers	in	2020	was	NOKm	237	(2019:	NOKm	227).
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CONSOLIDATED

NOTE 7  SALARIES AND PERSONNEL EXPENSES AND MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

NOK 1000   Note 2020 2019

Salaries and holiday pay     79 757 81 150
Social security Cost    11 899 11 278
Pension costs 23   1 650 4 162
Other personnel costs    5 548 7 730

Total salaries and personnel expenses   98 854 104 320 

The number of man-years employed during the financial year:
Norway	 			 123 122
Sweden	 		 4 4
Finland   2 2
UK     12 11

Total     141 139

       Total  
NOK 1000	 	 Remuneration	 Bonus	 Pension	cost	 remuneration

Management remuneration

2020

Anders Carlson, CEO    2 682   980   902   4 564 
Martin	Prytz,	CFO	 		 	1	593		 	400		 	75		 	2	068	

2019
Anders Carlson   2 514   767      727    4 008 
Martin	Prytz.	CFO	 	 1	549	 		400		 			72		 		2	021	

The	CEO	is	entitled	to	a	compensation	of	6	month’s	
salary	at	termination.	The	CEO	has	not	received	
remuneration	or	financial	benefits	from	other	com-
panies	in	the	Group	other	than	what	is	stated	above.	

No loans or guarantees have been given to the CEO 
or	the	Board	of	directors.	No	remuneration	has	been	
paid to the Board of Directors.

NOK 1000    2020 2019

Shares in the parent company Fibo Holding AS, held or controlled  
by CEO and board members
Anders Carlson, CEO    10 458 492 10 458 492
Patrick Nolaker, Chairman    7 576 000 7 576 000
Åsa Söderström Winberg, board member   1 209 044 1 209 044

Total     19 243 536  19 243 536
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NOTE 8  OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

NOK 1000    2020 2019

Freight costs       35 786   35 214 
Marketing	and	other	sales	cost	 		 	 	  46 897   46 229 
Rental and leasing costs      4 952   5 005 
Travel costs      3 235   6 472 
Consultancy fees and external personnel     3 038   1 986 
Other	operating	costs	 		 		 	 27 282   27 016 

Total other operating expenses     121 190 121 932

Rental and leasing costs consists of expenses for 
short	term	and	low	value	rental	items	and	other	
rental items. The Group’s research and development 
concentrates on the development of its unique prod-
uct	technology	as	well	as	the	production	process.	
Research and development expenses that are not 

eligible	for	capitalization	have	been	expensed	in	the	
period as incurred. Total expenses incurred in 2020 
is	NOKk	393	(2019:	NOkK	917).	Government	grants	
through	the	Norwegian	Skattefunn	scheme	have	
been	recognized	in	2020	with	NOKk	0	(2019:	 
NOKk 205).

NOK 1000    2020 2019

Specification auditor’s fee
Statutory audit     490 338
Other assurance services    0 10
Other non-assurance services     100 66
Tax consultant services     50 20

Total      640 434

VAT	is	not	included	in	the	audit	fees	specified	above.

	 	 	 	 	 	 Ownership	interest/voting	rights
     Country  2020 & 2019

Ownership structure
Fibo	Holding	AS	 	 	 Norway		 	 100.0	%

NOTE 9  TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Fibo	Group	AS	is	100	%	owned	by	Fibo	Holding	AS,	
which	is	owned	86	%	by	FSN	CAPITAL	GP	IV	LIMITED	
in its capacity as general partner for and on behalf of 
each of FSN CAPITAL IV L.P., FSN CAPITAL IV (B) L.P., 
and FSN CAPITAL IV INVEST L.P.

FSN	CAPITAL	GP	IV	LIMITED	is	controlled	by	funds	
managed	by	the	private	equity	firm	FSN	Capital.	

Management	and	certain	Board	members	own	the	
remaining shares in Fibo Holding AS.

FSN	CAPITAL	GP	IV	LIMITED	do	not	charge	any	
fees to the Group. Expenses charged to the Group are 
out-of-pocket-expenses only.
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CONSOLIDATED

NOTE 10  FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

NOK 1000    2020 2019

Financial income
Interest income       116   447 

Total financial income       116   447 

Financial expenses       
Interest	expense	bank	loans	at	amortized	cost	 		 		  23 320      25 984 
Amortisation	of	finance	fee	related	to	credit	facilities	 	 	 3 416 6 394    
Interest	on	lease	liabilities	 		 		 	  8 533       8 825 
Factoring	fee	and	other	financial	expenses		 		 	   9 448 5 772  

Total financial expenses       44 716     46 975 

Net finance       -44 600      -46 528 

Other (losses)/ gains - net        
Gains	(losses)	on	financial	instruments	at	fair	value	 		 		  -    -976 
Net foreign exchange gains       22 011  10 477 
Net foreign exchange losses       -16 603  -4 152 

Other gains (losses) - net       5 408       5 349 

This table shows the movement in the capitalized costs

NOK 1000    2020 2019

Cost as at 1 January  10 978  9 600 
Additions	 		 				  -    10 978 
Write-off	 		 		-    -9 600 

Cost as at 31 December     10 978  10 978 

Accumulated	amortization	as	at	1	January	 		  2 745  5 951 
Amortization	 	 							3 416  2 744 
Reversal	upon	write-off	 	 -    -5 950 

Accumulated amortization as at 31 December    6 161  2 745 

Net book value         4 817  8 233 

Amortization	expense	consists	of:
Ordinary	amortization	 	       3 416  2 744 
Write-off	of	carrying	value	for	old	loan	 	 		     0  3 650 

Total amortization    3 416  6 394 

The	Group	incurred	direct	cost	to	finance	institutions	
to	secure	the	financing	of	the	acquisition	in	2015.

In	connection	with	the	bond	issue	in	2019	these	
capitalized	costs	were	expensed	and	at	the	same	
time	costs	related	to	the	bond	issue	was	capitalized	

as	a	reduction	of	the	carrying	amount	of	the	bond.		
Capitalized	costs	are	amortized	as	interest	expenses	
using	the	effective	interest	method.	Reference	is	also	
made to note 16.
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NOTE 11  INCOME TAX EXPENSE

NOK 1000    2020 2019

Current tax
Current	tax	on	profit	(loss)	for	the	year	 		 		 466 996
Current tax from prior years      0 45

Deferred tax
Changes in deferred tax      3 665 -2 354
Reduction	of	tax	rate	 		 		 	 0 0

Income tax expense (income)      4 131 -1 313

Income	tax	expense	(income)	attributable	to	net	profit	 		 	 4 131 -1 313
Income	tax	expense	(income)	attributable	to	other	comprehensive	income	 	 -105 902

A reconciliation of the effective rate of tax and the tax rate in Norway:

Pre-tax	profit		 		 		 	 19 366 -5 684
Expected	income	taxes	according	to	income	tax	rate	in	Norway	(22	%)	 	 4 260 -1 250
Tax	effect	of	non	deductible	expenses		 	 	 41 28
Tax from previous years    0 45
Tax	rate	outside	Norway	other	than	22	%	 	 	 -65 -97
Other    -60 -39

Income tax expense (income)      4 131 -1 313

Current tax liability
As at 1 January      470 533
Income tax expense      466 996
Taxes paid including prepaid      -936 -1 059

As at 31 December      0 470

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets:

Deferred tax assets 
Tax	losses	carried	forward	 		 		 	 3 050 9 074
Pensions      0 1 210
Right	of	use	assets	and	lease	liabilities,	net	 	 	 2 385 1 679
Other      1 557 1 020

Deferred tax assets - gross      6 992 12 983 

Deferred tax liabilities 
Intangible assets    37 110 37 998
Fixed assets    6 898 7 288
Borrowings/	Finance	fee	 	 	 	 1 060 1 821
Other    79 0

Deferred tax liabilities - gross      45 146 47 107

Net recognized deferred tax liabilities      38 154 34 124

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:
As at 1 January      34 124 37 540
Income tax expense      3 665 -2 354
Change in tax rate      0 0
Other changes      365 -1 062

As at 31 December      38 154 34 124 

The	tax	rate	for	Norway	is	22	%	in	2020	and	2019.
The	tax	rate	for	Sweden	is	21.4	%	for	2020	and	2019.
The tax rate for UK is 19 % for 2020 and 2019.
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CONSOLIDATED

NOTE 12  EARNINGS PER SHARE

NOK 1000    2020 2019

Profit	(loss)	for	the	period	 	 15 235 -4 371

Weighted average shares outstanding  298 449 933 298 449 933 
Effect	of	dilution	from	share	options	and	convertible	loans	 	 - - 

Weighted average shares adjusted for dilution  298 449 933 298 449 933 

Earnings per share, ordinary  0.051  -0.015 
Earnings per share, diluted  0.051 -0.015 

NOTE 13  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

   	 Assets	under	 Machinery	and	 Furniture	  
NOK 1000	 	 construction	 equipment	 and	vehicles	 Total

Balance as at 1 January 2019  798 115 959 302 117 059
Disposals, cost price    -6 599   -6 599
Disposals,	accumulated	depreciation	 		 	 4	104	 		 4	104
Additions	during	the	period	 	 3	318	 1	121	 478	 4	917
Depreciation	 		 	 -15	069	 -138	 -15	207

Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 4 116 99 516 642 104 274

Balance as at 1 January 2020  4 116 99 516 642 104 274
Additions	during	the	period	 	 789	 2	908	 772	 4	469
Depreciation	 	 	 -14	806	 -1	146	 -15	952
Transfer, cost price   2 525 -2 074 451
Transfer, acc depr   -4 696 3 993 -703

Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2020 4 905 85 447 2 188 92 540

Acquisition	cost	as	at	1	January	2020	 	 4	116	 153	692	 5	640	 163	448
Accumulated	depreciations	as	at	1	January	2020	 0	 -54	176	 -4	998	 -59	174

Net carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 4 116 99 516 642 104 274

Acquisition	cost	as	at	31	December	2020	 4	905	 159	125	 4	338	 168	368
Accumulated depr. as at 31 December 2020 0 -73 678 -2 150 -75 828

Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2020 4 905 85 447 2 188 92 540

Economic life   5 - 15 years 5 - 10 years 
Depreciation	method	 	 	 straight	line	 straight	line	

Machinery	and	equipment	have	been	pledged	as	security	for	loans,	see	note	16.
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    Customer  Design and  
NOK 1000	 Goodwill	 relationships	 Brands	 technology	 R&D	 Total

Balance as at 1 Jan 2019 246 800 21 970 101 895 56 101 385 427 151
Additions	during	the	period	 	 	 	 373	 	 373
Amortization	 	 -3	424	 	 -2	647	 -113	 -6	184

Net carrying amount as at 31 Dec 2019 246 800 18 546 101 895 53 827 272 421 340
       
Balance as at 1 Jan 2020 246 800 18 546 101 895 53 827 272 421 340
Additions	during	the	period	 	 	 	 504	 112	 616
Amortization	 	 -3	424	 	 -1	748	 -249	 -5	421

Net carrying amount as at 31 Dec 2020 246 800 15 122 101 895 52 583 135 416 535
       
Acquisition	cost	as	at	1	Jan	2020	 246	800	 34	241	 101	895	 61	286	 2	017	 446	239
Accumulated depr. as at 1 Jan 2020 0 -15 695 0 -7 459 -1 745 -24 899

Net carrying amount as at 1 Jan 2020 246 800 18 546 101 895 53 827 272 421 340
       
Acquisition	cost	as	at	31	Dec	2020	 246	800	 34	241	 101	895	 61	790	 2	129	 446	855
Accumulated depr. as at 31Dec2020 0 -19 119 0 -9 207 -1 994 -30 320

Net carrying amount as at 31 Dec 2020 246 800 15 122 101 895 52 583 135 416 535

Economic	life	 Indefinite	 10	years	 Indefinite	 5-10	years	 4	years	
Depreciation	method	 		 straight	line	 		straight	line/	 straight	
	 	 	 	 	 	 indefinite	 line

NOTE 14  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill	and	other	intangible	assets	with	an	
indefinite	useful	life	is	not	amortized,	but	tested	
yearly for impairment. Refer to note 15 for the 
impairment test.

NOTE 15  IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL AND ASSETS WITH INFINITE LIVES
Goodwill	and	other	intangible	assets	with	an	indefinite	
useful life is tested for impairment at least annually, 
or	when	there	are	indications	of	impairment.	The	

intangible	assets	arose	from	the	acquisition	which	
was	completed	in	May	2015.	The	impairment	test	was	
performed as at 31 December 2020.

       Design  
Book	value	 		 		 Goodwill	 Brands	 	and	technology

Norway	 	 NOKk	 246	800		 101	895		 48	966	

The recoverable amount of the CGUs is set to the 
estimated	value	in	use.	The	value	in	use	is	the	net	
present	value	of	the	estimated	cash	flow	before	tax	
for a 4-year period plus a terminal value. The terminal 
value	is	calculated	as	a	multiple	of	EBITDA	in	year	
4	using	peer	data	to	determine	the	multiple.	The	
discount	rate	used	is	10.4	%	before	tax	and	reflects	
the	timing	and	risks	of	the	cash	flows	and	includes	
a	small	cap	premium.	Revenue	growth	is	estimated	
to	6	%	in	the	estimation	period.	Gross	profit	margin	
is	estimated	to	decrease	by	approximate	3	%-points	

over	the	4	year	period	as	result	of	higher	inflation	in	
cost	vs.	revenue	growth.	Multiples`s	applied	is	bench-
marked	towards	market	data	for	peers	(comparable	
businesses	to	Fibo).	No	impairment	has	been	identi-
fied,	also	when	applying	different	scenarios	through	a	
sensitivity	analysis.	A	sensitivity	analysis	with	reduced	
sales	growth	of	2	%,	additionally	reduced	EBITDA	
through	higher	cost	inflation	of	1	%	or	increased	dis-
count	rate	of	2	%,	the	headroom	is	still	close	to	20	%	
above the total recoverable amount as at 31.12.2020.

Stieng,Herm
an

05/19/2022 13:54:04



35fiboinvestor.com

CONSOLIDATED

NOTE 16  FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

NOK 1000  Interest	rate	 Maturity 2020 2019

Debt instruments at amortised cost
Trade receivables    32 171 20 489

Sum financial assets    32 171 20 489

Total current    32 171 20 489

Total non-current    0 0

Current interest-bearing liabilities
Leasing	liabilities,	current	 	 	 	 12 025 11 935

Total current    12 025 11 935

Non-current interestbearing loans 
Senior secured bond  Nibor+7.75 % 2022 245 183 241 767
Leasing	liabilities,	non-current	 	 Nibor+7.75	%	 		 78 128 81 620

Total non-current    323 311 323 387

Total interest-bearing liabilities    335 336 335 322

Other	financial	liabilities	at	amortized	cost:	 	 	 	 0
Trade payables    68 885 54 512

Total current     68 885 54 512

Total non-current     0 0

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activites

Opening balance    335 322 350 981
Cashflow,	bond	issue	 		 		 	 0 250 000
Cashflow,	repayments	 	 	 	 0 -258 053
Cashflow,	lease	payments	 	 	 	 -11 935 -11 847
Cashflow,	capitalized	fees	 		 		 	 0 -10 978
Accretion	of	interest	on	leasing	liabilities	 		 		 8 533 8 825
Net	change	in	amortization	of	capitalized	fees	 		 	 3 416 6 394

Ending balance    335 336 335 322

The carrying amount of the senior secured bond 
loans as at 31 December 2020 is NOK 245 183, 
consisiting	of	a	face	value	loan	of	NOK	250	000,	
reduced	with	capitalized	costs	of	NOK	4	817.	The	
corresponding amounts for the interest bearing 
bank loans as at 31 December 2019 is NOK 241 767, 
face	value	of	NOK	250	000	and	capitalized	costs	of	
NOK	8	233.	Refer	to	note	10	for	a	table	showing	the	
movement	in	capitalized	costs.	

Stieng,Herm
an

05/19/2022 13:54:04



36   FIBO  Annual Report 2020

Senior secured bond

In 2019 the Group issued Senior secured bonds.  
The	bonds	are	repayable	after	3	years.	The	Group	has	
pledged all material assets including, but not limited 
to, shares in subsidiaries, intra-group loan assign-
ments,	fixed	assets,	inventory,	account	receivables	
and bank accounts. The carrying amount of the 
Group’s	pledged	assets	is	as	follows:

The	loans	are	subject	to	covenant	restrictions	and	the	
most	important	being	the	ratio	of	net	debt	to	EBITDA.
Expenses	in	connection	with	the	bond	issue	are	capi-
talized	and	amortized,	see	note	10.

Bank loans and bank overdraft facility
The	maturity	profile	of	financial	liabilities	based	on	
undiscounted	payments	is	as	follows:

    Less than 3 3 to 12 1 to 5  Above 5  
NOK 1000  months  months  years  years  Total

Year ended 31 December 2020

Interest-bearing	liabilities	(excluding	those	below)	 	 	 250	000	 	 250	000
Interest expenses   5 063   15 188   5 063    25 313  
Lease	liabilities	 		 	3	006		 	9	018		 	49	009		 	90	828		 	151	861	
Low	value	and	short	time	rental	expenses	 			 	1	238		 	3	714		 	11	183		 		 	16	135	
Trade	and	other	current	liabilities	 			 	102	417		 	8	924		 		 		 	111	341	

Total       111 724   36 844   315 255   90 828   554 650 

Year ended 31 December 2019

Interest-bearing	liabilities	(excluding	those	below)	 		 		 	250	000		 		 	250	000	
Interest expenses   5 156   15 469   25 313    45 938 
Lease	liabilities	 			 	2	984		 	8	952		 	61	034		 	90	828		 	163	798	
Low	value	and	short	time	rental	expenses	 			 	1	142		 	3	426		 	13	018		 		 	17	586	
Trade	and	other	current	liabilities	 		 		78	927		 	6	890		 		 		 	85	817	

Total     88 209   34 737   349 365   90 828   563 139  

Comparison of carrying amounts and fair value of financial assets and liabilities:

    2020 2020 2019 2019 
NOK 1000  Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing	loans	and	borrowings	 			245	183		 		256	250		 241	767	 258	053

For	all	other	financial	assets	and	liabilities	the	carrying	
amount	is	also	an	approximation	of	the	fair	value.

NOK 1000    2020 2019

Plant, machinery and equipment  92 540 103 671
Inventory  80 375 74 647
Accounts receivable  32 171 2 000
Cash and cash equivalents  85 362 2 532

Total     290 448 182 850
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CONSOLIDATED

NOTE 17  INVENTORIES

NOK 1000    2020 2019

Raw	materials	 		 	 	 	38 290   48 928 
Work in progress      1 912   0 
Finished goods      34 006   26 763 
Wholesale goods      6 799   8 020 

Total as at 31 December      81 007   83 711 

Obsolete goods      -632   -329 

Total as at 31 December      80 375    83 382 

Inventories have been pledged as security for loans, see note 16. 

NOTE 18  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

NOK 1000   2020 2019

Accounts receivable      33 471 20 789
Bad debt provision     -1 300 -300

Total as at 31 December     32 171 20 489

Changes in bad debt provision
Opening balance      300 800
Increase of provision during the period     1 000 0
Losses incurred   0 -206
Released provision during the period     0 -294

Total as at 31 December     1 300 300

Currency exposure accounts receivable
NOK       12 782 2 000
GBP       16 460 18 266
SEK       686 523
EUR       0 0
Other      3 543 0

Total as at 31 December     33 471 20 789

Age distribution accounts receivable
Not due     16 939 20 789
Less than 30 days      11 982 0
30 - 60 days      2 206 0
60 - 90 days     225 0
More	than	90	days	 		 		  2 119 0

Total as at 31 December     33 471 20 789

During 2019 the Group entered into a factoring 
arrangement covering several of its largest 
customers.	Losses	for	bad	debt	is	classified	as	other	
operating	expenses	in	the	income	statement.

Accounts receivable have been pledged as 
security for loans, see note 16.
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NOTE 19  OTHER CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT ASSETS

NOK 1000   2020 2019

Other current assets 
Pre-paid costs    2 983   1 303 
Receivables from related party    2 000   0  
Other current assets    4 967   1 638 

Total as at 31 December    9 950   2 941 

NOTE 20  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

NOK 1000   2020 2019

Cash and short-term bank deposits    81 849   26 693 
Restricted	cash	(deposit	account	for	withholding	taxes	2020/guarantee	in	2019)	  3 513  -  

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet 31 December   85 362   26 693 

NOTE 21  SHARE CAPITAL, SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION AND DIVIDEND

NOK 1000   2020 2019

Ordinary shares, nominal amount NOK 0.12   298 449 933 298 449 933

Total number of shares   298 449 933 298 449 933

NOK 1000  No. of shares Share capital Share premium

Changes to share capital and premium 
Shares issued and fully paid 31 December 2018  298 449 933 29 845 268 335
Share capital increase in 2019  0 2 984 2 756

Shares issued and fully paid 31 December 2020 and 2019  298 449 933 32 829 271 101

The share capital is increased in 2019 by an increase 
of	the	nominal	value	of	the	shares	with	NOK	0.02	and	
corresponds to a share capital increase in the parent 
company	Fibo	Holding	AS	where	the	chairman	of	the	
board and the CEO have increased their shareholdings.
All	issued	shares	have	equal	voting	rights.

The shareholder as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 
was:

Shareholder   No of ordinary shares % Holding

Fibo Holding AS   298 449 933 100.0 %

No	dividend	has	been	declared	for	the	accounting	period.

Restricted	cash	is	for	payment	of	employee	taxes	withheld.
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CONSOLIDATED

NOTE 22  LEASES

NOK 1000   2020 2019

Right-of-use assets 
As at 1 January    85 923   92 533 
Depreciation	expense	 	 	  -6 610   -6 610 

As at 31 December    79 313   85 923 

Lease liabilities
As at 1 January    93 555   96 577 
Additions	 	 	
Accretion	of	interest	 	 	  8 533   8 825 
Lease payment    -11 935   -11 847 

As at 31 December    90 153   93 555 

Current    12 025   11 935 
Non-current    78 128   81 620 

Items in profit (loss)
Depreciation	expense	 	 	  6 610   6 610 
Interest	expense	on	lease	liabilities	 	 	  8 533   8 825 
Expense	relating	to	short-term	leases	(included	in	other	operating	expenses)	  1 760   1 469 
Expense	relating	to	low-value	assets	(included	in	other	operating	expenses)			 2 265   2 368 
Variable	lease	payments	(included	in	other	operating	expenses)	 	  927   1 168 

Total amount recognized in profit (loss)    20 095   20 440 

NOTE 23  PENSIONS AND OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Defined contribution plans
The	Group’s	companies	in	Norway,	Sweden	and	UK	
have	defined	contribution	plans	in	accordance	with	
local	laws.	The	contribution	plans	cover	full-time	
employees	and	amounts	to	4	%	of	the	salary	between	
1G and 6G and 6 % of salary exceeding 6G. The 
employees may manage the investments through an 
agreement	with	the	insurance	company.	The	contribu-
tion	is	expensed	when	it	is	incurred.	As	at	31.12.2020	
and	2019	there	were	139	members	covered	by	the	
schemes.

In	Norway,	the	Group	is	part	of	a	partly	govern-
ment funded plan (AFP). The plan gives a lifelong con-
tribution	to	the	ordinary	pension.	The	employees	can	
choose	to	exercise	the	new	AFP-scheme	starting	at	the	
age	of	62	years,	also	in	combination	with	continued	
work,	and	the	annual	regular	post-employment	bene-
fit	increases	in	the	new	scheme	if	early	AFP	retire-
ment	is	rejected.	The	new	AFP-scheme	is	a	defined	
benefit	multi-employer	plan	which	is	financed	through	
contributions	that	are	determined	by	a	percentage	of	
the employee’s earnings. There is currently no reliable 
measure	and	allocation	of	liabilities	and	assets	in	the	
plan.	The	plan	is	accounted	for	as	a	defined	contri-
bution	plan	which	means	that	the	contributions	are	
recognized	as	expenses	with	no	provisions.

Defined benefit plans
In	Norway,	the	Group	operates	a	defined	benefit	
pension plan. The plan is closed, and membership 
is	restricted	to	those	that	were	employed	when	the	
plan	was	closed.	The	plan	and	the	plan	assets	are	held	
with	insurance	companies	and	are	governed	by	local	
regulations	and	practice.	The	plan	covers	23	actives	
and	34	retirees.	The	actuarial	assumptions	are	based	
on	assumptions	of	demographical	factors	normally	
used	within	the	insurance	industry.	This	plan	was	
settled	during	2020	and	as	at	31	December	2020	the	
remaining	liabilities	related	to	the	final	settlement	
with	the	insurance	company	is	classified	as	Accounts	
payable	and	other	current	liabilities.	A	settlement	
gain	of	NOKk	2	074	has	been	recognized	in	2020	and	
classified	as	a	reduction	of	pension	costs.

The remaining pension commitment of NOKk 699 
is	related	to	a	pension	plan	in	Sweden.	A	correspond-
ing amount is held in a separate fund by the subsidiary 
and	this	item	is	classified	as	Other	non-current	asset.

The	right-of-use	asset	is	related	to	renting	of	office	
and	manufacturing	buildings	at	the	Groups	production	
facility	in	Lyngdal.	The	contract	length	is	10	years	with	
an	option	to	extend	with	5	years.	As	the	option	to	
extend is considered reasonably likely to be exercised 
the	option	period	is	also	included	in	the	liability.	The	

rent	is	subject	to	a	yearly	increase	with	a	percentage	
of the increase the consumer price index. 

Expenses	for	short-term	leases,	low-value	assets	
and variable lease payments are presented together in 
Note 8 as rental and leasing costs.
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NOK 1000   2020 2019

Service cost    327 648
Interest cost     301 809
Return on pension plan assets    -241 -731
Social	security	tax	and	administration	cost	 	 	 127 168
Defined	pension	plan	termination	 		 	 -2 074 0

Net pension costs, defined benefit plans    -1 560 894

Cost	of	defined	contribution	pension	plans	 		 	 3 210 3 268

Total pension costs    1 650 4 162

Gross pension obligation as at 31 December     36 219
Fair value of the plan assets as at 31 December     30 230

Net benefit obligations as at 31 December     5 989

Other comprehensive income 31 December     5 528

Actuarial assumptions     
Discount rate      1.80 %
Expected return on pension assets     1.80 %
Expected	rate	of	salary	and	benefit	increases	 		 	 	 2.25	%
Expected	G-regulation	(adjustment	of	pension	benefits)	 		 	 	 2.00	%
Expected	regulation	of	pensions	in	effect	 		 	 	 0.70	%
Expected	annual	retirement	 		 	 	 2.00	%

NOTE 24  ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

NOK 1000   2020 2019

Trade accounts payable   65 636 30 725
Net liability to customers   12 130 23 787
Liabilities	related	to	employees	incl.	holiday	pay	 	 	 7 925 7 995
Government taxes, vat, social security tax etc.   19 309 15 506
Accrued expenses   16 613 7 333

Total as at 31 December   121 613 85 347

Trade	payables	are	non-interest	bearing	and	are	normally	settled	on	between	30-45-day	terms.

NOK 1000   2020 2019

Currency exposure trade accounts payable and other current payables 
NOK    87 801 67 214
GBP    6 017 4 651
SEK    7 146 7 549
EUR    19 251 7 489
USD    1 291 -1 650
Other currencies   107 94

Total as at 31 December   121 613 85 347
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CONSOLIDATED

NOTE 25  WORKING CAPITAL IN THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

NOK 1000	 	 Opening	balance	 31	Dec	2019	 Cash	flow

Inventories  63 407 83 383 -19 976
Trade receivables  58 463 20 489 37 974
Other receivables  1 717 2 941 -1 224
Accounts	payable	and	other	current	liabilities		 	 -86	059	 -85	347	 -712
FX	on	working	capital	items	 	 0	 0	 -766

Change in working capital  37 527 21 465 15 296

NOK 1000  Opening balance 31 Dec 2020	 Cash	flow

Inventories  83 383 80 375 3 008
Trade receivables  20 489 23 290 -2 802
Other receivables  2 941 9 950 -7 010
Accounts	payable	and	other	current	liabilities		 	 -85	347	 -112	732	 27	385
FX	on	working	capital	items	 	 0	 0	 4	717

Change in working capital  21 465 883 25 298

NOTE 26  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The	group	supplies	the	construction	industry	with	
materials,	it	follows	the	business	nature	that	the	
Group may receive customer claims. A provision 
of NOKk 1 100 has been booked as at 31 December 
2020.  

NOTE 27  EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
There	have	been	no	significant	events	after	the	balance	
sheet	date	with	significant	impact	on	the	annual	
accounts of the Group. 
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Income statement

NOK 1000  Note 2020 2019

OPERATING INCOME AND OPERATING EXPENSES

Revenue  8  21 169   19 024 
Payroll and related costs  10  12 938   10 848 
Depreciation	and	amortization	expense	 	 12  1 142   2 036 
Other	operating	expenses	 	 	  5 900   5 680 

Total operating costs    19 980   18 564 

Operating profit    1 189   460 

FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

Income from subsidiaries     48 124    3 494 
Interest	income	from	group	entities	 	 	  3 147   3 588 
Other interest income    2   17 
Other	financial	income	 	 	  379   310 
Other interest expenses    21 967   20 994 
Other	financial	expenses	 	 	  4 844   7 725 

Net financial income and expenses  11  24 841   -21 310 

Net profit before income taxes     26 030   -20 850 
Income tax expense  9   5 727   -4 586 

Net profit after tax    20 303    -16 264 

Appropriations
Profit	(Loss)	brought	forward	 	 	   20 303   -16 264 

Total appropriations    20 303   -16 264 
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Balance sheet

NOK 1000  Note 2020 2019

ASSETS

Fixed assets
Deferred tax assets  9 1 608   7 335 
Other intangible assets  12  918   1 552 

Total intangible assets    2 526    8 887 

Equipment and other movables    15   19 

Financial fixed assets
Investments in subsidiaries  2  448 881   448 881 
Other non-current receivables    197   197 

Total financial fixed assets    449 078   449 078 

Total fixed assets    451 619   457 984 

CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables	on	group	entities	 	 5  80 569   55 510 
Other receivables    4 954   814 
Cash and cash equivialents  3  1 908   2 533 

Total current assets   87 431    58 857  

Total assets   539 050     516 841 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Paid in capital
Share capital  6,7  32 829   32 829 
Share premium account  6,7  271 100   271 100 

Total paid in capital    303 929   303 929 

Retained earnings  7  -16 076    -36 368 

Total retained earnings   -16 076    -36 368

Total equity    287 853    267 561 

LIABILITIES

Other long-term liabilities   
Interest-bearing	loans	and	borrowings	 	 4  245 183  241 767

Total other long term liabilities    245 183  241 767 

Current liabilities
Accounts payable    2 557   796 
Current income taxes payable  10  610  0
Public	duties	payable	 	 	 	362   270 
Other	current	liabilities	 	 5  2 485   6 447  

Total current liabilities   6 014    7 513  

Total liabilities     251 197    249 280 

Total equity and liabilities     539 050     516 841 

F IBO GROUP AS

Oslo, 15 April 2021 
The Board of Directors of Fibo Group AS

Lars Patrik Nolåker 
Chairman of the board

Åsa Söderström Winberg 
Board member

Tanya Pedersen 
Board member

Eskil Gunderson Koffeld
Board member

Torbjørn D. Kvinnesland 
Board member

Erik Nelson 
Board member 

Anders Carlson 
CEO/President
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Cash flow statement

NOK 1000  Note 2020 2019

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS

Net	profit	before	income	taxes	 	 	  26 030   -20 850 
Depreciation	and	amortization	 	 		 1 142   2 036 
Amortization	of	capitalzed	bank	fees	 	 	  3 416   6 394 
Fair	value	adjustment	derivatives	 	 	 	-     976 
Change in receivables    -31 599   -4 141 
Change in accounts payable    1 761   -7 
Change in other provisions    -871   -2 494 

Net cash flow from operations    -121  -16 948  

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS

Purchase of intangible assets  12  -504   -392 
Change in non-current receivables    -    30 751 

Net cashflow from investments    -504   30 359 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING

Net proceeds from equity increase    -    5 738 
Net proceeds from bond issue   -    239 022 
Repayment of bank loans  4 -    -258 053 

Net cashflow from financing    -    -13 293

Net change in cash and cash equivalents   -625  118 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    2 533  3 509 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period     1 908   2 533 
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Notes to the Fibo Group accounts

NOTE 1  ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The annual accounts have been prepared in com-
pliance	with	the	Accounting	Act	and	accounting	
principles	generally	accepted	in	Norway.

Fibo Group AS is the parent company of a sub-
group of Fibo Holding AS. The company’s purpose is 
primarily	to	own	shares	in	the	subsidiaries.

SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries and investments in associates are valued 
at cost in the company accounts. The cost price is 
increased	when	funds	are	added	through	capital	
increases	or	when	group	contributions	are	made	to	
subsidiaries.	Dividends	received	are	initially	taken	to	
income.	Dividends	exceeding	the	portion	of	retained	
equity	after	the	purchase	are	reflected	as	a	reduc-
tion	in	purchase	cost.	Dividend/group	contribution	
from	subsidiaries	are	reflected	in	the	same	year	as	
the subsidiary makes a provision for the amount. 
The	shares	are	booked	at	the	lower	of	cost	and	net	
realizable	value.

CLASSIFICATION OF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

Current	assets	and	short-term	liabilities	includes	
items	which	are	to	be	repaid	within	one	year	after	the	
transaction	date.	Other	items	are	classified	as	fixed	
assets/long-term	liabilities.	

Current	assets	are	appraised	at	the	lowest	of	cost	
and	fair	value.	Short-term	liabilities	are	booked	at	
nominal	value	at	the	time	of	loan	uptake.

Fixed	assets	are	appraised	at	cost	or	written	
down	to	fair	value	if	impairment	is	not	expected	to	
be	temporary.	Long-term	liabilities	are	booked	at	
nominal	value	at	the	time	of	loan	uptake.	First	year’s	
installment	on	long-term	liabilities	and	long-term	
receivables	are,	however,	classified	as	short	term	
liabilities	and	current	assets.

DEBTORS

Trade	debtors	are	recognized	in	the	balance	sheet	
after	provision	for	bad	debts.	The	bad	debts	provision	
is made on basis of an individual assessment of each 
debtor.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Assets	and	liabilities	in	foreign	currencies	are	valued	
at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. 
Exchange	gains	and	losses	relating	to	purchases	in	
foreign	currencies	are	recognized	as	financial	income	
and	financial	expenses.

ASSET IMPAIRMENTS

Impairment	tests	are	carried	out	if	there	is	indication	
that the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the 
estimated	recoverable	amount.	The	test	is	performed	
on	the	lowest	level	of	fixed	assets	at	which	inde-
pendent	cashflows	can	be	identified.	If	the	carrying	
amount is higher than both the fair value less cost 

to sell and recoverable amount (net present value 
of	future	use/ownership),	the	asset	is	written	down	
to the highest of fair value less cost to sell and the 
recoverable amount. Previous impairment charges, 
except	write-down	of	goodwill,	are	reversed	in	later	
periods	if	the	conditions	causing	the	write-down	are	
no longer present.

DERIVATIVES

Changes	in	value	of	derivatives	are	recognized	in	the	
balance.	The	effect	on	profit	or	loss	of	derivatives	are	
presented	as	finance	income/expense.

RELATED PARTIES

A	related	party	has	significant	influence	on	the	
Group’s	strategy	or	operational	choices.	Ability	
to	influence	the	other	party	is	normally	achieved	
through	ownership,	participation	in	the	group’s	
decision-making bodies or management, or through 
special agreements.

Balances	and	transactions	with	subsidiaries	
have	been	eliminated	in	the	consolidated	financial	
statements	and	are	not	covered	by	the	information	
provided in this note. Economic factors related to 
directors and senior management are described 
in	Note	10.	Other	related	party	transactions	are	
described in Note 5.

TAXES

The tax charge in the income statement includes both 
payable taxes for the period and changes in deferred 
tax. Deferred tax is calculated at relevant tax rates 
on	the	basis	of	the	temporary	differences	which	
exist	between	accounting	and	tax	values,	and	any	
carryforward	losses	for	tax	purposes	at	the	year-end.	
Tax	enhancing	or	tax	reducing	temporary	differences,	
which	are	reversed	or	may	be	reversed	in	the	same	
period, have been eliminated. The disclosure of 
deferred	tax	benefits	on	net	tax	reducing	differences	
which	have	not	been	eliminated,	and	carryforward	
losses,	is	based	on	estimated	future	earnings.	
Deferred	tax	and	tax	benefits	which	may	be	shown	in	
the balance sheet are presented net.

Tax	reduction	on	group	contributions	given	and	
tax	on	group	contribution	received,	booked	as	a	
reduction	of	cost	price	or	taken	directly	to	equity,	
are booked directly against tax in the balance sheet 
(offset	against	payable	taxes	if	the	group	contribu-
tion	has	affected	payable	taxes,	and	offset	against	
deferred	taxes	if	the	group	contribution	has	affected	
deferred taxes).

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The	cash	flow	statement	has	been	prepared	accord-
ing to the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents 
include cash and bank deposits.

F IBO GROUP AS
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NOTE 4  LIABILITIES

NOTE 2  SUBSIDIARIES

    Ownership/	 Equity	last	 Result	last	 Balance 
NOK 1000	 Location	 voting	right	 year	(100	%)	 year	(100	%)	 sheet	value

Subsidiaries 
Fibo	AS	 Lyngdal,	Norway	 100	%	 69	742		 	35	947		 424	190	
Fibo	AB	 Stockholm,	Sweden	 100	%	 5	559	 	275		 	1	045	
Fibo Uk Ltd Chesham, UK 100 %  19 355   1 663    23 622 
Fibo OY Helsinki, Finland 100 %  132   60    24 
Fibo	USA	LLC		 Delaware,	USA	 100	%	 	-			 	-		 	-	

Balance sheet value as at 31 December     448 881

NOTE 3  RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND OVERDRAFTS
The company has NOKk 239 in bank deposits 
re		stricted	for	payment	of	taxes	withheld	for	
employees.

Terms and repayment schedule 2020

    Nominal Year of Face Carrying 
NOK 1000 Currency interest rate maturity value amount

Bond loan NOK NIBOR+7.75 % 2022 250 000 241 767

Total interest-bearing loans and bank borrowings as at 31 December  250 000 241 767

Terms and repayment schedule 2019

    Nominal Year of Face Carrying 
NOK 1000 Currency interest rate maturity value amount

Bond loan NOK NIBOR+7.75 % 2022 250 000 245 183

Total interest-bearing loans and bank borrowings as at 31 December  250 000 245 183

SENIOR SECURED BOND

In 2019 the Group issued Senior secured bonds. The 
bonds	are	repayable	after	3	years.	The	Group	has	
pledged all material assets including, but not limited 
to, shares in subsidiaries, intra-group loan assign-
ments,	fixed	assets,	inventory,	account	receivables	
and bank accounts. 

The	loans	are	subject	to	covenant	restrictions	
and	the	most	important	being	the	ratio	of	net	debt	to	
EBITDA.

Reference is made to the group accounts note 16.
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NOTE 5  BALANCES WITH GROUP COMPANIES

NOK 1000   2020 2019

Accounts receivable Fibo AS   75 835 48 588
Receivable other group companies   4 734 6 922

Total    80 569 55 510

Interest rate on receivable from Fibo AS is 5 %.

Debt to Fibo AB   0 4 736

Total    0 4 736

NOTE 6  SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
The parent company Fibo Holding AS has its regis-
tered	offices	in	Karenslyst	Alle	53,	0279	Oslo.	The	
consolidated	accounts	for	Fibo	Holding	AS,	where	
Fibo Group AS are included, can be obtained by con-

tacting	Fibo	Holding	AS.	The	share	capital	of	NOK	32	
829	493	consists	of	298	449	933	shares	with	nominal	
value of NOK 0.12 each. The company has only one 
share class.

	 	 	 	 	 	 Number	of	shares	 Ownership

Shareholders 
Fibo Holding AS    298 449 933 100.0 %

Total amount of shares    298 449 933 100.0 %

NOTE 7  SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

NOK 1000  Share capital Share premium Retained earnings Total

Movement in equity 

Equity as at 31 December 2018  29 845 268 335 -20 093 278 087
Net	profit	after	tax	 	 	 	 -16	264	 -16	264
Share capital increase   2 984 2 765 -12 5 737

Equity as at 31 December 2019  32 829 271 100 -36 368 267 561
Net	profit	after	tax	 	 	 	 20	303	 20	303
Accumulated	losses	Swedish	Branch	 	 	 	 -11	 -11

Equity as at 31 December 2020  32 829 271 100 -16 076 287 853

NOTE 8  REVENUE
Revenue is management fees and other fees recharged 
to	group	companies.	NOKk	15	826	(2019:	NOKk	14	502)	
relates	to	Norway	and	NOKk	5	343	(2019:	NOKk	4	522)	
relates	to	subsidiaries	outside	Norway.

FIBO GROUP AS
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NOTE 9  TAXES

NOK 1000   2020 2019

Calculation of deferred tax/deferred tax benefit 
Temporary	differences	 	 	 4 793 8 239
Tax	losses	carried	forward		 			 		 -12 103 -41 579
Basis for deferred tax       -7 310 -33 340
Deferred tax asset (liability)   -1 608 -7 335

Deferred tax in the balance sheet      -1 608 -7 335
    

Basis for income tax expense, changes in deferred tax and tax payable
Net	profit	before	income	taxes			 		 		 26 030 -20 850
Basis for the tax expense for the year   26 030 -20 850
Change	in	temporary	differences	 	 	 3 446 -3 685
Utilisation	of	tax	loss	carryforward	 	 	 -29 476 0
Other changes   0 6

Basis for payable taxes in the income statement (tax loss carried forward)   0 -24 529

Taxable income (basis for payable taxes in the balance sheet)    0 0

Components of the income tax expense
Tax on this year’s result   5 727 -4 587
Effect	of	permanent	differences	 	 	 0 1

Tax expense       5 727 -4 586

NOTE 10  PAYROLL EXPENSES AND RELATED COSTS
The	company	had	4	full	time	employees	in	the	fiscal	year

NOK 1000   2020 2019

Payroll expenses 
Salaries/wages	 	 	 11 279 9 691
Social security fees   668 673
Pension expenses   235 219
Other	remuneration	 		 			 756 265

Total    12 938 10 848

No loans have been granted to the general manager, 
the	board	or	other	related	parties.	See	consolidated	
accounts	for	information	on	remuneration	to	the	
CEO. The company is required to have a pension 
plan,	and	the	company’s	plan	satisfies	these	legal	
requirements.

     2020 2019

Expensed audit fee (excluding VAT) 
Statutory audit   232 75
Tax advisory   0 25
Other services   81 0

Total audit fees   313 103
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NOTE 11  OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSE

NOK 1000   2020 2019

Other	financial	income		 	 	 379 310

Total other financial income    379 310

Fair value	adjustment	derivatives	 	 	 0 905
Amortization	loan	expenses	 	 	 3 416 6 523
Other	financial	expenses	 	 	 1 428 297

Total other financial expenses    4 844 7 725

NOTE 12  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOK 1000   2020 2019

Opening balance   1 552 3 215
Addition	at	cost	 			 		 508 373
Depreciation	during	the	year	 			 		 -1 142 -2 036

Net carrying amount as at 31 December   918 1 552

Intangible assets consists of IT systems and software.

FIBO GROUP AS
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the General Meeting of Fibo Group AS

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Fibo Group AS, which comprise:

• The financial statements of the parent company Fibo Group AS (the Company), which comprise 
the balance sheet as at 31 December 2020, the income statement and cash flow statement for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, and

• The consolidated financial statements of Fibo Group AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the income statement, 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion:

• The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations.

• The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Company as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and 
practices generally accepted in Norway.

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the EU.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and 
practices generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the 
Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information 
in the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Key Audit Matter 

Provision for customer bonus and market 
support 

The Group operates in the building materials 
sector where investors and suppliers focus on 
sales and volume. To achieve this, it is common 
to use various loyalty schemes.   

Agreements on customer bonuses and market 
support are prepared individually for each 
individual customer relation and contain various 
stipulations, including the time and method of 
settlement, affect the magnitude of the customer 
bonus and market support provision.  

We focus on the provision because an accurate 
calculation of the provisions on the balance sheet 
date may be complex due to the various stipula-
tions and the necessary number of assumptions 
can be technically demanding. In addition, the 
estimated total amount relating to customer 
bonuses and market support constitutes signifi-
cant amounts in the annual accounts.  

Reference is made to note 2.14 where manage-
ment explain the accounting of due customer 
bonuses. 

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

We discussed the principles for calculating and 
allocating customer bonuses and market support 
with management, and agreed with management 
that these are in line with accounting regula tions. 
We gained an understanding of the routine for 
calculations and the associated controls by inter-
viewing personnel who perform the cal cu lations. 
We tested that the control was implemented by 
examining whether the cal culation of customer 
bonuses and market support was prepared in 
accordance with the agreements at the given time.  

To test whether customer bonuses and market 
support was accurately calculated, we reviewed 
whether management calculation was in 
accord ance with the stipulations in customer 
agreements. By reading through the agreements, 
we have controlled whether the stipulations 
in the agreements are reflected in the bonus 
cal culations. The basis for the calculations was 
compared to invoiced sales per customer. Our 
inspections did not reveal material discrepancies.  

We considered whether the disclosures related 
to customer bonuses appropriately reflected the 
accounting principles and was in accordance 
with IFRS requirements. Stieng,Herm
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director 
for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (Management) are responsible for the preparation 
in accordance with law and regulations, including a true and fair view of the financial statements 
of the Company in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards 
and practices generally accepted in Norway, and for the preparation and true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the EU, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern. The financial statements of the Company use the going concern basis of accounting insofar 
as it is not likely that the enterprise will cease operations. The consolidated financial statements of 
the Group use the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's or the Group's internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company and the Group's ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves a true and fair view.

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the 
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report and in the statements on Corporate 
Governance and Corporate Social Responsibility concerning the financial statements and the going 
concern assumption is consistent with the financial statements and complies with the law and 
regulations. 

Opinion on Registration and Documentation

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have 
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements 
(ISAE) 3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 

Information, it is our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly 
set out registration and documentation of the Company’s accounting information in accordance with 
the law and bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

Oslo, 16 April 2021
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS

Jone Bauge
State Authorised Public Accountant
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Corporate Governance

BOARD OF DIREC TORS

The Board of Directors of the Company shall annually 
revise and oversee the overall strategy and business 
plan for the Company and approve the annual budget 
for the next year. The Board of Directors has decided 
not	to	establish	a	separate	audit	committee,	so	that	the	
entire	Board	of	Directors	shall	perform	the	tasks	of	the	
audit	committee	of	the	Company.	

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors:

• Decide on general business and management  
principles of the Company.

• Decide on strategy and risk policies of the Company.

• Supervise the performance of the Company, the 
Executive	Management	and	secure	the	proper	 
organization	of	the	Company.

•	 Review	the	Company’s	financial	position,	capital	
resources	and	reporting	on	financials	and	perfor-
mance.

• Appoint the CEO.

The	Board	of	Directors	will	convene	at	least	six	times	
per year.

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

The	Executive	Management	is	responsible	for	the	
Company’s day-to-day management of the Company in 
accordance	with	the	instructions	provided	by	the	Board	
of	Directors,	among	others	comprising:

•	 Manage	the	Company’s	business	and	operations	 
and develop strategies to be approved by the  
Board of Directors.

• Implement the strategy for the Company and  
execute on investments and divestments.

•	 Develop	the	organizational	structure	of	the	 
Company and allocate resources.

• Drive and monitor the performance of the Company.

•	 Prepare	internal	and	external	financial	reporting.

• Establish internal policies and procedures for rele-
vant	topics,	such	as	finance,	IT	etc.

• Oversee risk management and internal control.

• Report to the Board of Directors.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND  
INTERNAL CONTROL

The	framework	for	the	internal	control	and	risk	man-
agement	of	the	Company	is	structured	with	the	aim	to	
allow	the	business	to	be	run	in	a	way	that	is	healthy,	
proper	and	consistent	with	the	following	objectives:

(i)	Internal	control:	to	assure	that	all	company	policies	
and standards are up to date, communicated and 
implemented.

(ii)	Risk	management:	to	identify	and	manage	essential	
risks	related	to	the	execution	of	the	Company’s	strategy	
and	operations,	and	to	demonstrate	that	the	Company	
actively	manages	risks	in	order	to	deliver	the	best	
possible service to customers, protect the value of the 
business, safeguard future earnings and reduce costs 
associated	with	risk	events.

The responsibility for the quality and appropriate-
ness of the Company’s internal control and risk man-
agement	rests	with	the	Board	of	Directors,	while	the	
Executive	Management	is	responsible	for	identifying	
and	analyzing	material	risks,	and	for	the	general	devel-
opment	of	the	system.	The	Executive	Management	
shall	further	provide	the	Board	of	Directors	with	reports	
on	exposures	and	the	utilization	of	the	framework	on	a	
continuous	basis.

The Company’s corporate governance is based on the Company’s Articles of 
Association and the Company’s values as resolved by the Board of Directors with 
the aim to realize the Company’s long-term goals, and to ensure progress and 
control. Through sound corporate governance, the Company aims to build trust 
and ensure sustainable operation and financing of its business.

Stieng,Herm
an

05/19/2022 13:54:04



58   FIBO  Annual Report 2020

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)

Outbound	logistics	from	the	production	facility	in	
Lyngdal to customers across the Nordics, UK and 
Northern Europe also carry certain adverse envi-
ronmental	effects.	From	a	social	perspective,	Fibo’s	
impact	stretches	from	labor	conditions	and	human	
rights	across	the	company’s	global	supply	chain	(with	
suppliers	in	Asia,	Latin	America	and	Europe),	to	job	
creation	and	local	community	engagement	as	a	key	
local	employer	in	Lyngdal,	Norway.	The	global	supply	
chain	also	puts	requirements	on	supplier	evaluation	
and	selection	as	well	as	material	certification.	Other	
governance	aspect	involve	sanctioned	countries	and	
anti-corruption	and	integrity	across	suppliers	and	
customers. 

ESG RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES 

Fibo’s most material ESG risks are linked to the compa-
nys	supply	chain	and	production.	

The risks related to the supply chain include sourc-
ing	of	wood,	plywood	production,	as	well	as	integrity	
and	anti-corruption.	Fibo	evaluate	and	select	suppliers,	
as	well	as	to	train	selected	suppliers	on	important	
ESG	issues.	Fibo	also	holds	the	PEFC	certification	
(Program	for	the	Endorsement	of	Forest	Certification	
- i.e. sustainable forest management) since 2012. ESG 
risks	related	to	climate	in	production	are	related	to	
energy	consumption	and	waste	handling,	the	company	
therefore	sets	and	thrive	to	meet	specific	target	goals	
for	these.	Furthermore,	as	the	final	product	is	Fibo’s	key	
asset; The product safety and quality is of paramount 
importance. As Fibo’s customers and end-users are 
becoming	more	aware	of	ESG	issues	such	as	Life	Cycle	
Assessment (LCA), the company has an opportunity to 
strengthen	its	differentiation	vs.	traditional	wet	room	
wall	covering	providers	through	credible	and	contin-

uous	ESG	efforts	such	as	reducing	waste	and	energy	
consumption	and	improving	official	communication	of	
how	Fibo	contributes	on	certain	ESG	issues.	In	addition,	
there	is	the	ESG	risk	of	stricter	regulations	in	the	future,	
where	the	company	has	the	opportunity	to	target	new	
markets	with	more	demanding	conditions.	

In the short term Fibo uses the opportunity to 
promote the company’s presence in environmental 
certification	/approval	(PEFC)	systems	to	show	that	the	
product meets already strict requirements. 

On	the	production	side,	the	safety	&	health	of	
Fibo’s	employees	at	the	production	facility	is	of	high	
priority.	The	continuous	focus	on	improving	internal	
working	conditions	and	employee	satisfaction,	com-
bined	with	good	cooperation	with	the	workers’	union,	
enables	Fibo	to	retain	motivated	employees	with	the	
right competence.

The	climate	exposure	risk	and	opportunities	are	
identified	through	a	TCFD	(Task	Force	on	Climate	
Related Financial Disclosures) method, the risks are 
assessed	in	strategic	meetings	and	relevant	issues	are	
managed	by	the	Production,	Logistics,	Purchase,	Sales	
&	Marketing	departments.

ESG impacts through the value chain. The most significant environmental 
impacts in Fibo’s value chain, relate to lumbering and production of plywood as 
well as pollution, energy usage and waste in the company’s production facility. 
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Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)

RAW MATERIAL SUPPLY

•  Wood sourcing (material  
certificates)

•		 Labor	conditions	and	human	rights
•  Health and safety
•  Industrial chemical handling  

and treatment
•  Climate impact in the supply chain
•		 Sanctioned	countries

PRODUCTION OF PANELS

•		 Labor	conditions	and	human	rights
•  Health and safety
•		Resource	efficiency	and	waste	

management
•		Energy	efficiency
•		Chemical	use	and	pollution
•  Sustainable packaging
•  Sustainable and circular design

MANAGEMENT & MARKETING

•		Anti-Corruption	and	integrity
•		Attracting	and	retaining	employees	
•  Local community engagement  

and	job	creation
•  Diversity
•  ESG supplier management  

(including audits)

STORES AND END-USE

•		 Sustainable	market	positioning	
•  Product quality and safety
•		More	environmentally	friendly	

packaging
•  Product longevity
•		Product	labeling	and	certification
•  Climate impact of shipping  

and delivery

•  Chemical use and  
pollution	from	production

•  Product take-back,  
recycling and reuse

•  Diversity
•  Health and safety  

in supply chain
•  Sanctioned	countries

•  Industrial chemical  
handling and treatment

•  Sustainable packaging

•		Chemical	use	and	pollution
•  Local community engagement 

and	job	creation
•  Product labeling and  

certification

•		 Labor	conditions	and	human	
rights in supply chain and 
production

•  Attracting	and	retaining	 
employees

•  Energy	efficiency	in	production
•  Climate impact of shipping 

and delivery

•  Climate impact in the  
supply chain

•  Product quality and safety
•  Wood sourcing (material 

certificates)
•  Health and safety in  

production

•		Anti-corruption	and	integrity
•  Product longevity
•  ESG supplier management 

including audits
•  Sustainable market  

positioning	
•  Sustainable and  

circular design

•		Resource	efficiency	and	 
waste	management

IMPORTANCE TO COMPANY
Important Material

IMPORTANCE TO 
STAKEHOLDERS

Important

Material
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Satisfied employees that are 
passionate for Fibo 

Practical, durable and  
decorative quality panels 

Customer NPS

%
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EFFORTS 2020 

The customers are the most important stakeholders 
for	Fibo	and	as	a	FSN	Capital	portfolio	company,	
increased	efforts	have	been	made	to	deepen	the	
understanding of their needs through customer 
satisfaction	surveys	and	market	research.	In	2020	
the	Sales	&	Marketing	department	has	started	up	a	
project	for	Inbound	Marketing	(+implement	technical	
platform)	to	define	and	optimize	the	customer	
journeys	and	develop	content	for	the	different	target	
groups.	The	2020	customer	survey	showed	that	the	
customers	are	very	positive	regarding	the	product	
quality	and	diversity	as	well	as	service.	The	custom-
ers	said	that	increased	marketing	from	Fibo	would	
increase sales. 

AMBITIONS 2021 

Fibo	aims	at	continuously	improving	it’s	ability	to	
serve	it’s	customers	needs.	Actions	is	taken	based	on	
the	Strategic	action	plans	and	customer	plans.	Con-
tinue	to	increase	marketing	from	Fibo	(mainly	digital)	
as	customer	feedback	shows	that	this	will	increase	
their sales.

EFFORTS 2020 

Fibo	has	made	efforts	to	create	a	“one	firm”	culture	
that capsules all employees across our geographies. 
Furthermore,	HSE	and	working	conditions	are	key	
parts of lean daily management in the factory. During 
2020 Fibo has taken measures to reduce noise in 
the	factory	as	part	of	our	HSE	focus.	In	order	to	find	
improvement	areas,	continuous	input	from	employ-
ees	is	systematically	collected	through	e.g.	employee	
surveys. 

AMBITIONS 2021 

Fibo	makes	continues	efforts	to	raise	employee	satis-
faction	through	focus	on	Leadership,	HSE,	corporate	
culture and a clear vision. Fibo aims at developing 
employee	competence	in	order	to	improve	flexibility.
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Resource efficiency 

Energy usage
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Waste management 
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EFFORTS 2020 

In	December	2015,	Fibo	started	a	project	to	expand	
the capacity of the current factory. On top of enabling 
growth,	the	investment	is	expected	to	reduce	the	
amount of energy used to produce one m2 of panel 
significantly.	Fibo	has	optimized	the	use	of	the	
heating	boiler	and	heat	recovery	resulting	in	reduced	
green house gases. 

AMBITIONS 2021 

Fibo	targets	continued	reductions	in	its	energy	
consumption,	as	efficiency	gains	from	the	upgraded	
production	line	are	continuously	being	extracted.

 17 18 19 20 Target 21  17 18 19 20 Target 21

EFFORTS 2020 

During	2020,	Fibo	intensified	its	efforts	to	reduce	
waste	in	production.	Several	project	teams	work	in	a	
structured	way	to	identify	improvement	opportunities	
through	e.g.	material	selection,	temperature	control	
and	humidity	adjustments.	Fibo	also	ran	a	Circular	
Economy	project	for	identifying	possible	customer	of	
waste	from	production	and	a	report	on	emission	from	
own	boiler.	

AMBITIONS 2021 

On	the	basis	of	persistent	efforts	to	optimize	
production,	Fibo	aims	at	continuing	the	trend	of	
reduced	production	waste	during	2021.

Other ESG related initiatives

The	factory	is	in	the	process	of	implementing	a	high	
level	of	automation	and	digitalization	delivering	
improved evidence-based data for process and quality 
improvements,	reducing	waste	from	product	defects.	

Fibo	has	a	strong	culture	for	continuous	improvement	
based on Lean principles and ISO 9001. Fibo has been 
appointed	the	“Lean	company	of	the	year”	in	Norway	
at three occasions. 

In order to improve environmental sustainability, Fibo 
is	in	the	process	of	being	ISO	14001	certified	during	
2021.	Fibo	has	achieved	a	50	%	reduction	in	the	use	of	
plastic	since	2018,	which	is	an	example	of	the	contin-
ued focus on reducing our environmental impact. 

Employee development has a high priority. This 
is	partly	achieved	through	a	practice	where	we	
encourage	and	reward	operators	to	acquire	com-
petence	which	in	turn	leads	to	increased	flexibility.	
Fibo	has	received	multiple	rewards	regarding	best	
work	environment,	great	competence	development	
and	good	citizen	awards.
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Alternative Performance Meassures (APM)

Net Sales 
Corresponds to the term “Revenue” 
and “Total Revenue.”

Gross Margin 
Total revenue minus Raw Materials 
and consumables used, divided on 
Total Revenue.

EBITDA
Earnings before interest, tax, depreci-
ations and amortization. 

Gross Debt 
Interest bearing debt (excluding 
pensions and leasing debts).

Net Debt
Interest bearing debt (excluding pen-
sion and leasing debts) minus cash 
and cash equivalents.
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Design	and	production:	kingdesign.no	

Photo credits page 59
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Alternative Performance Meassures (APM)
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For	more	information	please	contact
 
Per Richard Olsen
pol@fibosystem.com 
fiboinvestor.com

Fibo Group AS
Karenslyst Allé 53 
0279 Oslo 
Norway
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To the General Meeting of Fibo Group AS 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Fibo Group AS, which comprise: 

• The financial statements of the parent company Fibo Group AS (the Company), which 
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2020, the income statement and cash flow 
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies, and 

• The consolidated financial statements of Fibo Group AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the income 
statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow 
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations. 

• The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Company as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards 
and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the 
Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
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accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter 

Provision for customer bonus and 
market support 

The Group operates in the building 
materials sector where investors and 
suppliers focus on sales and volume.  To 
achieve this, it is common to use various 
loyalty schemes.   

Agreements on customer bonuses and 
market support are prepared individually 
for each individual customer relation and 
contain various stipulations, including 
the time and method of settlement, affect 
the magnitude of the customer bonus and 
market support provision.  

We focus on the provision because an 
accurate calculation of the provisions on 
the balance sheet date may be complex 
due to the various stipulations and the 
necessary number of assumptions can be 
technically demanding. In addition, the 
estimated total amount relating to 
customer bonuses and market support 
constitutes significant amounts in the 
annual accounts.  

Reference is made to note 2.14 where 
management explain the accounting of 
due customer bonuses.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We discussed the principles for calculating and 
allocating customer bonuses and market support with 
management, and agreed with management that these 
are in line with accounting regulations. We gained an 
understanding of the routine for calculations and the 
associated controls by interviewing personnel who 
perform the calculations. We tested that the control 
was implemented by examining whether the calculation 
of customer bonuses and market support was prepared 
in accordance with the agreements at the given time.  

To test whether customer bonuses and market support 
was accurately calculated, we reviewed whether 
management calculation was in accordance with the 
stipulations in customer agreements. By reading 
through the agreements, we have controlled whether 
the stipulations in the agreements are reflected in the 
bonus calculations. The basis for the calculations was 
compared to invoiced sales per customer. Our 
inspections did not reveal material discrepancies.  

We considered whether the disclosures related to 
customer bonuses appropriately reflected the 
accounting principles and was in accordance with IFRS 
requirements.  
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Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in 
the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the 
Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (Management) are responsible for the preparation 
in accordance with law and regulations, including a true and fair view of the financial statements of the 
Company in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, and for the preparation and true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern. The financial statements of the Company use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as 
it is not likely that the enterprise will cease operations. The consolidated financial statements of the 
Group use the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
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• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's or the Group's internal control. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company and the Group's ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves a true and fair view. 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report 

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the 
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report and in the statements on Corporate 
Governance and Corporate Social Responsibility concerning the financial statements and the going 
concern assumption is consistent with the financial statements and complies with the law and 
regulations. 

Opinion on Registration and Documentation 

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have 
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements 
(ISAE) 3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information, it is our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly 
set out registration and documentation of the Company’s accounting information in accordance with 
the law and bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

 
 
Oslo, 16 April 2021 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS 
 
 
 
Jone Bauge 
State Authorised Public Accountant 
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This is Fibo Group

Direct sales

International sales

Production  
(Lyngdal, Norway)

Fibo Group main markets

Headquarters  
(Oslo, Norway)

Geographical revenue distribution

UK              16 %

Sw
eden              8 %

   16 %

Other export 

markets

60
 %

      
      

 Norw
ay

       

Revenue per product

Accessories & other             14 %

Countertops              5 %

Backsplash          
    4 %

Wall p
anels   

       
    7

7 %      

Number of employees 140 

Number of legal units  7

Number of markets  4
where Fibo is established

Fibo Group is the global leader offering a waterproof and premium 
quality solution for wet room walls pioneered through 70 years legacy 
of continuous development.

The cost-efficient solution is built in a quick and easy 
installation process and is sold throughout Europe as 
well as North America and Oceania representing an 
eco-friendly alternative to other materials. The 
solution, with its highly attractive assortment of 
designs, is well-suited across multiple use cases and 
caters to a versatile range of end markets including 

renovation and/or construction of residential, 
commercial and public properties. With basis in an 
automated and digitalized production facility in 
Lyngdal, Norway with ample room to increase 
production volumes, the Company is ready to meet 
increasing demand fueled by strong secular trends 
promoting cost-efficient and eco-friendly solutions.

Net sales 2021

Revenue 2021
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DOMESTIC
Growth   

INTERNATIONAL
Growth

REVENUE
NOKm

REVENUE
Growth 

Highlights

Despite challenging markets during the Covid-19 pandemic,  
the Fibo Group has grown both domestically and internationally. 

NOKm / %     2021 2020

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 

Total Revenue  725 653
Revenue Growth % 11 6
Revenue Norway  435 433
Revenue Growth % 1 6
Revenue International  289 220
Revenue Growth % 31 7
Raw Materials and Consumables Used  361 347
Gross Margin % 50 47
Salary, personell cost and other operationg expenses  259 220
In % of Total Revenue % 36 34
Total operating cost exl. D&A  620 567
In % of Total Revenue % 86 87
Net Profit (loss) before gains and losses, financial items and D&A  105 87
In % of Total Revenue % 14 13
  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCIAL POSITION  

Total Assets  825 797
Total Current non-interest bearing Liabilities  134 134
Total Liabilities  495 496
Total Current Liabilities Ratio % 27 27
Equity  329 301
Equity Ratio % 40 38
Gross Debt (note 16)  250 250
Cash and Cash equivalents  113 85
Net Debt  137 165
Net Debt/Equity Ratio  0.4 0.5
Earnings per Share  0.101 0.051

725

Key figures

11%+

++1% 31%

The combination of design, environmental impact 
and quality are deciding factors for the customer’s 
preference of Fibo solutions. Innovation and product 
development are continuous and prioritized endeavors 
and several new product designs have been launched. 
Efforts to digitalize and improve the production process 
have continued. 

A growing international revenue and positive 
feedback from customers has confirmed the significant 
potential for accelerated international growth, and 
the Group’s investment in the sales and marketing 
organization outside Norway has continued. Also the 
domestic market developed positively during the year, 
leaving Fibo in a better financial position at year-end as 
highlighted in selected key figures below. 



Highlights
The Marcato collection comes 
in a variety of colours, surfaces 
and tile sizes, creating a striking, 
modern effect.

The Crescendo three-dimensional 
wall panel gives a vibrant and 
natural impression.

A very versatile collection, 
Fortissimo comes in everything 
from glossy flower patterns to 
tree structure in the surface.

Use Adagio to create a feeling of 
Italy or Greece with an exciting 
collection of structures without 
a floral pattern. 

Legato consists of smooth wall 
panels without a tile pattern. The 
colours are light, giving the room 
a modern impression.

For interior designers, architects 
and creative souls, we have the 
Colour collection. 

5
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1952
The birth of Fibo headquartered in Oslo, Norway. 
Fibo was established, originally developing painted 
panels used in shipbuilding

1960s 
Fibo introduces wall panels for residential and  
commercial building and construction.

1987 
Acquired by Norske Skog.

1990s 
Fibo develop and launched a new click-joint system 
for laminated waterproof wall panel systems.

2000 
Acquired by Byggma after being demerged from 
Norske Skog.

2007 
New stand-alone production facility in Lyngdal.

2008 – 2009 
10 % growth through the financial crisis and  
European expansion.

2010, 2013 and 2015 
Appointed the Lean Company Award in Norway 
(“Årets Lean bedrift”).

2015 
Acquired by FSN Capital IV and management (carved 
out from Byggma Group).

2016 – 2017 
Expansion and modification of the Lyngdal  
facility (NOKm 140).

2017 – 2018 
Invested in sales and marketing organisation  
to facilitate for international expansion.

2019 
Delivered wet room wall panels corresponding  
to ~95 000 bathrooms p.a.

2020-2021 
Growing through the Covid-19 pandemic.

The Fibo story

Fibo started out quite modestly as a small factory for wall panels from 
Norwegian wood. It became our mission to develop walls which make wet room 
challenges easy. Today, Fibo is a leading supplier of high-quality, waterproof 
wall systems. Our wall panels are much easier to install, more affordable 
and more eco-friendly than ceramic tiles. Over the latter years the group has 
also completed substantial investments in both assets and operations, which 
provides a sound platform for the future.



Fibo’s mission is to make wet room challenges easy. 
Our systems are inherently waterproof, eliminating 
the need for a separate membrane layer.

AN ENVIRONMENTALLY FRIENDLY ALTERNATIVE TO CERAMIC TILES
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Fibo wall panels are 100 % waterproof, durable, 
easy to install and can be seen in numerous high 
profile buildings around the globe.

WE MAKE SYSTEMS FOR KITCHENS, BATHS AND OTHER WET ROOMS

8   FIBO  Annual Report 2021



Fibo’s system mounts directly onto wood  
or metal studs, existing walls or over ceramic 
tiles. The Fibo Aqualock system minimizes 
the joints; no need for water vapor barrier or 
waterproof membranes.

SIMPLIFYING INSTALLATION AND REDUCING LABOR COSTS

9



We carefully select suppliers that comply 
with strict recycling requirements, and our 
eco-friendly wall systems are made from 
PEFC-certified wood. 

COMMITTED TO PRODUCING SUSTAINABLE ECO-FRIENDLY PRODUCTS
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BASED IN LYNGDAL IN NORWAY, BUT SERVING A GLOBAL MARKET

Fibo Group works with both residential and commercial 
customers. Fibo has been on the market for over 60 years: 
over 1 million installations in total and more than  
2 million square meters produced and sold annually.

11
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Board of directors’ and CEO’s report 

THE YEAR IN BRIEF

As part of the Group’s internationalization strategy, 
investment in the sales and marketing organization 
outside Norway has continued. The results from these 
efforts are considered to be satisfactory, with a com-
bined growth rate of 31% for international sales in 2021. 
Based on feedback from customers in new geographical 
markets, there is significant potential for accelerated 
international growth in the years to come. Total sales 
growth, including domestic sales, ended at 11% for 2021.

To support growth in both domestic and interna-
tional markets, innovation and product development 
are continuous, and prioritized endeavors. During 
2021, new product designs have been launched, with 
very positive feedback from customers. In addition to 
new designs, several other initiatives are ongoing with 
the aim of strengthening the Group’s product offering 
through improved technical performance and reduced 
installation complexity.

Throughout the year, the Group has worked to 
strengthen its processes within different business areas. 
To meet the customers’ needs and requirements in 
the best possible way, the Group’s value proposition 
towards professionals and consumers has been further 
developed. Furthermore, the Group continues to invest 
in digital channels with relevant content, to create an 
appealing customer experience online. In a recently 
conducted customer survey, there is progress on most 
parameters and the Net Promoter Scores (NPS) is fur-
ther improved from last survey, indicating these efforts 
are yielding good results.

During the last five years, a comprehensive invest-
ment program has been completed with the purpose of 
securing operational targets and stable and cost-effi-
cient production for the future. To further accelerate 
efficiency, the Group is in the process of conducting a 
digitalization program. The purpose of this is to develop 
an integrated production environment with a higher 
automation level and extensive data analysis, as a basis 
for adopting AI and machine learning.  

The Norwegian currency has continued to 
strengthen through the year. Combined with the contin-
ued focus on internal efficiency measures, this has had a 
positive impact on the gross margin. 

Although the financial performance has continued 
to strengthen during the period, the Group has suffered 
a negative impact from the COVID-19 pandemic, mainly 
through reduced revenue from UK activities in the 
beginning of the period due to lockdowns

GOING CONCERN

In accordance with the Accounting Act § 3-3a, we con-
firm that the financial statements have been prepared 
under the assumption of going concern. This assump-
tion is based on profit forecasts for the years 2022-2026 
and the Group’s long-term strategic forecasts. The 
Group’s economic and financial position is sound.

COMMENTS REL ATED TO  
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue reached NOKm 724.5 in 2021 compared to 
NOKm 653.1 in 2020, representing a revenue growth of 
11%. Revenue from export markets increased by 31% 
during the year, while domestic sales increased by 1%. 

Net profit before gains and losses and financial 
items improved by 20% compared to 2020. This is mainly 
due to the significant revenue growth, paired with an 
improved gross margin, as well as low operating costs. 

Net profit before financial items improved by NOKm 
16.2 or 25% vs. last year. 

Net finance ended at NOKm -41.6 compared to 
NOKm -44.6 in 2020. 

Net profit after tax improved by almost 100%, to a 
profit of NOKm 30.1 (NOKm 15,2 in 2020).

Net cash flow from operating activities decreased 
from NOKm 109.8 in 2020 to NOKm 73.3, mainly due 
to working capital changes. The NOKm 5.1 negative net 
cash flow from investing activities refers to maintenance 
capital expenditure in production and business support 
systems. Net cash flow from financing activities was 
NOKm -43.3, compared to NOKm -43.6 in 2020. The 
liquidity reserve as of year-end improved to NOKm 113, 
compared to NOKm 85.4 in 2020. 

Considering the liquidity reserves, the financial 
position is sound and adequate. Total assets at year-end 
amounted to NOKm 824.7 vs. NOKm 797.0 in 2020. The 
equity ratio increased to 40% as of 31.12.2021 vs. 37.8% 
in 2020.

Fibo Group AS (the company) and its subsidiaries (together, the Group) develop 
and manufacture waterproof wall panel solutions, countertops and other 
laminated products which are marketed and sold under the Fibo brand name. 
The main customers are builder’s merchants, house builders and distributors. 
The Group’s headquarters are in Oslo, with production facilities located in 
Lyngdal, Norway. In addition to the country-wide sales organization in Norway, 
export sales offices are located in Sweden, Finland, United Kingdom and the USA. 
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For Fibo Group AS, revenue in 2021 was NOKm 
29.1 compared to NOKm 21.2 in 2020, while Net profit 
after tax dropped to a loss of NOKm 1.6 compared to a 
profit of NOKm 20.3 in the previous year.  The liquidity 
reserve as of year-end 2021 increased significantly to 
NOKm 28.9 compared to NOKm 1.9 in 2020, due to 
received group contribution from its subsidiary Fibo AS. 
The financial position is sound. Total assets at year-end 
amounted to NOKm 542.2 vs. NOKm 539.1 in 2020. The 
equity ratio at year-end is 52.8% vs. 53.4% in 2020.

FINANCIAL RISK 

The Group is exposed to financial risk in different areas, 
in particular exchange rate risk, and initiatives to reduce 
the financial risk are considered on a continuous basis. 

The Group has extended the Directors & Officers 
insurance with CXL Insurance Company SE, placed by 
AON Norway, with a NOKm 75 limit of liability.

Market risk

The Group has operations in Norway, Sweden, Finland 
and the UK. Net income from these operations is pre-
sented in NOK and thus affected by changes in exchange 
rates. The operating entities’ day-to-day business is 
carried out in their local currency, while inter-company 
purchases of goods are carried out in the entity’s local 
currency denomination.

A dominating part of raw materials are purchased 
from suppliers denominated in EUR, USD and SEK. 
These currency cash flows are partially balanced by 
cash flows from international sales. The group has from 
time to time entered into currency derivatives to reduce 
cash flow impact caused by currency fluctuations. In 
such cases, derivatives are recognized at fair value in the 
balance sheet.    

During the period, the Group has not made any 
set-off or other derivative agreements to reduce the 
market risk.

Credit risk

Following factoring agreements established prior to 
Covid-19, losses on receivables have been insignificant. 
Gross credit risk exposure per 31.12.21 is NOKm 55.2 
(NOKm 33.5 in 2020). The above figures do not include 
inter-company receivables.

The Group has not made any set-off or other deriva-
tive agreements to reduce the credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s liquidity is considered satisfactory and free 
available cash secures sufficient liquidity to meet opera-
tional needs and financing of investments. 

The Group has not made any set-off or other deriva-
tive agreements to reduce the liquidity risk.

WORKING ENVIRONMENT  
AND EMPLOYEES

Leave of absence due to illness in 2021 was in average 
1.8 % for short-term and 3,2 % for long-term (1.3% and 
3.4% in 2020). 

The Group had one work-related accidents with 
personal injuries in 2021 (7 in 2020). Action has been 
taken to avoid and minimize the risk of future accidents.  

The working environment is considered to be good, 
and improvement efforts are made on an ongoing basis. 
The results from these efforts are confirmed by strong 
results in the employee survey conducted for 2022 with 
a Net Promoter Score (NPS) of 50% (on a scale from 0 to 
100 %). 

Cooperation with employee trade unions has been 
constructive and contributed positively to operations. 
The Board wishes to thank the employees for their 
positive contribution during 2021.

CODE OF CONDUC T

The Group has implemented a Code of Conduct, includ-
ing Ethical guidelines, Environmental and Corporate 
Social Responsibility and Reporting procedures.

EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES

The Group aims to be a workplace with equal opportu-
nities, and encourages women to apply for open posi-
tions in the Group. The number of man-years employed 
during 2021 was 140, of which 25% were women, 
further elaborated in the annual report of the Group’s 
Norwegian subsidiary Fibo AS. 

DISCRIMINATION

The Discrimination Act’s objective is to promote gender 
equality, ensure equal opportunities and rights, and 
to prevent discrimination due to ethnicity, national 
origin, descent, skin color, language, religion, and faith. 
The Group is working actively to encourage the act’s 
purpose within our business, further elaborated in the 
annual report of the Group’s Norwegian subsidiary 
Fibo AS. 
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group’s operations are not regulated by licenses or 
impositions. Waste from production facilities is not con-
sidered harmful to the environment. Most of the waste 
from production is recycled and used in the production 
of biofuels. 

Raw materials used in production meet the 
requirements of a PEFC certification. The completed 
investments in production facilities will have a positive 
environmental impact through a significant reduction in 
power consumption.  

OUTLOOK 

Although the Norwegian building material market has 
suffered a set-back during the second half of 2021, mar-
ket expectations for 2022 are fairly good. For Norway, 
the Group’s largest market, growth is expected to be 
moderate, despite a continued decline in the building of 
new residential homes. 

Despite the Group’s strong market share in certain 
markets for wet-room wall panels, the relative market 
share when including tiles, wallpaper and paint is 
comparatively low. Given the advantages of the Group’s 
products compared to competitors and substitutes, 
including the environmental footprint, the potential for 
continued growth from increased market penetration is 
therefore positive. 

The Group’s investments in markets outside of Nor-
way are expected to contribute significantly to growth in 
coming years, and the introduction into the British mar-
ket is already demonstrating strong traction. Assuming 
the re-opening and normalization of the market in the 
United Kingdom to continue, it is expected this potential 
will further materialize during the next year.

Due to the situation in Ukraine and the sanctions 
towards Russia, Fibo is monitoring its suppliers and 
customers to ensure that Fibo has no ongoing 
relationship with sanctioned parties. As a consequence 
all of Fibos sourcing has changed plywood suppliers 
located outside Russia.

The continued strengthening of the Norwegian 
currency is expected to have a positive impact on prices 
of raw materials from non-domestic suppliers. 

The Board emphasizes the general uncertainty 
related to future market development and all state-
ments related to the future are based on the best 
current knowledge.

Oslo, 27 April 2022 
The Board of Directors of Fibo Group AS

Lars Patrik Nolåker 
Chairman of the board

Åsa Söderström Winberg 
Board member

Tanya Pedersen 
Board member

Eirik Hjeltnes Wabø 
Board member 

Eskil Gunderson Koffeld
Board member

Torbjørn D. Kvinnesland 
Board member 

Anders Carlson 
CEO/President
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Consolidated income statement

NOK 1000   Note  2021 2020

Revenue   6  724 518 653 148

Total revenue     724 518 653 148

Raw materials and consumables used     361 437 346 563
Salary and personnel costs   7,23  115 582 98 854
Depreciation and amortization   13,14  26 963 27 983
Other operating expenses   8,22  142 985 121 190

Total operating costs     646 967 594 590

Net profit (loss) before gains and losses and financial items    77 552 58 558

Other gains and (losses) net   10  2 630 5 408

Net profit (loss) before financial items     80 182 63 966
Finance income    10  188 116
Finance expense    10  -41 781 -44 716

Net finance     -41 593 -44 600

Net profit (loss)     38 589 19 366
Income tax expense   11  8 447 4 131

Net profit (loss) after tax     30 142 15 235

Attributable to:   
Equity holders of the parent     30 142 15 235
Earnings per share, ordinary and diluted      0.101   0.051 

NOK 1000   Note  2021 2020

Net profit (loss) after tax      30 142 15 235

Other comprehensive income 
Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit and loss
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit pension plans   23  – 422
Tax related to items which will not be reclassified   11  – -105

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit and loss  
in subsequent periods 
Exchange differences      -507 1 310

Net other comprehensive income      -507 1 627

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year      29 635 16 862

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent      29 635 16 862

Consolidated statement  
of comprehensive income
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Consolidated statement of financial position

NOK 1000   Note  2021 2020

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Plant, machinery and equipment   13  82 299 92 540
Intangible assets   14,15  411 795 416 535
Right-of-use asset   22  72 706 79 313
Other non-current assets    44 714

Total non-current assets   566 844 589 102

Current assets    
Inventories    17  83 176 80 375
Accounts receivable    16,18  54 267 32 171
Receivables from parent company   1 000 2 000
Other current assets    19  6 463 7 950
Cash and cash equivalents    20  112 967 85 362

Total current assets   257 873 207 858

Total assets   824 717 796 961

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
Paid in capital
Share capital    21  32 829 32 829
Share premium account   21  271 100 271 101

Total paid in capital   303 930 303 930

Other equity 
Retained earnings   25 304 -2 771

Total other equity   25 304 -2 771

Total equity   329 233 301 159

Non-current liabilities
Pension obligation   – 699
Deferred tax liabilities   11  37 885 38 154
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings, non-current  16  – 245 183
Leasing liabilities, non-current   22  74 245 78 128

Total non-current liabilities   112 129 362 164

Current liabilities    
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings, current   16  249 037 –
Leasing liabilities, current   22  12 116 12 025
Accounts payable and other current liabilities    16,24  113 851 121 613
Current income taxes payable   11  8 351 –

Total current liabilities    383 354 133 637

Total liabilities   495 483 495 801

Total equity and liabilities   824 717 796 961

CONSOLIDATED

Oslo, 27 April 2022 
The Board of Directors of Fibo Group AS

Lars Patrik Nolåker 
Chairman of the board

Åsa Söderström Winberg 
Board member

Tanya Pedersen 
Board member

Eirik Hjeltnes Wabø 
Board member 

Eskil Gunderson Koffeld
Board member

Torbjørn D. Kvinnesland 
Board member 

Anders Carlson 
CEO/President
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Statement of changes in equity

   Attributable to parent company equity holders

    Paid in   Other equity

       Accumulated
   Share Share Translation Actuar gains profits
NOK 1000 capital premium reserves and losses  and losses Total equity

EQUITY AS AT 01.01.2020 32 829 271 101 -411 -4 351 -14 871 284 297
Total comprehensive income      
Net profit for the period     15 235 15 235
Other comprehensive income net of tax   1 310 317  1 627

Total comprehensive income – – 1 310 317 15 235 16 862

EQUITY AS AT 31.12.2020 32 829 271 101 899 -4 034 364 301 159

Total comprehensive income      
Net profit for the period     30 142 30 142
Other comprehensive income net of tax   -507 4 034 -4 034 -507

Total comprehensive income – – -507 4 034 26 108 29 635 
Transactions with owners of the company 
Group contribution to parent entity     -1 560 -1 560

Total transactions with owners of the company – – – – -1 560 -1 560

EQUITY AS AT 31.12.2021 32 829 271 101 392 – 24 912 329 234
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Consolidated cash flow statement

NOK 1000   Note  2021 2020

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net profit before tax   38 589 19 366
Adjustments for:
— Pensions paid in excess of expense   – -1 096
— Income taxes paid  11 -365 -936
— Depreciation and amortization  13,14,22 26 963 27 983
— Net finance and other gains and losses   38 963 39 192
Changes in working capital  25 -30 870 25 298

Net cash flow from operating activities   73 280 109 807

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant, equipment and intangibles  13,14 -5 304 -4 343
Other non-current assets   – -3 093
Interest received   188 116

Net cash flow used in investing activities   -5 116 -7 320

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments of lease liabilities   -12 025 -11 935
Interest and other financial expenses paid   -29 286 -31 657
Group contribution paid to owner    -2 000 –

Net cash flow from financing activities   -43 311 -43 592

Net currency translation effect on bank accounts   2 752 -226

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   24 853 58 895

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   85 362 26 693

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  20 112 967 85 362

CONSOLIDATED
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Notes to the consolidated accounts

NOTE 1  CORPORATE INFORMATION
The consolidated financial statements (‘the State- 
ments’) of Fibo Group AS (‘the Company’) and its 
sub sidiaries (‘the Group’) for the year ended 31 
December 2021 were authorized for issue by the 
board of directors in their meeting on 27 April 2022. 
The Group’s shareholders have the power to amend 
and reissue the Statements.

The company is a limited liability company, 
incorporated in Norway, with corporate headquarters 
in Oslo. The address of its registered office is Karens-
lyst Alle 53, 0279 Oslo.

Fibo Group AS (‘the Company’) and its sub-
sidiaries (together, ‘the Group’) is in the business of 
development, production, marketing and sale of wall 
panels and other laminated products. The production 
is carried out in Lyngdal, Norway. The Group has 
sale offices in Sweden, Finland and UK in addition to 
Norway. The main customers are builder merchants, 
distributors and the manufacturing home industry.

NOTE 2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the pre-
paration of these consolidated financial statements 
are set out below.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as approved by the EU.

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the 
following:

• Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss.

• Defined benefit pension plans — plan assets meas-
ured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Norwegian kroner (NOK). Amounts are rounded to 
the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated. As a 
result of rounding adjustments, amounts and percent-
ages may not add up to the total.

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
Amended standards and interpretations

Several amendments and interpretations apply for the 
first time in 2021. These include:

• Covid-19 related rent concessions, beyond 30 June 
2021 — Amendments to IFRS 16

• Disclosure of accounting policies – Amendment to 
IFRS 1 

• Definition of accounting estimates – Amendment to 
IFRS 8

• Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising 
from single transaction – Amendment IFRS 12

The amendments have no significant impact on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

2.2 CONSOLIDATION

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured 
entities) over which the Group exercises control. 
The Group controls an entity when the Group is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to the Group. Subsidiaries 
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to 
account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the 
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred and any equity interests issued by the Group 
to the former owners of the acquired subsidiary. The 
consideration transferred includes the fair value of 
any asset or liability resulting from a contingent con- 
sideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are measured initially at their 
fair values at the acquisition date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred.

Contingent consideration is classified either as 
equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a 
financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair 
value with changes in fair value recognized in profit 
or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unreal-
ized gains on transactions between Group companies 
are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated 
unless the loss indicates an impairment situation.

When necessary, amounts reported by subsidi-
aries, have been adjusted to conform to the Group’s 
accounting policies.

2.3 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of 
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the 
entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The con-
solidated financial statements are presented in NOK, 
which is the Group’s presentation currency. 
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Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into 
the functional currency using the average monthly 
exchange rates, unless this deviates significantly 
from actual rates. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognized in the income statement. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in 
the income statement within ‘Other (losses)/gains’.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group 
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-in-
flationary economy) that have a functional currency 
different from the presentation currency are trans-
lated into the presentation currency as follows:

• assets and liabilities for each balance sheet pre-
sented are translated at the closing rate at the date 
of that balance sheet;

• income and expenses for each income statement 
are translated at average exchange rates (unless 
this average is not a reasonable approximation 
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on 
the transaction dates, in which case income and 
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of 
the transactions); and

• all resulting exchange differences are recognized in 
other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the 
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated 
at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are 
recognized in other comprehensive income.

2.4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

All property, plant and equipment are stated at his-
torical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisi-
tion of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can be meas-
ured reliably. The carrying amount of any component 
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognized 
when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to the income statement during the financial 
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the 
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as 
follows

Machinery and equipment 
5 to 15 years

Software – ERP systems
5 to 10 years

Computers
3 years

Furniture, fixtures, fittings and vehicles
5 to 10 years

Leasehold improvements
Shortest of useful life and leasing period of contract

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recover-
able amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount 
and are recognized within other income or other 
operating expenses in the income statement.

2.5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and 
represents the excess of the consideration trans-
ferred over the fair value of the identifiable net assets 
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill 
acquired in a business combination is allocated 
to each of the Cash Generating Units (CGUs), or 
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of 
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the 
lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill 
is monitored for internal management purposes. 
Goodwill is monitored at the country level

Customer relationships, brands and product features

Customer contracts, customer relationships, brands 
and product features acquired in a business combi-
nation are recognized at fair value at the acquisition 
date. They are carried at cost less accumulated amor-
tization. Amortization is calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate the cost over their estimated 
useful lives as follows:

Customer relationships
10 years

Brands
Infinite

Product features
5 to 10 years/indefinite
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Computer software

Costs associated with maintaining computer soft-
ware programmes are recognized as an expense 
as incurred. Development costs that are directly 
attributable to the design and testing of identifiable 
and unique software products controlled by the 
Group are recognized as intangible assets when all of 
the following criteria are met:

• it is technically feasible to complete the software 
product so that it will be available for use;

• management intends to complete the software 
product and use or sell it;

• there is an ability to use or sell the software 
product;

• it can be demonstrated how the software product 
will generate probable future economic benefits;

• adequate technical, financial and other resources 
to complete the development and to use or sell the 
software product are available; and

• the expenditure attributable to the software 
product during its development can be reliably 
measured

Directly attributable costs that are capitalized as part 
of the software include employee costs and an appro-
priate portion of relevant overheads.

Capitalized development costs are recorded as 
intangible assets and amortized from the point at 
which the asset is ready for use.

Computer software development costs recog-
nized as assets are amortized over their estimated 
useful lives, as follows:

Software – ERP systems
5 to 10 years 

Research and development

Research expenditure and development expendi-
ture that do not meet the criteria in (c) above are 
recognized as an expense as incurred. Development 
costs previously recognized as an expense are not rec-
ognized as an asset in a subsequent period. Product 
development costs recognized as assets are amortized 
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Product development
4 years

2.6 IMPAIRMENT OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Goodwill, intangible assets that have an indefinite 
useful life or intangible assets not ready for use are 
not subject to amortization and are tested annually 
for impairment. Intangible assets that are subject to 
amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impair-
ment loss is recognized for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in 
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
largely independent cash inflows (cash-generating 
units).

2.7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at 
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attribut-
able to the acquisition of issue of financial assets and 
liabilities are added to or deducted from fair value of 
the financial asset or liability, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition. However, transaction costs for instruments 
subsequently measured at fair value through profit 
and loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

2.7.1 Subsequent measurement

Financial assets
All recognized financial assets are subsequently meas-
ured at either amortized cost or fair value, based on 
the business model for managing financial assets and 
the characteristics of the contractual cash flows from 
the financial assets.

The Group holds loans and receivables (including 
trade receivables and other receivables, bank balances 
and cash) within the business model hold to collect 
contractual cash flows. These financial assets are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest model, less any impairments 
identified.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies and measures its financial liabil-
ities, including borrowings and trade and other pay-
ables, at amortized cost using the effective interest 
model. Transaction costs related to the establishment 
of credit facilities are treated similar to the above 
description to the extent that it is probable that some 
or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, 
the fee is deferred until the drawdown occurs. To the 
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that 
some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee 
is capitalized as a prepayment for liquidity services 
and amortized over the period of the facility to which 
it relates.

2.7.2 Derecognition

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the 
contractual rights to the cash flow from the assets 
expire, or when it transfers the financial assets and 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another party.

A financial liability is derecognized when the 
obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled 
or expires.

2.7.3 Impairment of financial assets

Assets carried at amortised cost

The group recognizes an allowance for expected 
credit losses (ECL’s) for all debt instruments not held 
at fair value through profit and loss. ECLS are based 
on the difference between the contractual cash flows 
due in accordance with the contract and the cash 
flows the group expects to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. 
For trade receivables the Group applies the simplified 
approach in calculating ECLs.
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2.7.4 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount reported in the balance sheet when there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simul-
taneously. The legally enforceable right must not be 
contingent on future events and must be enforceable 
in the normal course of business and in the event of 
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or 
the counterparty.

2.7.5 Borrowing cost

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or prod-
uction of a qualifying asset are capitalized during the 
period of time that is required to complete and pre-
pare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying 
assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial 
period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary 
investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the 
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period 
in which they are incurred. 

2.8 INVENTORIES 

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods 
are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour 
and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed 
overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated 
on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs 
are assigned to individual items of inventory on the 
basis of weighted average costs. Costs of purchased 
inventory are determined after deducting rebates 
and discounts. Net realizable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business less 
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale. 

2.9 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash is cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash 
equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes 
in value. Investments normally only qualify as cash 
equivalent if they have a short maturity of three 
months or less from the date of acquisition.

2.10 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX 

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the 
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income 
based on the applicable income tax rate for each juris-
diction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to 
unused tax losses.

Current end deferred tax is recognized in the 
income statement, except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognized in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recog-
nized in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the 
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 
at the balance sheet date in the countries where the 
company and its subsidiaries operate and generate 
taxable income.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the 
liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not 
recognized for:

• taxable temporary differences arising on initial 
recognition of goodwill

Temporary differences on the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination that at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Temporary differences related to investments in 
subsidiaries to the extent the Group is able to control 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that they will not reverse in foresee-
able future.

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates 
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected 
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is 
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilized.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are 
offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax assets against current tax liabili-
ties and when the deferred income taxes assets and 
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or 
different taxable entities where there is an intention 
to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.11 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension obligations 

The Group operates various postemployment 
schemes, including both defined benefit and defined 
contribution pension plans.

The liability or asset recognized in the balance 
sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
at the end of the reporting period less the fair value 
of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is cal-
culated annually by independent actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obli-
gation is determined by discounting the estimated 
future cash outflows using interest rates of high-qual-
ity corporate bonds that are denominated in the 
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currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that 
have terms approximating to the terms of the related 
obligation. In countries where there is no deep market 
in such bonds, the market rates on government bonds 
are used.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the 
discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit 
obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost 
is included in employee benefit expense in the state-
ment of profit or loss.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from 
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are recognized in the period in which 
they occur, directly in other comprehensive income.

Changes in the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments or 
curtailments are recognized immediately in profit or 
loss as past service costs.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays 
contributions to publicly or privately administered 
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual 
or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment 
obligations once the contributions have been paid.

The contributions are recognized as employee 
benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contri-
butions are recognized as an asset to the extent that 
a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is 
available. 

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment 
is terminated by the Group before the normal 
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts 
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.

The Group recognizes termination benefits at the 
earlier of the following dates: 

a)  when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer 
of those benefits; and

b) when the entity recognizes costs for a restructuring 
that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the 
payment of termination benefits. In the case of an 
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the 
termination benefits are measured based on the 
number of employees expected to accept the offer. 
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period are discounted to their 
present value. 

Bonus plans

The Group recognizes a liability and an expense for 
bonuses when the bonus has been earned by the 
employee based on the bonus agreements with its 
employees. The Group recognizes a provision where 
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice 
that has created a constructive obligation.

2.12 PROVISIONS 

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructur-
ing costs and legal claims are recognized when: 

• the Group has a present legal or constructive  
obligation as a result of past events; 

• it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation; and 

• the amount has been reliably estimated. 

Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination 
penalties and employee termination payments. 

Provisions are not recognized for future operating 
losses. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of 
the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in 
the provision due to passage of time is recognized as 
interest expense.

2.13 ISSUED CAPITAL

Ordinary shares together with preference shares and 
share premium are classified as equity. Incremental 
costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary 
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.14 REVENUE RECOGNITION

Sale of wall panels

The Fibo Group is in the business of manufacturing 
and selling laminated wall panels and related prod-
ucts. The sale of wall panels and related products are 
satisfied upon transfer of control over the panels to 
the customer which in general is upon delivery to the 
customer. Each order/delivery is considered as a per-
formance obligation that is satisfied at a point in time. 

Rights of return

The Group has historically accepted that customers 
in specific cases can return unsold inventory if the 
Group discontinues a product line. These returns are 
infrequent and immaterial, and are made at the dis-
cretion of management. The Group uses the expected 
value method to estimate the goods that will not be 
returned. For goods that are expected to be returned 
the Group recognizes a refund liability.

Variable consideration

The group provides retrospective volume rebates 
to certain customers once the quantity of products 
purchased during the period exceeds a threshold in 
the contract. To estimate the variable consideration 
for the expected future rebates the Group applies the 
most likely mount method for contracts with a sin-
gle-volume threshold and the expected value method 
for contracts with more than one volume threshold. 



25

CONSOLIDATED

Warranties

The Group generally provides warranties in line 
with normal business practices and does not 
provide extended warranties in its contracts with 
customers. As such, most existing warranties will be 
assurance-type warranties under IFRS 15, which is 
accounted for under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

2.15 GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Grants from the government are recognized at their 
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that 
the grant will be received and the Group will comply 
with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred 
and recognized in the profit or loss over the period 
necessary to match them with the costs that they are 
intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase 
of property, plant and equipment are included in 
non-current liabilities as deferred income and are 
credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the expected lives of the related assets.

2.16 LEASES

The Group has lease contracts for buildings related to 
its production plant in Lyngdal, Norway, its head office 
in Norway and to various items of machinery, vehicles 
and other equipment.

The Group assesses at contract inception whether 
a contract is, or contains, a lease. The Group applies 
a single recognition and measurement approach for 
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases 
of low-value assets. The Group recognizes lease 
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of- use 
assets representing the right to use the underlying 
assets. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, 
less any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the 
amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct 
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before 
the commencement date less any lease incentives 
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease 
term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as 
follows:

Property and plant
15 years

Machinery and equipment
5-15 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group 
at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the 
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calcu-
lated using the estimated useful life of the asset. The 
right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment.

At the commencement date of the lease, the 
Group recognizes lease liabilities measured at the 
present value of lease payments to be made over the 
lease term. The lease payments include fixed pay-
ments less any lease incentives receivable, variable 
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and 
amounts expected to be paid under residual value 
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exer-
cise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to 
be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties 
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the 
Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable 
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a 
rate are recognized as expenses in the period in which 
the event or condition that triggers the payment 
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease pay-
ments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate 
at the lease commencement date because the inter-
est rate implicit in the lease is not readily deter- min-
able. To determine the incremental borrowing rate 
the Group, where possible, uses its recent third-party 
financing for the contracting entity as a starting point. 
The carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured 
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, 
a change in the lease payments or a change in the 
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying 
asset

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in 
Non-current or Current leasing liabilities. Current 
leasing liabilities is the undiscounted cash flow for the 
next 12 months.

The Group applies the short-term lease recogni-
tion exemption to its short-term leases of machinery 
and equipment. It also applies the lease of low-value 
assets recognition exemption to leases of office 
equipment that are considered to below value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases 
of low-value assets are recognized as expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. Low-value 
assets comprise IT equipment and small items of 
office furniture.

2.17 DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend 
declared, being appropriately authorized and no 
longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the 
end of the reporting period but not distributed at the 
end of the reporting period. 
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NOTE 3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

Below is a description of the Group’s exposure to 
financial risks and how these risks could affect the 
Group’s future financial performance. Current year 
profit and loss information has been included where 
relevant to add further context.

The Group’s overall risk management programme 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the 
Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by Group man-
agement under directions approved by the board of 
directors. Group management identifies, evaluates 
and mitigate financial risks in close co-operation with 
the Group’s operating units.

Market risk 

i)  Foreign exchange risk
The Group has operations in Norway, Sweden, Finland 
and UK and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising 
from currency exposures related to Norwegian kroner. 
The carrying amount of the Group’s net investment 
in foreign entities varies with changes in the value of 
NOK compared to SEK, EUR and GBP.

The net income of the Group is also affected by 
changes in exchange rates, as the profit and loss from 
foreign operations are translated into NOK using 
average exchange rates for the period. The operating 
entities’ day to day business is carried out in their 
local currency. The operating entities have no foreign 
exchange exposure related to purchase of goods from 
the Norwegian group company as sales are denomi-
nated in respective local currency.

The Group purchases most of its raw materials 
from suppliers denominated in SEK, EUR and USD. 
The Group may from time to time enter into currency 
derivatives to reduce cash flow impact caused by 
currency fluctuations. In such case, the derivatives are 
recognized at fair value in the balance sheet.

The Bond issue is denominated in NOK. 

ii)  Price risk
The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from 
changes in commodity prices, primarily plywood and 
laminate. The Group considers the outlook for ply-
wood and laminate regularly in considering the need 
for active financial risk management. The Group’s 
policy is generally not to hedge commodity price 
risk, although limited hedging may be undertaken for 
strategic reasons. To mitigate or hedge the price risk, 
Group companies may enter into a forward contract 
to buy the commodity at a fixed price at a future date

iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term and 
short-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable 
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, 
derivative financial instruments and deposits with 
banks and financial institutions, as well as credit expo-
sures to customers.

The carrying amount of financial assets repre-
sents maximum credit exposure.

Credit risk is managed on Group basis, except for 
credit risk relating to customers. Each local entity is 
responsible for managing and analysing the credit 
risk for each of their new customers before stand-
ard payment and delivery terms and conditions are 
offered. The credit quality of the customer takes into 
account its financial position, past experience and 
other factors.

See note 18 for aging of accounts receivable.

Liquidity risk 

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating 
entities of the Group and aggregated at Group level. 
At Group level rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity 
requirements are monitored to ensure the Group 
has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while 
maintaining sufficient headroom at all times so that the 
Group does not breach borrowing limits or covenants 
(where applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities. 
Such forecasting takes into consideration the Group’s 
debt financing plans, covenant compliance, compliance 
with internal balance sheet ratio targets and, if applica-
ble external regulatory or legal requirements.

3.2 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to 
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders, 
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
In addition, the Group has covenants requirements 
related to leverage, cash and capital expenditure, 
which is monitored closely.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital struc-
ture, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends 
paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, 
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group 
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This 
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. 
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including 
‘current and non-current borrowings’ as shown in the 
consolidated balance sheet) less cash and cash equiv-
alents. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown 
in the consolidated balance sheet plus net debt.

3.3 FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

The Group classifies its financial instruments carried 
at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels 
have been defined as follows:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included within 
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, 
derived from prices) (Level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based 
on observable market data (that is, unobservable 
inputs) (Level 3).
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NOTE 4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The Group makes estimates and assumptions con-
cerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual 
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are:

Impairment test — key assumptions underlying 
recoverable amount

As part of the business combination, the Group 
identified intangible assets, such as customer 
relationships, brands, product features and goodwill. 
The impairment test carried out showed that the 
goodwill is not impaired as at December 31, 2021. 
However, the impairment test is based on several 
assumptions concerning the future, where unfavoura-
ble development might cause a need for recognition 
of an impairment loss. EBITDA margin, terminal value 
multiple and discount rate has been identified as 
being the most significant.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate 
and contract extensions.

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate 
implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental 
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The 
Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs 
(such as market interest rates) when available and is 
required to make certain entity-specific estimates.

The Group’s leasing contracts include extension 
options. The Group applies judgement in evaluating 
whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to 
exercise the option to renew the leases.

NOTE 5  GROUP INFORMATION
The following entities are included in the consolidated financial statements:

       Ownership Voting 
       interest power 
 Company Place of incorporation Main operations 2021 & 2020 2021 & 2020

Fibo AS Lyngdal, Norway  Production and marketing 100 % 100 %
Fibo AB Stockholm, Sweden Marketing and sales 100 % 100 %
Fibosystem Finland OY Helsinki, Finland Marketing and sales 100 % 100 %
Fibo UK Ltd Chesham, UK Marketing and sales 100 % 100 %
Fibo USA LLC Delaware, USA Dormant 100 % 100 %

Shares in subsidiaries have been pledged as security for bank loans, see note 16.
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NOTE 6  SEGMENTS AND REVENUE INFORMATION

For management purposes the Group is organised in 
two business units based on geographical areas. All the 
Groups products are produced at the manufacturing 
plant in Lyngdal, Norway, and sold to to the wholly 
owned subsidiares listed in note 5, for resale in local 
markets. In addition there is direct sales from Norway 
to customers abroad. Segments are reported in the 
same manner as internal financial reporting to the 
Group’s highest descision make, which is defined as 

the board and the CEO. The internal financial reporting 
follows current IFRS standards as described in the notes 
to these Group accounts. The geographical segments 
outside Norway are grouped together as they are 
similar with respect to products sold, customers and 
distribution methods. Direct sales from Norway to 
foreign, non-interagroup customers is also included in 
the Export segment.

        Elimination
      Total  and
NOK 1000  Norway Export segments group items  Consolidated

2021

Revenue
External customers  435 700 288 818 724 518 1 724 518
Intersegment  108 266 – 108 266 -108 266 1

Total revenue  543 966 288 818 832 784 -108 266 724 518

Segment EBITDA  71 702 39 087 110 789 -6 274 104 515
Depreciation and amortization  25 999 331 26 330 633 26 963

Segment EBIT    45 703 38 756 84 459 -6 907 77 552
Total assets  702 674 58 411 761 085 63 632 824 717
Total liabilities  224 189 27 612 251 801 243 682 495 483

2020

Revenue
External customers  432 850 220 298 653 148 – 653 148
Intersegment  110 890 – 110 890 -110 890 –

Total revenue  543 740 220 298 764 038 -110 890 653 148

Segment EBITDA  66 060 25 147 91 207 -4 666 86 541
Depreciation and amortization  26 507 334 26 841 1 142 27 983

Segment EBIT    39 553 24 813 64 366 -5 808 58 558
Total assets   808 769 61 052 869 821 -72 860 796 961
Total liabilities  211 383 35 601 246 984 248 817 495 801

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Revenue by product
Wall panels and countertops    594 105 482 401
Other    130 413 170 747

Total revenue    724 518 653 148

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time    724 518 653 148

Revenue by jurisdiction
Revenue Norway    435 421 432 850
Revenue UK    114 162 73 954
Revenue Sweden    57 527 54 044
Revenue other export markets    117 409 92 300

Total revenue    724 518 653 148
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NOTE 7  SALARIES AND PERSONNEL EXPENSES AND MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Salaries and holiday pay   94 491 79 757
Social security Cost   13 178 11 899
Pension costs (Note 23)   3 738 1 650
Other personnel costs   4 175 5 548

Total salaries and personnel expenses   115 582 98 854

The number of man-years employed during the financial year:
Norway   122 119
Sweden   4 4
Finland   2 2
UK    12 11

Total    140 137

NOK 1000  Remuneration Bonus Pension cost Total

Management remuneration

2021

Anders Carlson, CEO   2 768   752   929   4 448 
Martin Prytz, former CFO   489   155   13   656 
Per Richard Olsen, present CFO   1 319   –     64   1 383

2020

Anders Carlson, CEO    2 682   980   902   4 564 
Martin Prytz, CFO    1 593   400   75   2 068

The CEO takes part in an incentive program in which 
an annual bonus is calculated based upon the  
company’s EBITDA.  The CEO is entitled to a compen-
sation of 6 months’ salary at termination. The CEO 
has not received remuneration or financial benefits 

from other companies in the Group other than what is 
stated above. No loans or guarantees have been given 
to the CEO or the Board of directors. No remuneration 
has been paid to the Board of Directors.

Number of shares   2021 2020

Shares in the parent company Fibo Holding AS, held or controlled  
by CEO and board members
Anders Carlson, CEO   10 458 492 10 458 492
Patrick Nolaker, Chairman   7 576 000 7 576 000
Åsa Söderström Winberg, board member   1 209 044 1 209 044

Total    19 243 536 19 243 536
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NOTE 8  OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Freight costs   43 525   35 786 
Marketing and other sales cost     46 784   46 897 
Rental and leasing costs   5 661   4 952 
Travel costs   2 970   3 235 
Consultancy fees and external personnel   14 799   3 038 
Other operating costs   29 246   27 282 

Total other operating expenses 142 985 121 190

The Group’s research and development concentrates 
on the development of its unique product technology 
as well as the production process.  Research and 
development expenses that are not eligible for 
capitalization have been expensed in the period as 
incurred.

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Specification auditor’s fee
Statutory audit  452   490 
Other non-assurance services  26   100 
Tax consultant services  150   50 

Total  628 640

VAT is not included in the audit fees specified above.

    Ownership interest/voting rights
Company Country 2021 & 2020

Ownership structure
Fibo Holding AS Norway  100.0 %

NOTE 9  TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Fibo Group AS is 100% owned by Fibo Holding AS, 
which is owned 86% by FSN CAPITAL GP IV LIMITED in 
its capacity as general partner for and on behalf of 
each of FSN CAPITAL IV L.P., FSN CAPITAL IV (B) L.P., 
and FSN CAPITAL IV INVEST L.P.

FSN CAPITAL GP IV LIMITED is controlled by funds 
managed by the private equity firm FSN Capital. 
Management and certain Board members own the 
remaining shares in Fibo Holding AS.

FSN CAPITAL GP IV LIMITED do not charge any 
fees to the Group. Expenses charged to the Group are 
out-of-pocket-expences only.

According to the resolution of the General 
Assembly meeting held on 4 February 2022 dividends 
of 255mNOK were declared and paid, from the 2020 
profits on 14 February 2022. Further a capital reduc-
tion of 3 mNOK was adopted to be setteled after the 
creditor period of 6 weeks is ended. See note 28 for 
more information. 
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NOTE 10  FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Financial income
Interest income    188   116 

Total financial income    188   116

Financial expenses     
Interest expense bank loans at amortized cost  20 955   23 320 
Amortisation of finance fee related to credit facilities  3 854   3 416 
Interest on lease liabilities  8 226   8 533 
Factoring fee and other financial expenses  8 746   9 448  

Total financial expenses     41 781   44 716 

Net finance     -41 593   -44 600  

Other (losses)/ gains — net   
Net foreign exchange gains    14 260   22 011  
Net foreign exchange losses     -11 630   -16 603  

Other gains (losses) — net    2 630   5 408  

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Movement in the capitalized costs
Cost as at 1 January  10 978   10 978  
Additions       – –  

Cost as at 31 December    10 978  10 978 

Accumulated amortization as at 1 January  6 161   2 745 
Amortization  3 854   3 416  

Accumulated amortization as at 31 December    10 015   6 161  

Net book value      963   4 817 

In connection with the bond issue in 2019 direct 
financing costs incurred  were capitalized as a 
reduction of the carrying amount of the bond.
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NOTE 11  INCOME TAX EXPENSE

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Current tax
Current tax on profit (loss) for the year 8 616 466
Current tax from prior years 101 –

Deferred tax
Changes in deferred tax -269 3 665
Reduction of tax rate – –

Income tax expense (income) 8 447 4 131

Income tax expense (income) attributable to net profit 8 447 4 131
Income tax expense (income) attributable to other comprehensive income – -105

A reconciliation of the effective rate of tax and the tax rate in Norway:   
Pre-tax profit  38 589 19 366
Expected income taxes according to income tax rate in Norway (22%) 8 490 4 260
Tax effect of non deductible expenses 1 760 41
Tax from previous years -1 646 –
Tax rate outside Norway other than 22%  -160 -65
Other 3 -105

Income tax expense (income) 8 447 4 131

Current tax liability:
As at 1 January – 470
Income tax expense 8 616 466
Taxes paid including prepaid -265 -936
Other changes – –

As at 31 December 8 351 –

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets:
Deferred tax assets
Tax losses carried forward - 3 050
Right of use asset and lease liabilities, net 2 997 2 385
Other 1 862 1 557

Deferred tax assets - gross 4 859 6 992

Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible assets 36 222 37 110
Fixed assets 6 310 6 898
Borrowings/ Finance fee 212 1 060
Other – 78

Deferred tax liabilities - gross 42 744 45 146

Net recognised deferred tax liabilities 37 885 38 154

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:
As st 1 January 38 154 34 124
Income tax expense -269 3 665
Other changes – 365

As at 31 December 37 885 38 154 

The income tax rate in Norway is 22%.
The rate used for the deferred tax calculation is 22% for both 2021 and 2020.  
The tax rate for Sweden is 20.6% for 2021 and 21.4% for 2020.  
The tax rate for UK is 19% for 2021 and 2020.
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NOTE 12  EARNINGS PER SHARE

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Profit (loss) for the period NOK 1000 30 142 15 235

Weighted average shares outstanding   298 449 933  298 449 933  
Effect of dilution from share options and convertible loans  – – 

Weighted average shares adjusted for dilution  298 449 933 298 449 933 

Earnings per share, ordinary and diluted NOK 0.101   0.051

NOTE 13  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

    Assets Machinery   
    under and Furniture 
NOK 1000  construction equipment and vehicles Total

Balance as at 1 January 2020  4 116 99 516 642 104 274
Additions during the period  789 2 908 772 4 469
Depreciation   -14 806 -1 146 -15 952
Transfer, cost price   2 525 -2 073 452
Transfer, accumulated depreciation   -4 696 3 993 -703

Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2020 4 905 85 447 2 188 92 540

Balance as at 1 January 2021  4 905 85 447 2 188 92 540
Transfer, cost price   -2 864 1 760 -1 104
Transfer, accumulated depreciation   2 864 -1 760 1 104
Additions during the period   5 304  5 304
Depreciation   -14 823 -793 -15 616
Transfer, cost price  -1 176 1 176  0
Transfer, accumulated depreciation     0
Exchange differences    71 71

Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2021 3 729 77 104 1 466 82 299

Acuisition cost as at 1 January 2021  4 905 159 125 4 339 168 369
Accumulated depreciation as at 1 January 2021 – -73 678 -2 151 -75 829

Net carrying amount as at 1 January 2021 4 905 85 447 2 188 92 540

Acuisition cost as at 31 December 2021 3 729 162 741 6 170 172 640
Accumulated depreciation as at 31 December 2021 – -85 637 -4 705 -90 341

Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2021 3 729 77 104 1 466 82 299

Economic life   5 - 15 years 5 - 10 years 
Depreciation method   straight line straight line 

Machinery and equipment have been pledged as security for loans, see note 16.
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    Customer  Design and  
NOK 1000 Goodwill relationships Brands technology R&D Total

Balance as at 1 Jan 2020 246 800 18 546 101 895 53 827 272 421 340
Additions during the period    504 112 616
Amortisation  -3 424  -1 748 -249 -5 421

Net carrying amount as at 31 Dec 2020 246 800 15 122 101 895 52 583 135 416 535

Balance as at 1 Jan 2021 246 800 15 122 101 895 52 583 135 416 535
Additions during the period    – – –
Reallocation    -920 920 –
Amortisation  -3 424  -611 -705 -4 740

Net carrying amount as at 31 Dec 2021 246 800 11 698 101 895 51 052 350 411 795

Acuisition cost as at1 Jan 2021 246 800 34 241 101 895 61 790 2 129 446 855
Accumulated depr. as at 1 Jan 2021 – -19 119 – -9 207 -1 994 -30 320

Net carrying amount as at 1 Jan 2021 246 800 15 122 101 895 52 583 135 416 535

Acuisition cost as at 31 Dec 2021 246 800 34 241 101 895 61 790 2 129 446 855
Accumulated depr. as at 31 Dec 2021 – -22 543 – -10 738 -1 779 -35 060

Net carrying amount as at 31 Dec 2021 246 800 11 698 101 895 51 052 350 411 795

Economic life Indefinite 10 years Indefinite 5-10 years 4 years 
Depreciation method   straight line   straight line/ straight 
      indefinite line

NOTE 14  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill and other intangible assets with an 
indefinite useful life is not amortized, but tested 
yearly for impairment. Refer to note 15 for the 
impairment test.

NOTE 15  IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL AND ASSETS WITH INFINITE LIVES
Goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite 
useful life is tested for impairment at least annually, 
or when there are indications of impairment. The 

intangible assets arised from the acquisition in 2015. 
The last impairment test was performed as of year end 
2021.

        Design and  
NOK 1000      Goodwill Brands  technology

Book value 
Norway    246 800  101 895   51 052  

The recoverable amount of the CGUs is set to the 
estimated value in use. The value in use is the net  
present value of the estimated cash flow before tax 
for a 4 year period plus a terminal value.  The terminal 
value is calculated as a multiple of EBITDA in year 
4 using peer data to determine the multiple.  The 
discount rate used is 9.8% before tax and reflects the 
timing and risks of the cash flows and includes a small 
cap premium. Revenue growth is estimated to 6% in 
the estimation period, while the gross profit margin is 

estimated to decrease approx 3%-points over the 
4 year period. No impairment has been identified.
A sensitivity analysis with reduced sales growth of 2 
%, additionally reduced EBITDA through higher cost 
inflation of 1 % or increased discount rate of 2 %, the 
headroom is still close to 25 % above the total recover-
able amount as at 31.12.2021.
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NOTE 16  FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

NOK 1000 Interest rate Maturity 2021 2020

Debt instruments at amortised cost
Trade receivables   54 267 32 171

Sum financial assets   54 267 32 171

Total current   54 267 32 171

Total non-current   – –

Current interest-bearing liabilities
Leasing liabilities, current   12 116 12 025

Total current   12 116 12 025

Non-current interestbearing loans:
Senior secured bond Nibor + 7.75% 2022 249 037 245 183
Leasing liabilities, non-current Nibor + 7.75%  74 245 78 128

Total non-current   323 281 323 311

Total interest-bearing liabilities   335 397 335 336

Other financial liabilities at amortized cost   – –
Trade payables    64 290 68 885

Total current     64 290 68 885

Total non-current   – –

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activites 
Opening balance    335 336 335 322
Cashflow, bond issue    – –
Cashflow, repayments    – –
Cashflow, lease payments    -12 025 -11 935
Cashflow, capitalized fees    – –
Accretion of interest on leasing liabilities   8 226 8 533
Net change in amortization of capitalized fees   3 860 3 416

Ending balance    335 397 335 336

Fibo Group AS and its owner have in January 2022 
successfully completed a NOK 500m senior secured 
bond issue with a tenor of 3 years and a coupon rate 
of 3m NIBOR + 6.00% p.a. The Bond Issue attracted 
significant interest from the Nordics and Europe 
and was oversubscribed. Settlement date was 28 
January 2022 and the Bonds will apply for listing on 
Oslo Børs. The bondholders for the NOK 500m senior 
secured bond have a put option to realize the bond 
at 101% in case of listing failure event. Management 

has assessed the likelihood for that to happen as 
insignificant. Net proceeds from the Bond Issue were 
partly applied towards the repayment of the existing 
NOK 250m senior secured bond and partly allowing 
for distribution to the shareholder.  The bonds  are 
subject to Incurrence test (ratio of net debt to EBITDA) 
in case of tap issue or distribution to the shareholders.
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Fibo Group AS and its owner have i January 2022 
successfully completed a NOK 500m senior secured 
bond issue with a tenor of 3 years and a coupon rate 
of 3m NIBOR + 6.00% p.a. The Bond Issue attracted 
significant interest from the Nordics and Europe and 
was oversubscribed. Settlement date was 28 January 
2022 and the Bonds applied for listing on Oslo Børs.

Net proceeds from the Bond Issue were partly 
applied towards the repayment of the existing NOK 
250m senior secured bond and partly allowing for 
distribution to the shareholder. 

The maturity profile of financial liabilities based on undiscounted payments

    Less than 3 3 to 12 1 to 5  Above 5  
NOK 1000  months  months  years  years  Total

2021

Interest-bearing liabilities (excluding those below)  250 000   250 000
Interest expenses   5 363      5 363 
Lease liabilities   3 029   9 087   49 372   78 339   139 827 
Low value and short time rental expenses   1 415   4 246   11 322    16 983 
Trade and other current liabilities   101 904   11 947     113 851 

Total    111 711   275 279   60 694   78 339   526 024 

2020

Interest-bearing liabilities (excluding those below)   250 000  250 000
Interest expenses   5 063   15 188   5 063    25 313  
Lease liabilities    3 006   9 018   49 009   90 828   151 861 
Low value and short time rental expenses     1 238   3 714   11 183     16 135 
Trade and other current liabilities     102 417   8 924       111 341 

Total       111 724   36 844   315 255   90 828   554 650

Comparison of carrying amounts and fair value of financial assets and liabilities

     2021  2020

    Carrying  Carrying
NOK 1000  amount Fair value amount Fair value

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  249 037   251 875   245 183   256 250 

The carrying amount of pledged assets

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Plant, machinery and equipment    82 299 92 540
Inventory    83 176 80 375
Accounts receivable    54 267 32 171
Cash and cash equivalents    112 967 85 362

Total     332 709 290 448
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NOTE 17  INVENTORIES

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Raw materials     38 888   38 290 
Work in progress     806   1 912 
Finished goods     34 298   34 006 
Wholesale goods     9 830   6 799 

Total as at 31 December     83 822   81 007 

Obsolete goods     -647   -632 

Total as at 31 December     83 176   80 375 

Inventories have been pledged as security for bank loans, see note 16.

NOTE 18  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Accounts receivable     55 167 33 471
Bad debt provision    -900 -1 300

Total as at 31 December    54 267 32 171

Changes in bad debt provision:
Opening balance     1 300 300
Increase of provision during the period   – 1 000
Losses incurred    223 -
Released provision during the period    -623 -

Total as at 31 December    900 1 300

Currency exposure accounts receivable    
NOK     17 969 12 782
GBP     24 116 16 460
SEK     – 686
EUR     1 212 –
USD     7 811 –
Other    4 058 3 543

Total as at 31 December    55 167 33 471

Age distribution accounts receivable
Not due    46 294 16 939
Less than 30 days    5 068 11 982
30-60 days    1 392 2 206
60-90 days    893 225
More than 90 days    1 519 2 119

Total as at 31 December    55 167 33 471

Accounts receivable have been pledged as security for 
loans, see note 16. 

A factoring agreement with Avida is in place for 
Fibo AS and Fibo AB. The agreement involves ongoing 
invoice purchase of the whole ledger. For Fibo UK Ltd, 
standard payment terms are 60 days.
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NOTE 19  OTHER CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT ASSETS

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Other current assets 
Pre-paid costs     2 879   2 983  
Other current assets     3 585   4 967  

Total as at 31 December    6 463   7 950  

NOTE 21  SHARE CAPITAL, SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION AND DIVIDEND

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Ordinary shares, nominal amount NOK 0.12   298 449 933 298 449 933

Total number of shares   298 449 933 298 449 933

Changes to share capital and premium

    Number of  Share Share
NOK 1000   shares capital premium

Shares issued and fully paid 31 December 2020 and 2021 298 449 933 32 829 271 100

All issued shares have equal voting rights.

The shareholder at 31 December 2021 and 2020

    Number of   %
Shareholder   ordinary shares   Holding

Fibo Holding AS  298 449 933  100.0

All issued shares have equal voting rights.

No dividend has been declared for the accounting 
period.    

According to the resolution of the General 
Assembly meeting held on 4 February 2022 dividends 
of 255mNOK were declared and paid, from the 2020 
profits on 14 February 2022.  Forther a capital reduc-
tion of 3 mNOK was adopted to be setteled after the 
creditor period of 6 weeks is ended. See note 28 for 
more information. 

NOTE 20  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Cash and short-term bank deposits     105 616   81 849 
Restricted cash     7 351   3 513   

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet 31 December    112 967   85 362 

Restricted cash is for payment of withheld employee taxes.
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NOTE 22  LEASES

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Right-of-use assets 
As at 1 January     79 313   85 923  
Depreciation expense    -6 607   -6 610 

As at 31 December    72 706   79 313 

Lease liabilities
As at 1 January    90 153   93 555 
Additions   
Accretion of interest    8 232   8 533 
Lease payment    -12 025   -11 935 

As at 31 December    86 360   90 153 

Current    12 116   12 025 
Non-current    74 245   78 128 

Items in profit (loss)
Depreciation expense    6 607   6 610 
Interest expense on lease liabilities    8 232   8 533 
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in other operating expenses)  2 911   1 760 
Expense relating to low-value assets (included in other operating expenses)   2 352   2 265 
Variable lease payments (included in other operating expenses)   398   927 

Total amount recognised in profit (loss)    20 500   20 095  

NOTE 23  PENSIONS AND OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Defined contribution plans
The Group's companies in Norway, Sweden, Finland 
and UK have defined contribution plans in accordance 
with local laws. The contribution plans cover full-time 
employees and amounts to 5% of the salary between 
1G and 6G and 8,5% of salary exceeding 6G. The 
employees may manage the investments through an 
agreement with the insurance company. The contribu-
tion is expensed when it is incurred. As of 31.12.2021 
there were 140 members covered by the schemes.

In Norway, the Group is part of a partly govern-
ment funded plan (AFP). The plan gives a lifelong con-
tribution to the ordinary pension. The employees can 
choose to exercise the new AFP-scheme starting at the 
age of 62 years, also in combination with continued 
work, and the annual regular post-employment bene-
fits increases in the new scheme if early AFP retire-
ment is rejected. The new AFP-scheme is a defined 
benefit multi-employer plan which is financed through 
contributions that are determined by a percentage of 
the employee's earnings. There is currently no reliable 
measure and allocation of liabilities and assets in the 
plan. The plan is accounted for as a defined contri-
bution plan which means that the contributions are 
recognised as expenses with no provisions.

Defined benefit plans
In Norway, the Group operated a defined benefit 
pension plan. The plan is closed, and membership 
is restricted to those that where employed when 
the plan was closed. The level of benefits provided 
depends on the members’ length of service  and their 
salary in the final year leading up to retirement (30 
years of service result in 65% of pension eligable salary 
from 67 years of age and 60% from 75 years of age). 
Parts of the pension payment is paid by the National 
Insurance (Folketrygden) and is calculated based on 
the base amount (Folketrygdens grunnbeløp) which 
is endorsed yearly by the Norwegian Parliament. 
The plan and the plan assets are held with insurance 
companies and are governed by local regulations and 
practice.  The plan was terminated in 2020. 

The actuarial assumptions are based on assump-
tions of demographical factors normally used within 
the insurance industry.

The right-of-use asset is related to renting of office 
and manufacturing buildings at the Groups production 
facility in Lyngdal. The contract length is 10 years with 
an option to extend with 5 years. As the option to 
extend is considered reasonably likely to be exercised 
the option period is also included in the liability. The 

rent is subject to a yearly increase with a percentage 
of the increase the consumer price index. Expenses for 
short-term leases, low-value assets and variable lease 
payments are presented together in Note 8 as rental 
and leasing costs.
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NOK 1000     2021 2020

Service cost    – 327
Interest cost     – 301
Return on pension plan assets    – -241
Social security tax and administration cost   – 127
Defined pension plan termination    – -2 074

Net pension costs, defined benefit plans    – -1 560

Cost of defined contribution pension plans    3 738 3 210

Total pension costs    3 738 1 650

NOTE 24  ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

NOK 1000     2021 2020

Trade accounts payable   64 290 65 636
Net liability to customers   9 424 12 130
Liabilities related to employees including holiday pay   8 730 7 925
Government taxes, VAT, social security tax etc.   15 998 19 309
Accrued expenses   15 409 16 613

As at 31 December   113 851 121 613

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on between 30-45-day terms.

Currency exposure trade accounts payable and other current payables 

NOK 1000     2021 2020

NOK    80 729 87 801
GBP    9 278 6 017
SEK    5 766 7 146
EUR    18 234 19 251
USD    -193 1 291
Other currencies   36 107

As at 31 December   113 851 121 613
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NOTE 25  WORKING CAPITAL IN THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

      Balance Balance
NOK 1000    1 January 31 December Cash flow

2021

Inventories    80 375 83 176 -2 801
Trade receivables    32 171 54 267 -22 096
Other receivables    9 950 7 463 2 487
Accounts payable and other current liabilities     -121 613 -113 851 -7 762
FX on working capital items    – – -698

Change in working capital    883 31 055 -30 870

2020

Inventories    83 383 80 375 3 008
Trade receivables    20 489 32 171 -2 802
Other receivables    2 941 9 950 -7 010
Accounts payable and other current liabilities     -85 347 -121 613 27 385
FX on working capital items    – – 4 717

Change in working capital    21 465 883 25 298

NOTE 26  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The group supplies the construction industry with 
materials, it follows the business nature that the Group 
may receive customer claims. No specific provision has 
been booked as of 31 December 2021.

NOTE 27  PROVISIONS
The Group has provided KNOK 1 800 for guarantees and 
potential claims.

NOTE 28  EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
Fibo Group AS, together with its owner Fibo Holding AS, 
has run a process to evaluate strategic alternatives for 
the Fibo Group. Based on this evaluation, the Company 
and its owner have successfully completed a NOK 500m 
senior secured bond issue with a tenor of 3 years and a 
coupon rate of 3m NIBOR + 6.00% p.a. The Bond Issue 
attracted significant interest from the Nordics and 
Europe and was oversubscribed. Settlement date was 
28 January 2022 and the Bonds applied for listing on 
Oslo Børs. Net proceeds from the Bond Issue were partly 
applied towards the repayment of the existing NOK 
250m senior secured bond and partly allowing for distri-
bution to the shareholder. The extraordinary sharehold-
ers meeting on 4 February 2022 adopted distribution 

of dividends in an amount of NOK 255m and a NOK 3m 
share capital reduction.  Dividends of 255mNOK were 
declared and paid, from the 2020 profits on 14 February 
2022.

Due to the situation in Ukraine and the sanctions 
towards Russia, Fibo is monitoring its suppliers and 
customers to ensure that Fibo has no ongoing rela-
tionship with sanctioned parties. As a consequence 
all of Fibos sourcing has changed plywood suppliers 
located outside Russia. 
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Fibo Group AS Accounts
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Income statement

NOK 1000 Note 2021 2020

OPERATING INCOME AND OPERATING EXPENSES

Revenue 8  29 137   21 169 

Payroll and related costs 10  16 661   12 938 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 12  633   1 142 
Other operating expenses   18 750   5 900 

Total operating costs   36 043   19 980 

Operating profit   -6 906   1 189 

FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

Income from subsidiaries and other group entities   31 409   48 124 
Interest income from group entities   628   3 147 
Other interest income   148   2 
Other financial income   60   379 
Other interest expenses   20 705   21 967 
Other financial expenses   4 392   4 844 

Net financial income and expenses 11  7 147   24 841 

Net profit before income taxes   241   26 030 
Income tax expense 9  1 823   5 727 

Net profit after tax   -1 581   20 303 

Appropriations   
Profit (Loss) brougth forward   -1 581   20 303 

Total appropriations   -1 581   20 303 

F IBO GROUP AS
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Balance sheet

NOK 1000 Note 2021 2020

ASSETS

Fixed assets
Deferred tax assets 9  –     1 608 
Other intangible assets 12  289   918 

Total intangible assets   289   2 526 

Equipment and other movables   11   15 

Financial fixed assets
Investments in subsidiaries 2  448 881   448 881 
Other non-current receivables   –     197 

Total financial fixed assets   448 881   449 078 

Total fixed assets   449 182   451 619 

CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables on group entities 5  61 580   80 569 
Other receivables   2 565   4 954 
Cash and cash equivialents 3  28 919   1 908 

Total current assets   93 065   87 431 

Total assets   542 246   539 050 
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NOK 1000 Note 2021 2020

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Paid in capital   
Share capital 6,7  32 829   32 829 
Share premium account 6,7  271 100   271 100 

Total paid in capital   303 929   303 929 

Retained earnings 7  -17 678   -16 076 

Total retained earnings   -17 678   -16 076 

Total equity   286 251   287 853 

LIABILITIES

Provisions
Deferred tax liabilities 10  214  – 

Total Provisions   214  –   

Other long-term liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 4  –     245 183 

Total other long term liabilities  –     245 183 

Current liabilities   
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 4  249 037  –   
Accounts payable   1 903   2 557 
Current income taxes payable 10  50   610 
Public duties payable   851   362 
Other current liabilities   3 939   2 485 

Total current liabilities   255 781   6 014 

Total liabilities   255 995   251 197 

Total equity and liabilities   542 246   539 050  

FIBO GROUP AS

Oslo, 27 April 2022 
The Board of Directors of Fibo Group AS

Lars Patrik Nolåker 
Chairman of the board

Åsa Söderström Winberg 
Board member

Tanya Pedersen 
Board member

Eirik Hjeltnes Wabø 
Board member 

Eskil Gunderson Koffeld
Board member

Torbjørn D. Kvinnesland 
Board member 

Anders Carlson 
CEO/President
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Cash flow statement

NOK 1000 Note 2021 2020

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS

Net profit before income taxes   241   26 030 
Depreciation and amortization   633   1 142 
Amortization of capitalIzed bank fees   3 854   3 416 
Change in receivables   -6 818   -13 875 
Change in accounts payable   -654   1 761 
Change in other provisions   1 560   -3 271 

Net cash flow from operations   -1 184   15 203 

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS

Purchase of intangible assets 12  –     -504 
Interest received   776   3 149 
Group contribution received   48 124   3 494 

Net cashflow from investments   48 900   6 139 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING

Interest and other financial expenses paid   -20 705   -21 967 
Net cashflow from financing   -20 705   -21 967 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents   27 011   -625 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   1 908   2 533 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   28 919   1 908 
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Notes to the Fibo Group accounts

NOTE 1  ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The annual accounts have been prepared in compli-
ance with the Accounting Act and accounting principles 
generally accepted in Norway.

Fibo Group AS is the parent company of a sub-
group of Fibo Holding AS. The company's purpose is 
primarily to own shares in the subsidiaries. 

SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries and investments in associates are valued 
at cost in the company accounts.The cost price is 
increased when funds are added through capital 
increases or when group contributions are made to 
subsidiaries. Dividends received are initially taken to 
income. Dividends exceeding the portion of retained 
equity after the purchase are reflected as a reduction 
in purchase cost. Dividend/group contribution from 
subsidiaries are reflected in the same year as the sub-
sidiary makes a provision for the amount. The shares 
are booked at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value.

CLASSIFICATION OF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

Current assets and short-term liabilities includes 
items which are to be repaid within one year after the 
transaction date. Other items are classified as fixed 
assets/long-term liabilities. 

Current assets are appraised at the lowest of cost 
and fair value. Short-term liabilities are booked at 
nominal value at the time of loan uptake.

Fixed assets are appraised at cost or written down 
to fair value if impairment is not expected to be tem-
porary. Long-term liabilities are booked at nominal 
value at the time of loan uptake. First year's install-
ment on long-term liabilities and long-term receiva-
bles are, however, classified as short term liabilities 
and current assets.

DEBTORS

Trade debtors are recognised in the balance sheet 
after provision for bad debts. The bad debts provision 
is made on basis of an individual assessment of each 
debtor.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are valued 
at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. 
Exchange gains and losses relating to purchases in 
foreign currencies are recognised as financial income 
and financial expenses.

ASSET IMPAIRMENTS

Impairment tests are carried out if there is indication 
that the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the esti-
mated recoverable amount. The test is performed on 
the lowest level of fixed assets at which independent 
cashflows can be identified. If the carrying amount 
is higher than both the fair value less cost to sell and 
recoverable amount (net present value of future 
use/ownership), the asset is written down to the 
highest of fair value less cost to sell and the recover-
able amount. Previous impairment charges, except 
writedown of goodwill, are reversed in later periods if 
the conditions causing the write-down are no longer 
present.

RELATED PARTIES

A related party has significant influence on the 
Group's strategy or operational choices. Ability 
to influence the other party is normally achieved 
through ownership, participation in the group's 
decision-making bodies or management, or through 
special agreements.

Balances and transactions with subsidiaries 
have been eliminated in the consolidated financial 
statements and are not covered by the information 
provided in this note. Economic factors related to 
directors and senior management are described 
in Note 10. Other related party transactions are 
described in Note 5.

TAXES

The tax charge in the income statement includes both 
payable taxes for the period and changes in deferred 
tax. Deferred tax is calculated at relevant tax rates 
on the basis of the temporary differences which 
exist between accounting and tax values, and any 
carryforward losses for tax purposes at the year-end. 
Tax enhancing or tax reducing temporary differences, 
which are reversed or may be reversed in the same 
period, have been eliminated. The disclosure of 
deferred tax benefits on net tax reducing differences 
which have not been eliminated, and carryforward 
losses, is based on estimated future earnings. 
Deferred tax and tax benefits which may be shown in 
the balance sheet are presented net.

Tax reduction on group contributions given and 
tax on group contribution received, booked as a 
reduction of cost price or taken directly to equity, 
are booked directly against tax in the balance sheet 
(offset against payable taxes if the group contribution 
has affected payable taxes, and offset against deferred 
taxes if the group contribution has affected deferred 
taxes).

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The cash flow statement has been prepared according 
to the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents 
include cash and bank deposits.

FIBO GROUP AS
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NOTE 2  SUBSIDIARIES

     Equity Result Value 
    Ownership/ last year last year Balance 
NOK 1000 Location voting right  (100 %)  (100 %)   Sheet

Subsidiaries 
Fibo AS Lyngdal, Norway 100 %  94 527   57 362 424 190 
Fibo AB Stockholm, Sweden 100 %  5 466   322  1 045 
Fibo Uk Ltd Chesham, UK 100 %  23 810   3 728   23 622 
Fibosystem Finland OY Helsinki, Finland 100 %   480   365   24 
Fibo USA LLC  Delaware, USA 100 % –   –  –

Balance sheet value as at 31 December      448 881

NOTE 3  RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND OVERDRAFTS
The company has NOK 480 000 in bank deposits 
restricted for payment of taxes witheld for employees.

NOTE 4  LIABILITIES

SENIOR SECURED BOND

In 2019 the company issued Senior secured bonds. 
The bonds are repayable in April 2022. The Group has 
pledged all material assets including, but not limited 
to, shares in subsidiaries, intra-group loan assign-
ments, fixed assets, inventory, account receivables 
and bank accounts. 

The loans are subject to covenant restrictions 
and the most important being the ratio of net debt to 
EBITDA. 

Reference is made to the group accounts note 16.

    Nominal Equity Face Carrying 
NOK 1000 as at 31 December Currency Interest rate Maturity value amount

2021

Bond loan NOK Nibor + 7.75% 2022 250 000 249 037

Total interest-bearing loans and bank borrowings    250 000 249 037

2020

Bond loan NOK Nibor + 7.75% 2022 250 000 245 183

Total interest-bearing loans and bank borrowings    250 000 245 183
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NOTE 5  BALANCES WITH GROUP COMPANIES

NOK 1000  2021 2020

Receivable Fibo AS   55 716 75 835
Receivable other group entities   5 864 4 734

Total    61 580 80 569

NOTE 6  SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
The parent company Fibo Holding AS has its regis-
tered offices in Karenslyst Alle 53, 0279 Oslo.  The 
consolidated accounts for Fibo Holding AS, where Fibo 
Group AS are included, can be obtained by contacting 
Fibo Holding AS.

The share capital of NOK 32 829k  consists of 298 
449 933 shares with nominal value of NOK 0.11 each. 
The company has only one share class.

      Number of shares Ownership

Shareholders 
Fibo Holding AS    298 449 933 100.0 %

Total number of shares    298 449 933 100.0 %

NOTE 7  SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

     Share Retained 
NOK 1000  Share capital premium earnings Total

Movement in equity 

Equity as at 31 December 2019  32 829 271 100 -36 368 267 561
Net profit after tax    20 303 20 303
Translation gains and losses Swedish Branch   -11 -11

Equity as at 31 December 2020  32 829 271 100 -16 076 287 853
Net profit after tax    -1 581 -1 581
Translation gains and osses Swedish Branch   -20 -20

Equity as at 31 December 2021  32 829 271 100 -17 677 286 252

NOTE 8  REVENUE
Revenue is management fees and other fees recharged 
to group companies.  NOK 24 307k (2020: NOK 15 826k)
relates to Norway and NOK 4 830k (2020: NOK 5 343k) 
relates to subsidiaries outside Norway.

FIBO GROUP AS
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NOTE 9  TAXES

NOK 1000  2021 2020

Calculation of deferred tax/deferred tax benefit 
Temporary differences   974 4 793
Tax losses carried forward    – -12 103
Basis for deferred tax    974 -7 310
Deferred tax (asset) libility   214 -1 608

Deferred tax in the balance sheet   214 -1 608

Basis for income tax expense, changes in deferred tax and tax payable 
Net profit before income taxes   241 26 030
Basis for the tax expense for the year   241 26 030
Change in temporary differences   3 819 3 446
Utilisation of tax loss carry forward   -12 103 -29 476
Permanent differences   8 043 –

Basis for payable taxes in the income statement (tax loss carried forward)  – –

Taxable income (basis for payable taxes in the balance sheet)  – –

Components of the income tax expense
Tax on this year's result    3 5 727
Tax Swedish Branch   50 –
Effect of permanent differences   1 769 –

Tax expense    1 823 5 727

NOTE 10  PAYROLL EXPENSES, EMPLOYEES, REMUNERATION, LOANS TO EMPLOYEES, ETC.
The company had 5 full time employees in the fiscal year 2021.

NOK 1000  2021 2020

Payroll expenses 
Salaries   13 264 11 279
Social security fees   2 470 668
Pension expenses   331 235
Other remuneration      596 756

Total    16 661 12 938

No loans have been granted to the general manager, 
the board or other related parties.  See note 7 in the 
consolidated accounts for information on remuner-
ation to the CEO.  The company is required to have a 
pension plan, and the company's plan satisfies these 
legal requirements.

NOK 1000  2021 2020

Expensed audit fee (excluding VAT) 
Statutory audit   165 232
Other services   150 81

Total audit fees   315 313
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NOTE 11  OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSE

NOK 1000  2021 2020

Other financial income    60 379

Total other financial income    60 379

Amortization loan expenses   3 854 3 416
Other financial expenses   538 1 428

Total other financial expenses    4 392 4 844

NOTE 12  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOK 1000  2021 2020

Opening balance   918 1 552
Addition at cost      – 508
Depreciation during the year      -629 -1 142

Net carrying amount as at 31 December   289 918

Intangible assets consists of IT systems and software.

FIBO GROUP AS
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the General Meeting of Fibo Group AS

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Fibo Group AS, which comprise:

• The financial statements of the parent company Fibo Group AS (the Company), which comprise the 
balance sheet as at 31 December 2021, the income statement and cash flow statement for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, and

• The consolidated financial statements of Fibo Group AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated 
income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion:

• the financial statements comply with applicable statutory requirements,

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 
31 December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, and

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 
December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU.

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 

the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company 
and the Group as required by laws and regulations and the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 



53

To the best of our knowledge and belief, no prohibited non-audit services referred to in the Audit 
Regulation (537/2014) Article 5.1 have been provided. 

We have been the auditor of the Company for 7 years from the election by the general meeting of the 
shareholders on 21 April 2015 for the accounting year 2015. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The Group’s business activities are largely 
unchanged compared to last year. We have not identified regulatory changes, transactions or other 
events that qualified as new key audit matters. Provision for due customer bonuses and market 

support has the same characteristics and risks this year as the previous year and consequently has 
been an area of focus also for the 2021 audit.   

Key Audit Matter 

Provision for customer bonus and market 
support 

The Group operates in the building materials 
sector where investors and suppliers focus on 
sales and volume. In this sector  it is common to 
use various loyalty schemes.   

Agreements on customer bonuses and market 
support are prepared individually for each 
individual customer relation and contain various 
stipulations, including the time and method of 
settlement, affect the magnitude of the customer 
bonus and market support provision.  

We focused on the provision for customer bonus 
and market support because the calculation of 
the provisions at the balance sheet date may 
be complex due to the various stipulations 
and because the determination of underlying 
assumptions can be technically demanding. In 
addition, the estimated total amount relating 
to customer bonuses and market support 
constitutes significant amounts in the annual 
accounts.  

Reference is made to note 2.14 where 
management explain the accounting of due 
customer bonuses and market support.  

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

We discussed the principles for calculating and 
allocating customer bonuses and market support 
with management, and evaluated whether these 
were in line with accounting regulations.  

We obtained an understanding of the process 
for calculating and recording provisions for 
customer bonus and market support and tested 
whether relevant internal control activities had 
been implemented.  

To test whether customer bonuses and market 
support were accurately calculated, we reviewed 
whether management’s calculation was in 
accordance with the stipulations in customer 
agreements. By reading through the agreements, 
we tested whether the stipulations in the 
agreements were appropriately reflected in the 
calculations of customer bonus and market 
support. The basis for the calculations was 
compared to invoiced sales per customer. Our 
inspections did not reveal material discrepancies.  

We considered whether the disclosures related 
to customer bonuses appropriately reflected the 
accounting principles and in accordance with 
IFRS requirements.  

Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Other information

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (management) are responsible for the information 
in the Board of Directors’ report and the other information accompanying the financial statements. 
The other information comprises information in the annual report, but does not include the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the information in the Board of Directors’ report nor the other information accompanying the 
financial statements. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Board of 
Directors’ report and the other information accompanying the financial statements. The purpose 
is to consider if there is material inconsistency between the Board of Directors’ report and the 
other information accompanying the financial statements and the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or whether the Board of Directors’ report and the other information 
accompanying the financial statements otherwise appears to be materially misstated. We are required 
to report if there is a material misstatement in the Board of Directors’ report or the other information 
accompanying the financial statements. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Based on our knowledge obtained in the audit, it is our opinion that the Board of Directors’ report 

• is consistent with the financial statements and

• contains the information required by applicable legal requirements.

Our opinion on the Board of Director’s report applies correspondingly to the statements on Corporate 
Governance and Corporate Social Responsibility. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, and for the preparation and true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the EU, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern. The financial statements of the Company use the going concern basis of accounting insofar 
as it is not likely that the enterprise will cease operations. The consolidated financial statements of the 
Group use the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's or the Group's internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting, 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company and the Group's ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company and 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves a true and fair view.

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Oslo, 27 April 2022
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS

Jone Bauge
State Authorised Public Accountant
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Corporate Governance

BOARD OF DIREC TORS

The Board of Directors of the Company shall annually 
revise and oversee the overall strategy and business 
plan for the Company and approve the annual budget 
for the next year. The Board of Directors has decided 
not to establish a separate audit committee, so that the 
entire Board of Directors shall perform the tasks of the 
audit committee of the Company. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors:

• Decide on general business and management  
principles of the Company.

• Decide on strategy and risk policies of the Company.

• Supervise the performance of the Company, the 
Executive Management and secure the proper  
organization of the Company.

• Review the Company’s financial position, capital 
resources and reporting on financials and perfor-
mance.

• Appoint the CEO.

The Board of Directors will convene at least six times 
per year.

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

The Executive Management is responsible for the 
Company’s day-to-day management of the Company in 
accordance with the instructions provided by the Board 
of Directors, among others comprising:

• Manage the Company’s business and operations  
and develop strategies to be approved by the  
Board of Directors.

• Implement the strategy for the Company and  
execute on investments and divestments.

• Develop the organizational structure of the  
Company and allocate resources.

• Drive and monitor the performance of the Company.

• Prepare internal and external financial reporting.

• Establish internal policies and procedures for relevant 
topics, such as finance, IT etc.

• Oversee risk management and internal control.

• Report to the Board of Directors.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND  
INTERNAL CONTROL

The framework for the internal control and risk manage-
ment of the Company is structured with the aim to allow 
the business to be run in a way that is healthy, proper 
and consistent with the following objectives:

(i) Internal control: to assure that all company policies 
and standards are up to date, communicated and 
implemented.

(ii) Risk management: to identify and manage essential 
risks related to the execution of the Company’s strategy 
and operations, and to demonstrate that the Company 
actively manages risks in order to deliver the best 
possible service to customers, protect the value of the 
business, safeguard future earnings and reduce costs 
associated with risk events.

The responsibility for the quality and appropri-
ateness of the Company’s internal control and risk 
management rests with the Board of Directors, while 
the Executive Management is responsible for identi-
fying and analyzing material risks, and for the general 
development of the system. The Executive Management 
shall further provide the Board of Directors with reports 
on exposures and the utilization of the framework on a 
continuous basis.

The Company’s corporate governance is based on the Company’s Articles of 
Association and the Company’s values as resolved by the Board of Directors with 
the aim to realize the Company’s long-term goals, and to ensure progress and 
control. Through sound corporate governance, the Company aims to build trust 
and ensure sustainable operation and financing of its business.



Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)

Fibo is the leading global manufacturer of high-quality 
wet room wall systems, which is an environmentally 
friendly, design versatile, functional and cost-efficient 
substitute to traditional ceramic tiles. The product range 
includes complete wet room wall systems, comprising 
fully waterproof wall panels and related installation 
accessories, as well as kitchen boards and countertops. 

Plywood and laminate constitute the main raw 
materials and are sourced from suppliers in Asia, Latin 
America, and Europe, while the end-product is pro-
duced at Fibo’s factory in Lyngdal, Norway. The company 
is headquartered in Oslo.

The final products are sold to customers across new 
construction, renovation, and prefab housing markets 
in Europe, New Zealand, Australia and North America. 
Fibo is active across different distribution channels, with 
key customers being builders’ merchants, DIY chains 
and direct B2B sales, that in turn mainly sell to installers 
within residential and non-residential construction.

Our historic strong focus on ESG, initiated by a clear tone from the top on the 
value of responsible investing, has ensured that ESG is deeply integrated into our 
culture and processes. 

Fibo’s annual ESG report is included in the annual ESG report from our majority owner FSN Capital, 
which is published on www.fsncapital.com
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http://www.fsncapital.com


59fiboinvestor.com

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)

Fibo’s potential ESG impacts based on its sector, jurisdictions, and operations 

Topics of higher importance in bold

RAW MATERIALS & SUPPLIERS

•  Energy consumption and emissions in 
raw material extraction 

•  Hazardous waste from chemical use
•  Biodiversity impact from raw mate-

rial sourcing and around production 
sites

•  GHG emissions from production of 
materials such as plywood

•  Labour and human rights
•  Workers’ health and safety
•  Local community engagement and job 

creation
•  Material certificates and supplier 

management
•  Supply chain transparency

OWN OPERATIONS

•  Climate impact from production 
(energy use, fuel type)

•  Climate impact of transport 
•  Industrial chemical handling, storage 

and treatment
•  Resource efficiency and waste  

management
•  Chemicals used in production  

(e.g., glue)
•  Labour and human rights
•  Workers’ health and safety
•  Work-life balance
•  Business ethics

MANAGEMENT & MARKETING

•  Sustainable and circular design and 
packaging

•  Working conditions and culture
•  Diversity and inclusion
•  Local community engagement and job 

creation
•  Anti-corruption and integrity
•  Anti-competitive behaviour reporting
•  Whistleblowing mechanisms

CUSTOMERS & END-USERS

•  Product longevity
•  Product take-back, recycling and 

reuse
•  Climate impact of shipping and deliv-

ery
•  Product quality and safety 
•  Selling practices and product labelling
•  Contract conditions for customers

External factors impacting Fibo based on its sector, jurisdictions, and operations

+ Demand for affordable, alternative products with lower GHG foot-
print as a means for climate change mitigation

+ Demand for products produced in socially sustainable ways, with 
HSE practices and fair wages

– Concerns for biodiversity and climate impact of sourcing trees
– Immature market for reuse and recycling at end of life of products

Initial EU taxonomy assessment

KEY ACTIVITIES

C16.21 — Manufacture of veneer sheets and wood-based panels

POTENTIAL CONTRIBUTION TO ENVIRONMENTAL OBJECTIVE

•  Climate change mitigation (enabling)
•  Climate change adaptation
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Company ESG performance 2021

Strategic Area KPIs Long Term Target Performance 2021 Annual Target 2022

1. 
Sustainable
Products

 • 1a. Glue – formalde-
hyde reduction

 • 1b. Sustainable 
main raw materials 
(PEFC / FSC %)

 • 1c. Circular design

 • 1a. Formaldehyde 
free products 

 • 1b. 100% PEFC/FSC
certified 

 • 1c. Circular use of 
product at end of life

 • 1a. Fibo is well below REACH threshold for 
chemicals, and now testing biobased alterna-
tives to  formaldehyde-based glue 

 •
 • 1c. Participate in “Tre på Agder,” an initiative 

1b. PEFC / FSC certified

to develop an industry cluster, share common 
knowledge and add value for business

 • 1a. Continued testing and involve 
suppliers

 •
 • 1c. Data collection in participating 

1b. PEFC / FSC re-certification

companies and sharing of 
knowledge to brainstorm circular 
solutions

2. 
Climate Impact 

 • 2a. Electricity 
usage (kwh/m 2)

 • 2b. % Renewable 
energy usage

 • 2c. GHG emissions
 • 2d. Environmental 

management 
system

 • 2a. 10-15% reduction
 • 2b. 100%
 • 2c. Become Net Zero
 • 2d. ISO 14001

certification 

 • 2a. Reduced energy usage by 1.5%,  
Energy usage (kwh/m2) 
2021: 2.02
2020: 2.05
2019: 2.06
2018: 2.07
2017: 2.36

 • 2b. 0%
 • 2c. Reported complete scope 1-3 emissions

2d. Achieved ISO 14001 certification •

 • 2a. Optimisation of boiler to reduce 
electricity usage by 1.5%

 •
electricity and identify ways to 
2b. Purchase 100% green certified

further reduce usage
 • 2c. Optimisation of boiler to 

reduce GHG. Testing of alternative 
transport in Northern-Norway
2d. Keep ISO 14001 certification •

3. 
Waste
Management 

 • 3a. Product Waste 
(% / produced m 2)

 • 3b. Residual waste 
(kg/m 2 produced)

 • 3a. =<4%   
 • 3b. 0.0075 kg/m2

 • 3a. Waste (% of produced m2)
2021: 4.17
2020: 4.70
2019: 5.00
2018: 5.00
2017: 5.20

 • 3b. 0.012 kg/m2

Variable quality of of raw materials affects the 
result.

 • 3a. Focus on process / supplier 
improvement

 • 3b. Introduce new waste fractions 
to increase recirculation 

4.  
Satisfied 
employees
that are
passionate
for Fibo   

 • 4a. Employee NPS
 • 4b. Turnover %
 • 4c. Sick leave %
 • 4d. Gender 

diversity

 • 4a. 50%
 • 4b. Below 2%
 • 4c. Below 1.5% (Short 

term)
 • 4d. Increase women 

% total, 25% in 
production

 • 4a. eNPS score
2021: 50
2020: 52
2019: 21
2018: 13
2017: 11

 • 4b. 0.85%
 • 4c. Short term sick leave  

2021: 1.7 
2020: 1.3
2019: 2.2

 • 4d. 25% Women, 19% in production

 • 4a. Implement action plan to 
increase eNPS

 • 4b. Below 2%
 • 4c. 1.5% 
 • 4d. Keep current level (no new 

hiring planned)

5. 
Ethical
business
behaviour  

 • 5a. Supply chain 
management

 • 5b. Training of 
employees 

 • 5c. Fair working 
conditions

 • 5d. Whistleblower

 • 5a. Best in class 
supply chain mgmt.

 • 5b. All key employees 
participate in 
governance training

 • 5c. Prevent social 
dumping practice

 • 5d. Included in 
HRM system, and 
employees informed

 • 5a. Implemented Business Partner Management 
Manual (includes reporting procedures, supplier
and customer DD, training of employees); 
Screened all suppliers in sanctions lists

 • 5b. CoC training with all new employees
 • 5c. Participation in Fair Play Agder. 

Management and union represented
 • 5d. Established through 3rd party provider. 

Included in new HRM system

 • 5a. Further formalise and strengthen
supply chain management

 • 5b. Publish e-learning in new HRM 
system

 • 5c. Continue membership in 
Fair Play Agder Working/salary 
conditions included in CoC signed 
by suppliers

 • 5d. Regular information to all 
employees

Company ESG performance 2021

Reduce resource consumption by 
developing circular product attributes 
and minimizing waste in production 
process (12.5).

Contribute to sustainable forest management (15.2) 
through cooperation with raw material suppliers.

Protect workers’ health and safety in Fibo’s 
production sites (8.8), and promote an inclusive 
work environment (8.5 and 8.6)

Increase resource efficiency in own production
processes by adopting clean and environmentally
sound technologies (9.4).

2.50 %

6.00 %

Fibo has selected the following SDGs to which it has an opportunity to contribute:

100

2.5%

Fibo has selected the following SDGs to which it has an opportunity to contribute:
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The building and construction industry accounts for almost 
40% of global CO2 emissions. Fibo is a highly attractive 
alternative to ceramic tiles for governments, businesses, 
developers and home owners who are looking to cut their CO2 
construction related emissions.

61

https://fiboinvestor.com


62   FIBO  Annual Report 2021

Alternative Performance Meassures (APM)

Net Sales 
Corresponds to the term “Revenue” 
and “Total Revenue.”

Gross Margin 
Total revenue minus Raw Materials 
and consumables used, divided on 
Total Revenue.

EBITDA
Earnings before interest, tax, depreci-
ations and amortization. 

Gross Debt 
Interest bearing debt (excluding 
pensions and leasing debts).

Net Debt
Interest bearing debt (excluding pen-
sion and leasing debts) minus cash 
and cash equivalents.
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Alternative Performance Meassures (APM)

https://www.kingdesign.no
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For more information please contact
 
Per Richard Olsen
pol@fibosystem.com 
fiboinvestor.com

Fibo Group AS
Karenslyst Allé 53 
0279 Oslo 
Norway

mailto:mailto:pol%40fibosystem.com?subject=Contact%20from%20Fibo%20Annual%20Report%202020
https://www.fiboinvestor.com
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Årsberetning og Årsregnskap for Fibo AS 2020 

__________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 
VIRKSOMHETENS ART 

 

Fibo AS er et heleiet datterselskap av Fibo Group AS. Fibo AS produserer og markedsfører 

baderomspaneler og benkeplater samt har direktesalg av beslektede produkter. Produktene 

selges via byggevarekjedene i Norge, og til industrien og maritim sektor direkte. I utlandet 

selges produktene via distributører eller direkte. Selskapets hovedkontor ligger i Lyngdal 

kommune i Vest-Agder. Selskapet er ISO-9001 sertifisert. 

 

FORTSATT DRIFT 

 

Forutsetningen for fortsatt drift er tilstede, og årsregnskapet er satt opp under denne 

forutsetningen. Selskapet har positiv egenkapital og markedsutsiktene er gode.  

 

COVID-19 

 

  Selv om de økonomiske resultatene har fortsatt å styrke seg gjennom året, har selskapet blitt 

  negativt påvirket av Covid-19. Dette har i hovedsak slått ut i svakere salg i UK på grunn av  

            nedstengingen og en relativ sett fortsatt svak norsk valuta.  

 

ARBEIDSMILJØ / PERSONALE 

 

Pr. 31.12.2020 hadde selskapet 117 ansatte.   

  Sykefraværet for 2020 var på 4,7 %, noe som er en nedgang fra 6,7 % i 2019.  

 

Det har vært 1 skade med fravær i 2020. Denne var ikke av alvorlig art. Rutiner er gjennomgått 

og forbedret for å hindre tilsvarende hendelser.  

            Det interne arbeidsmiljøet anses å være bra. 

 

            Den 30.06.2020 opphørte ytelsesbasert pensjonsordning og de ansatte er fra 1.7.2020 innmeldt i 

            innskuddsbasert pensjonsordning.  

 

Det har også gjennom 2020 vært jobbet med selskapets forbedringssystem Fibo Lean som går på 

involvering og forbedring av arbeidsprosessene ved bedriften. Systemet gjør at den enkelte 

ansatte får mer innvirkning på sin egen arbeidssituasjon gjennom et tydelig forbedringsfokus.  

 

LIKESTILLING 

  

Av totalt antall ansatte på 117 personer, er 26 kvinner. Bedriften praktiserer lik lønn for likt 

arbeid. Selskapets styre består av 4 menn og 1 kvinne.  

 

            DISKRIMINERING 

 

Styret mener at det ikke gjøres forskjeller på ansatte, eller ved ansettelse, på grunn av 

etnisitet, nasjonal opprinnelse, avstamning, hudfarge, språk, religion eller livssyn. 

 

Det er ikke planlagt eller iverksatt spesielle tiltak med hensyn på diskriminering. 

Stieng,Herm
an

05/19/2022 13:54:49



Årsberetning og Årsregnskap for Fibo AS 2020 

__________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

           YTRE MILJØ 

 

Selskapet har egen utslippstillatelse. Utslipp til luft og vann ligger innenfor SFT’s godkjente 

rammer. Selskapet kildesorterer avfall og leverer dette til godkjent mottak. Treavfall blir 

brukt i selskapets biobrenselsanlegg og omdannet til varme. Vaskevann fra limprosessen blir 

renset, og avfall fra dette blir levert til godkjent deponi. Investeringen som er gjennomført i 

nytt produksjonsutstyr vil gi et positivt bidrag til miljøet bl.a. gjennom en betydelig 

reduksjon av strømforbruket pr. produsert kvm.                                           

 

FINANSIELL RISIKO 

 

Markedsrisiko 

Fibo AS har en god spredning i sine kunder. Den største enkeltkunden utgjør ca. 16 % av 

omsetningen. Ut fra produktspekter og spredning i salg til kunder vurderes markedsrisikoen til å 

være liten.  Fibo AS har en eksportandel på ca. 30 % men kjøper også en betydelig del av sine 

varer i utenlandsvaluta. Varekjøp under regnskaps året 2020 var på ca 524 Mnok. Herav har 

Euro en andel på ca 46% og USD har en andel på 11%. Resterende i valuta NOK. 

Selskapet har også egen valutakonto for EURO og USD for å minimere valutasvingninger. 

Risikoen ansees å være lav.  

 

Utvikling i valutakurser innebærer både direkte og indirekte en økonomisk risiko for selskapet. 

For å minimere valutarisikoen kjøpes det valuta jevnlig for å unngå store svingninger og tap. 

Under året hadde selskapet en agiogevinst på ca 6Mnok og i 2019 var det en agiogevinst på  

ca 5Mnok. Selskapet hadde per 31.12.20 ingen aktive sikringsposisjoner. 

 

Kredittrisiko 

Salget er organisert på en slik måte at kredittrisikoen anses å være lav sett i forhold til den 

finansielle styrken til Fibo AS.  Dette skyldes at selskapets største kunder i de fleste tilfeller har 

interne sikringer av det enkelte kjedemedlem. I tillegg har Fibo AS inngått avtale om factoring 

der kjøper av fordringene overtar kredittrisikoen. Tap på fordringer i 2020 var på kr. 133.370,-. 

 

Renterisiko 

Selskapet har pr. 31.12.20 ingen langsiktig ekstern rentebærende gjeld. En økning i det generelle 

rentenivået anses i liten grad påvirke bedriftens inntjening.  

 

Likviditetsrisiko 

Likviditeten til selskapet ansees å være god.  Det er ikke gjort tiltak i 2020 som endrer på denne. 

 

Råvarerisiko 

Selskapet har god tilgang på nødvendige råvarer for produksjon av selskapets varer.  

 

KAPITALFORHOLD OG INVESTERINGER 

 

Fibo AS har en positiv kontantstrøm fra driften på 68,1 mill kr. Netto kontantstrøm fra 

investeringsaktiviteter var negativ med 3,6 mill kr og netto kontantstrøm fra 

finansieringsaktiviteter var negativ med 20,7 mill kr der endring i konsernmellomværende utgjør 

den største posten. Fibo AS har en tilfredsstillende likviditetssituasjon.   
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Driftsinntekte11e ble 629� l mill !(1�. r 2020 n1ot 578.,4 milf kr. i 2019. 0·111setningen i Norge 
Lttgjorcie 70 ?/4 av totalon1semir1gen,. Ho,leddelen- av eksportsalget skjer gjennon1 
søsterselskape11e Fibo AB i Sverige og Fibo lJK J...,td. i Et1glat1d. 

Selskapet ill<l< et overskudd på 35,9 mill kr 111.ot e't oversk.udd på J 7 111ill k1· i 2019. 

Sarntlige aksjer i selskapet eies av Fibo Grot1p AS. Pr. 31.12 .. 2020 •;lar den l1okf,�rte 
ege11kapitala·ndele11 på 26 11/o. mot 33 % året før. 
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ÅRSREGNSKAP

2020

FIBO AS

(org.nr. NO 964 193 991)
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(Alle tall i 1000) Noter 2020 2019

Driftsinntekter 1 629 068 578 098

Annen driftsinntekt 0 301

Sum driftsinntekter 629 068 578 399

Forbruk av råvarer og innkjøpte handelsvarer 2 345 778 323 772

Endring beholdning varer i arbeid/ferdigvarer 1 679 728

Lønnskostnad 3,4 73 381 80 707

Øvrige driftskostnader 3 138 566 128 239

Ordinære avskrivninger 6 15 736 15 153

Avskrivning immaterielle eiendeler 7 127 122

Tap på fordringer 1 133 -294

Sum driftskostnader 576 400 548 426

Driftsresultat 52 668 29 973

 

Renteinntekter 111 429

Annen finansinntekt 21 632 9 230

Rentekostnader -12 658 -13 894

Annen finanskostnad -15 661 -3 895

Sum finansposter 12 -6 577 -8 129

Ordinært resultat før skattekostnad 46 091 21 844

Skattekostnad på ordinært resultat 5 10 232 4 782

ÅRETS RESULTAT 35 859 17 062

Disponeringer

Avgitt konsernbidrag (etter skatt) 10 39 096 2 725

Overført til annen egenkapital 10 0 14 337

Overført fra annen egenkapital 10 -3 237 0

Sum disponeringer 35 859 17 062

FIBO AS

RESULTATREGNSKAP 2020
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(Alle tall i 1000) Noter 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

ANLEGGSMIDLER

Immaterielle verdier

Forskning og Utvikling 7 137 264

Sum immaterielle verdier 137 264

Varige driftsmidler

Maskiner og inventar 6,8 91 624 103 793

Sum varige driftsmidler 91 624 103 793

Finansielle anleggsmidler

Investeringer i aksjer og andeler 13 16 16

Sum finansielle anleggsmidler 16 16

Sum anleggsmidler 91 776 104 073

OMLØPSMIDLER

Varer 2,8 68 795 71 623

Kundefordringer 8 3 543 3 251

Andre fordringer 11 273 3 528

Fordringer på konsernselskaper 8 16 684 11 233

Sum fordringer 31 500 18 012

Bankinnskudd, kontanter og lignende 8,9 58 806 14 982

Sum omløpsmidler 159 101 104 617

SUM EIENDELER 250 877 208 690

 

FIBO AS

BALANSE PR. 31.12.2020
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Regnskapsprinsipper

Årsregnskapet er satt opp i samsvar med regnskapsloven og god regnskapsskikk.

Generelt

Fibo AS er datterselskap til Fibo Group AS, c/o Regus Business Centre, 0279 Oslo.

Konsernregnskapet utleveres på samme adresse. Fibo AS er ikke morselskap i underkonsern. 

Driftsinntekter

Garantiarbeider/reklamasjoner

Klassifisering og vurdering av balanseposter

Omløpsmidler og kortsiktig gjeld omfatter poster som forfaller til betaling innen ett år etter anskaffelsestidspunkt, 

samt poster som knytter seg til varekretsløpet. Øvrige poster er klassifisert som anleggsmiddel/langsiktig gjeld.

Omløpsmidler vurderes til laveste av anskaffelseskost og virkelig verdi. 

Kortsiktig gjeld balanseføres til nominelt beløp på etableringstidspunktet.

Kundefordringer er i balansen ført opp til pålydende verdi med fradrag for avsetning for påregnelig tap.

Avsetning til tap er gjort på grunnlag av individuell vurdering av fordringene og en tilleggsavsetning

som skal dekke øvrig påregnelig tapsrisiko. 

Lager av råvarer er oppført til anskaffelseskost. Halvfabrikata og ferdigvarer er vurdert til full tilvirkningskost.  

Det er gjort fradrag for ukurans.

Valuta

Kundefordringer og leverandørgjeld i utenlandsk valuta er bokført til kurs 31.12.2020.

Valutakursrisiko og renterisiko

Varige driftsmidler og avskrivninger

Regnskapet er ført etter de samme prinsipper som for årsregnskapet i 2019.

Varige driftsmidler balanseføres og avskrives lineært til restverdi over driftsmidlenes forventede utnyttbare 

levetid dersom de har en kostpris som overstiger kr 15 000. Driftsmidlenes utnyttbare levetid, samt restverdi, 

vurderes på hver balansedag og nedskrives hvis nødvendig. Vedlikehold av driftsmidler kostnadsføres løpende 

under driftskostnader. Påkostninger eller forbedringer tillegges driftsmidlets kostpris og avskrives i takt med 

driftsmidlet. Skillet mellom vedlikehold og påkostning/forbedring regnes i forhold til driftsmidlets stand ved 

kjøp av driftsmidlet.

Immaterielle verdier

Utgifter til egen forskning og utvikling og andre immatereielle eiendeler balanseføres i den utstrekning 

kriteriene for balanseføring er oppfylt. Dette innebærer at slike utgifter balanseføres når det anses som 

sannsynlig at de fremtidige økonomiske fordelene knyttet til eiendelen vil tilflyte selskapet og anskaffelseskost 

for eiendelen kan måles pålitelig. Balanseført forskning og utvikling og andre immaterielle eiendeler avskrives 

lineært over forventet levetid.

Selskapet benytter ulike finansielle instrumenter i styringen av rente- og valutaeksponeringen. Inntekter og kostnader 

som oppstår på inngåtte avtaler som er definert som sikringsforretninger, periodiseres og klassifiseres på samme måte 

som de underliggende balansepostene. Sikringsforretninger som er gjort for å sikre fremtidige kontantstrømmer, 

vurderes i sammenheng med disse. 

Valuta- og rentesikringsforretninger som for regnskapsmessig formål ikke klassifiseres som sikring, verdsettes til 

markedsverdi og resultatføres som finansinntekt eller -kostnad.

Inntektsføring ved salg av varer skjer på leveringstidspunktet. Salgsinntekter presenteres etter fradrag for alle rabatter, 

bonuser og merverdiavgift. 

Garantiarbeider/reklamasjoner knyttet til avsluttede salg vurderes til antatt kostnad for slikt arbeid. Estimatet beregnes 

med utgangspunkt i historiske tall for garantiarbeider, men korrigert for forventet avvik på grunn av for eksempel endring i 

kvalitetssikringsrutiner og endring i produktspekter. Avsetningen føres opp under "Annen kortsiktig gjeld", og endringen i 

avsetningen kostnadsføres. 
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Pensjoner

Selskapet har fra 1.7.2020 en innskuddsbasert pensjonsordning for alle ansatte.Pensjonsordningen er generelt

finansiert gjennom innbetalinger.

Skatt

Skattekostnaden i resultatregnskapet omfatter både periodens betalbare skatt og endring i utsatt skatt. 

Utsatt skatt er beregnet med 22 % på grunnlag av de midlertidige forskjeller som eksisterer mellom 

regnskapsmessige og skattemessige verdier, samt ligningsmessig underskudd til fremføring ved utgangen av 

regnskapsåret. Skatteøkende og skattereduserende midlertidige forskjeller som reverserer eller kan reversere

 i samme periode er utlignet og nettoført. 

Kontantstrømoppstilling

Kontantstrømoppstillingen utarbeides etter den indirekte metoden. Kontanter og kontantekvivalenter 

omfatter kontanter, bankinnskudd og andre kortsiktige, likvide plasseringer som umiddelbart og med 

uvesentlig kursrisiko kan konverteres til kjente kontantbeløp og med gjenværende løpetid mindre enn tre 

måneder fra anskaffelsesdato.
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Note 1     Driftsinntekter 

(Alle tall i 1000)

Geografisk fordeling 2020 2019

Norge 447 263 405 901

Storbritannia 40 369 55 194

Øvrige markeder 141 436 117 003

Sum 629 068 578 098

Note 2     Varer 

(Alle tall i 1000)

Varelager 2020 2019

Lager av råvarer og handelsvarer 39 502 54 453

Lager av varer under tilvirkning 1 912 -5 

Lager egentilvirkede ferdigvarer 25 441 15 337

Lager driftsmateriell 1 939 1 838

Sum 68 795 71 623

Det er gjort fradrag for ukurans i varebeholdningene. 

Det er i 2020 gjort avsetning til ukurans med kr. 1.121.839. Tilsvarende for 2019 var kr. 328.766.

Note 3     Lønnskostnader, antall ansatte, godtgjørelser, lån til ansatte mm. 

(Alle tall i 1000)

Lønnskostnader 2020 2019

Lønninger 60 308 64 687

Arbeidsgiveravgift 9 765 9 068

Pensjonskostnader 1 633 4 102

Andre ytelser 1 675 2 850

Sum 73 381 80 707

2020 2019

Antall sysselsatte årsverk pr. årslutt 117 107
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Aksjer/andeler og rettigheter til aksjer/andeler som eies av:

Daglig leder 0 0

Ytelser til ledende personer Daglig leder Styret

Samlet kostnadsført godtgjørelse 0 0

Daglig leder er ansatt i Fibo Group AS og mottar ingen godtjørelse fra Fibo AS. 

Det er ikke gitt lån eller stilt sikkerhet til daglig leder eller leder for styret. Det er heller ikke gitt lån til 

ansatte, aksjeeiere og styremedlemmer. Det er ikke forpliktelser ved opphør eller endring av 

ansettelsesforhold til daglig leder eller leder for styret, og det er ikke avtaler om bonuser eller lignende.

Revisjonshonorar:

2020 2019

Kostnadsført godtgjørelse til revisor fordeler seg slik:

Lovpålagt revisjon (inkl. Teknisk bistand med årsregnskap) 165 192

Annen bistand 40 0

Sum godtgjørelse til revisor 205 192
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Note 4      Pensjonskostnader og pensjonsforpliktelser

(Alle tall i 1000)

Fibo AS har avviklet ytelsesbasert pensjonsordning 30.6. 2020 og fra 1.7.2020 er pensjonsordningen

innskuddsbasert for sine ansatte.

Ved verdsettelse av pensjonsmidlene ved regnskapsavslutningen 2019 ble estimert verdi benyttet.

Aktuar har beregnet verdien pr 30.06.2020 som er opphørsdatoen for den gamle pensjonsordningen.

 1.1-30.6.2020 2019

Diskonteringssats 1,70 % 1,80 %

Forventet avkastning på pensjonsmidlene 1,70 % 1,80 %

Lønnsregulering 2,25 % 2,25 %

G-regulering / inflasjon 2,00 % 2,00 %

Pensjonsregulering 0,50 % 0,70 %

Netto periodisert pensjonskostnad 1.1-30.6.2020 2019

Nåverdi av årets pensjonsopptjening 327 586

Rentekostnad av pensjonsforpliktelsen 61 77

Administrasjonskostnader 68 65

Endring avsetning ny forpliktelse 0 0

Arbeidsgiveravgift 59 103

Netto periodisert pensjonskostnad 515 831

Avstemming av pensjonsordningenes finansierte status mot beløp i selskapets balanse:

1.1-30.6.2020 31.12.2019

Estimerte pensjonsforpliktelser 37 721 35 078

Estimerte pensjonsmidler -30 584 -29 579

Resultatført avkortning/opphør -7 137 0  

Netto pensjonsforpliktelse (pensjonsmidler) 0 5 499

Obligatorisk tjenestepensjon

Selskapet har en tjenestepensjons-ordning etter lov om obligatorisk tjenestepensjon. 

Pensjonsordningen oppfyller kravene etter loven. 

2020 2019

Kostnadsført innskuddspensjon 1 099                  3 209               

Pensjonsforpliktelse
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Note 5     Skatt

(Alle tall i 1000)

Årets skattekostnad fordeler seg på: 2020 2019

Betalbar skatt 0 0

Skatt av pensjon ført direkte mot egenkapital 0 903

Kostnadsføring av skatt fra fjoråret 3 11

Skatt av konsernbidrag 11 027 769

Endring i utsatt skatt/-skattefordel -798 3 100

Sum skattekostnad 10 232 4 782

Beregning av årets skattegrunnlag:

Resultat før skattekostnad 46 091 21 844

Permanente forskjeller   186 -159

Pensjon ført direkte mot egenkapital 421 -4 102

Anvendelse av framførbart underskudd 0 -10 101

Endring i midlertidige forskjeller 3 425 -3 988

Konsernbidrag -50 124 -3 494

Årets skattegrunnlag 0 0

Oversikt over midlertidige forskjeller:

Fordringer -1 205 -281

Varer -1 129 598

Anleggsmidler 31 378 33 166

Gevinst og tapskonto 24 30

Avsetning etter god regnskapsskikk -2 800 -300

Pensjoner -2 185 -5 499

Andre forskjeller -205 0

Sum 23 878 27 714

Fradrag for fremførbart underskudd og avskårne renter til fremføring -1 755 -1 963

Sum 22 124 25 750

Skattesats 22 % 22 %

Utsatt skatt (skattefordel) 4 866 5 665
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Note 6     Anleggsmidler, avskrivninger

(Alle tall i 1000)

Maskiner Driftsløsøre, Anlegg i Totalt

og anlegg inventar, kontorm. arbeid

Kostpris 01.01 219 811 8 423 5 043 233 278

Årets tilgang 2 777 0 789 3 566

Årets avganger 0 0 0 0

Kostpris 31.12 222 588 8 423 5 832 236 844

Akk. avskrivning 01.01 121 809 7 675 0 129 485

Årets avskrivning 14 929 807 0 15 736

Avgang avskrivning 0 0 0 0

Akk. avskrivning 31.12 136 738 8 482 0 145 221

Netto bokført 01.01 98 002 748 5 043 103 793

Netto bokført 31.12 85 850 -59 5 832 91 624

Anleggsmidler avskrives over forventet økonomisk levetid som er satt til:

Transportmidler: 5 - 10 år

Maskiner og inventar: 5 - 15 år

Selskapet har inngått leiekontrakter for leie av driftsløsøre, maskiner, inventar, kontormaskiner med en

samlet årlig leie på ca. kr. 1,3 mill. Gjenstående leietid er fra 12 til 60 måneder med en samlet resterende 

leie på ca. kr. 3,5 mill. 

Byggma Eiendom AS, som er et tidligere søsterselskap til Fibo AS, bygget i 2007 ny fabrikk 

i Lyngdal. Fibo AS har inngått leieavtale med Byggma Eiendom AS. 

Note 7      Immaterielle eiendeler

(Alle tall i 1000)

Forskning og Sum

utvikling Immat.eiend.

Kostpris 01.01 6 447 6 447

Årets tilgang 0 0

Årets avganger 0 0

Kostpris 31.12 6 447 6 447

Akk. avskrivning 01.01 6 183 6 183

Årets avskrivning 127 127

Akk. avskrivning 31.12 6 310 6 310

Netto bokført 01.01 264 264

Netto bokført 31.12 137 137

Lineær avskrivning

Selskapet har et eget forum som har fokus på produktutvikling. 

Selskapet har forventninger til at disse prosjektene vil generere positive inntekter som 

overgår våre utviklingskostnader. 
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Note 8    Fordringer og gjeld

(Alle tall i 1000)

Pantsatte eiendeler: 2020 2019

Kundefordringer 3 543              3 551        

Fordringer på konsernselskaper 16 684            11 233      

Varer 68 795            71 623      

Varige driftsmidler* 91 624            103 793    

Sum 180 646 190 201

* Selskapets eiendeler er pantsatt for gjeld i morselskapet, Fibo Group AS. 

Fibo AS er fellesregistrert i avgiftsregisteret med Fibo Group AS.

Fellesregistreringen medfører solidaransvar for betaling av merverdiavgiften.

Selskapet har vanligvis en garantitid for sine produkter i henhold til kjøpsloven.  I regnskapet

for 2020 er det avsatt til dekning av påløpne og forventede garantikrav.  Avsetningen på MNOK 1,1

er medtatt under annen kortsiktig gjeld.

Trekkrettighet

Pr 31.12.20 hadde Fibo AS ingen trekkrettigheter i form av kassakreditt o.l.

Kundefordringer 2020 2019

Kundefordringer 4 843              3 551        

- Delkredereavsetning -1 300             -300          

Bokført verdi kundefordringer 3 543              3 251        

Inntektsføring ved salg av varer skjer på leveringstidspunktet. Salgsinntekter presenteres etter 

fradrag for alle rabatter, bonuser og merverdiavgift. 

Gjeld til konsernselskaper 2020 2019

Fibo Group AS -81 391           -47 938     

Fibo Holding AS -                  -            

Fibo UK 42                   6 767        

Fibo OY -                  -641          

Fibo AB -465                -12 620     

SUM -81 814           -54 431     

Fordringer på konsernselskaper 2020 2019

Fibo AB 11 605            4 361        

Fibo Holding AS -                  -            

Fibo UK 3 079              6 872        

SUM 14 684            11 233      

Vesentlige transaksjoner med nærstående parter i 2020

Fibo AB Fibo UK Fibo Group AS 

Salg av tjenester -                  -            -                    

Salg av varer 33 860            45 290      -                    

SUM 33 860            45 290      

Fibo AB Fibo UK Fibo OY

Kjøp av tjenester 17                   -            4 053                

Kjøp av varer -                  -            -                    

SUM 17                   -            4 053                

Fibo AB, Fibo OY og Fibo UK er søsterselskaper av Fibo AS og Fibo Group AS er morselskap. 
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Note 9    Bankinnskudd,  Bundne midler

(Alle tall i 1000)

Selskapet har etablert egen konto for skattetrekksmidler. Saldo på skattetrekkskonto ved avleggelse av 

årsregnskapet for 2020 dekker bokført skyldig skattetrekk  pr 31.12.20 på MNOK 3,274.

Fibo AS er sammen med øvrige datterselskaper i Fibo Group AS, solidarisk ansvarlig for konsernets

obligasjonslån med pålydende MNOK 250, 31.12.20.

Til obligasjonslånet er det knyttet visse kovenanter vedrørende gjeldsgrad og likviditet. Pr 31.12.20 rapporterte 

konsernet kovenanter innenfor de nivå som er fastsatt på dette tidspunkt ihht obligasjonslånavtalen.

Note 10     Egenkapital

(Alle tall i 1000)

Aksje-

kapital Overkurs

Annen 

egenkapital Sum 

Egenkapital pr. 01.01.2020 20 000 6 000 43 050 69 050

Årets resultat 0 0 35 859 35 859

Avgitt konsernbidrag etter skatt 0 0 -39 096 -39 096

Endring av pensjonsforpliktelser ført direkte mot egenkapital 0 0 421 421

Egenkapital pr 31.12 2020 20 000 6 000 40 234 66 234

AKSJEKAPITAL

Selskapets aksjekapital består av 2.000 aksjer pålydende kr. 10.000,-, til sammen kr. 

20.000.000,-.  Alle aksjene er eid av morselskapet Fibo Group AS, c/o Regus Business Centre, 0279 Oslo.  

Her kan konsernregnskapet fås utlevert.
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Note 11 Finansiell risiko

(Alle tall i 1000)

Markedsrisiko

Selskapet har en god spredning i sine kunder. Ut fra produktspekter og spredning i salg til kunder vurderes

markedsrisikoen til å være liten. Fibo AS har en eksportandel på ca. 30%, men kjøper også en betydelig del

av sine varer i utenlandsvaluta. Risikoen ansees å være lav.

Renterisiko

Selskapet har pr. 31.12.20 ingen langsiktig ekstern rentebærende gjeld. En økning i det generelle rentenivået 

anses i liten grad påvirke bedriftens inntjening.

Kredittrisiko

Salget er organisert på en slik måte at kredittrisikoen anses å være lav sett i forhold til den finansielle styrken 

til Fibo AS. Dette skyldes at selskapets største kunder i de fleste tilfeller har interne sikringer av det enkelte

kjedemedlem. I tillegg har Fibo AS inngått avtale om factoring der kjøper av fordringene overtar kredittrisikoen. 

Tap på fordringer i 2020 var på kr. 133.370,-.

Valutarisiko

Utvikling i valutakurser innebærer både direkte og indirekte en økonomisk risiko for selskapet. 

Likviditetsrisiko

Likviditeten til selskapet ansees å være god.  Det er ikke gjort tiltak i 2020 som endrer på denne.

Råvarerisiko

Note 12     Finansposter

(Alle tall i 1000)

Finansinntekter 2020 2019

Andre renteinntekter 111         429         

Agio 21 632    9 230      

Sum finansinntekter 21 742    9 659      

Finanskostnader 2020 2019

Rentekostnader konsern 3 147      3 588      

Andre rentekostnader 9 512      10 306    

Disagio 15 661    3 895      

Sum finanskostnader 28 320    17 789    

Sum finansposter -6 577     -8 129     

Note 13     Aksjer og andeler

(Alle tall i 1000)

Investeringer i aksjer og andeler 2020 2019

Andre kortsiktige fordringer

Investeringer i aksjer og andeler, BHT Sør SA 16 16

Sum 16 16

Note 14     Hendelser etter balansedagen

Ved avleggelse av årsregnskapet for Fibo AS foreligger det ikke noen vesentlige hendelser

etter balansedagen. Etter styrets bedømning er likviditetssituasjonen tilfredsstillende.

Ny daglig leder fra 1 mars 2021 da nåværende daglig leder sluttet i Fibo og gikk over til ny arbeidsgiver

Fibo AS hadde per 31.12.20 ikke inngått noen avtaler om kjøp eller salg av valuta frem i tid.

Selskapet har god tilgang på nødvendige råvarer for produksjon av selskapets varer. 
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(Alle tall i NOK 1000) 

Likvider tilført / brukt på virksomheten: 2020 2019

Resultat før skatt 46 091 21 844

Gevinst (-)/tap(+) ved salg av anleggsmidler 0 157

Ordinære avskrivninger 15 863 15 275

Forskjellen mellom kostnadsført pensjon og inn-

/utbetalinger 1 418 1 060

Endring leverandørgjeld konsern 3 703 0

Endring i varer, kundefordringer og leverandørgjeld, 

tidsavgrensningsposter 11 259 13 622

Netto likviditetsendring fra virksomheten 78 334 51 958

Likvider tilført / brukt på investeringer:

Investeringer i varige driftsmidler -3 566 -5 353

Salg av varige driftsmidler (salgssum) 0 3 200

Endring i andre investeringer/anlegg under utførelse 0 0

Netto likviditetsendring fra investeringer -3 566 -2 153

Likvider tilført / brukt på finansiering:

Opptak av ny gjeld 0 0

Nedbetaling av gjeld 0 -9 390

Utbetaling av lån konsern -27 450 -25 432

Utbetaling konsernbidrag -3 494 0

Netto likviditetsendring fra finansiering -30 944 -34 822

Netto endring i likvider i året 43 823 14 982

Kontanter og  bankinnskudd per 01.01 14 982 0

Kontanter og  bankinnskudd per 31.12 58 806 14 982

Kontantstrømoppstilling  01.01-31.12.2020

Fibo AS
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PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, Dronning Eufemias gate 71, Postboks 748 Sentrum, NO-0106 Oslo 

T: 02316, org. no.: 987 009 713 MVA, www.pwc.no 

Statsautoriserte revisorer, medlemmer av Den norske Revisorforening og autorisert regnskapsførerselskap 
 

 

Til generalforsamlingen i Fibo AS 

Uavhengig revisors beretning 

Uttalelse om revisjonen av årsregnskapet 

Konklusjon 

Vi har revidert Fibo AS' årsregnskap som består av balanse per 31. desember 2020, resultatregnskap 
og kontantstrømoppstilling for regnskapsåret avsluttet per denne datoen og noter til årsregnskapet, 
herunder et sammendrag av viktige regnskapsprinsipper. 

Etter vår mening er det medfølgende årsregnskapet avgitt i samsvar med lov og forskrifter og gir et 
rettvisende bilde av selskapets finansielle stilling per 31. desember 2020, og av dets resultater og 
kontantstrømmer for regnskapsåret avsluttet per denne datoen i samsvar med regnskapslovens regler 
og god regnskapsskikk i Norge. 

Grunnlag for konklusjonen 

Vi har gjennomført revisjonen i samsvar med lov, forskrift og god revisjonsskikk i Norge, herunder de 
internasjonale revisjonsstandardene International Standards on Auditing (ISA-ene). Våre oppgaver og 
plikter i henhold til disse standardene er beskrevet i Revisors oppgaver og plikter ved revisjon av 
årsregnskapet. Vi er uavhengige av selskapet slik det kreves i lov og forskrift, og har overholdt våre 
øvrige etiske forpliktelser i samsvar med disse kravene. Etter vår oppfatning er innhentet 
revisjonsbevis tilstrekkelig og hensiktsmessig som grunnlag for vår konklusjon. 

Øvrig informasjon 

Ledelsen er ansvarlig for øvrig informasjon. Øvrig informasjon omfatter informasjon i årsrapporten 
bortsett fra årsregnskapet og den tilhørende revisjonsberetningen.  

Vår uttalelse om revisjonen av årsregnskapet dekker ikke øvrig informasjon, og vi attesterer ikke den 
øvrige informasjonen. 

I forbindelse med revisjonen av årsregnskapet er det vår oppgave å lese øvrig informasjon med det 
formål å vurdere hvorvidt det foreligger vesentlig inkonsistens mellom øvrig informasjon og 
årsregnskapet, kunnskap vi har opparbeidet oss under revisjonen, eller hvorvidt den tilsynelatende 
inneholder vesentlig feilinformasjon.  

Dersom vi konkluderer med at den øvrige informasjonen inneholder vesentlig feilinformasjon er vi 
pålagt å rapportere det. Vi har ingenting å rapportere i så henseende. 

Styrets og daglig leders ansvar for årsregnskapet 

Styret og daglig leder (ledelsen) er ansvarlig for å utarbeide årsregnskapet i samsvar med lov og 
forskrifter, herunder for at det gir et rettvisende bilde i samsvar med regnskapslovens regler og god 
regnskapsskikk i Norge. Ledelsen er også ansvarlig for slik internkontroll som den finner nødvendig 
for å kunne utarbeide et årsregnskap som ikke inneholder vesentlig feilinformasjon, verken som følge 
av misligheter eller utilsiktede feil. 
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Ved utarbeidelsen av årsregnskapet må ledelsen ta standpunkt til selskapets evne til fortsatt drift og 
opplyse om forhold av betydning for fortsatt drift. Forutsetningen om fortsatt drift skal legges til grunn 
for årsregnskapet så lenge det ikke er sannsynlig at virksomheten vil bli avviklet.  

Revisors oppgaver og plikter ved revisjonen av årsregnskapet 

Vårt mål med revisjonen er å oppnå betryggende sikkerhet for at årsregnskapet som helhet ikke 
inneholder vesentlig feilinformasjon, verken som følge av misligheter eller utilsiktede feil, og å avgi en 
revisjonsberetning som inneholder vår konklusjon. Betryggende sikkerhet er en høy grad av sikkerhet, 
men ingen garanti for at en revisjon utført i samsvar med lov, forskrift og god revisjonsskikk i Norge, 
herunder ISA-ene, alltid vil avdekke vesentlig feilinformasjon som eksisterer. Feilinformasjon kan 
oppstå som følge av misligheter eller utilsiktede feil. Feilinformasjon blir vurdert som vesentlig dersom 
den enkeltvis eller samlet med rimelighet kan forventes å påvirke økonomiske beslutninger som 
brukerne foretar basert på årsregnskapet. 

For videre beskrivelse av revisors oppgaver og plikter vises det til: 
https://revisorforeningen.no/revisjonsberetninger 

Uttalelse om andre lovmessige krav 

Konklusjon om årsberetningen 

Basert på vår revisjon av årsregnskapet som beskrevet ovenfor, mener vi at opplysningene i 
årsberetningen om årsregnskapet, forutsetningen om fortsatt drift og forslaget til resultatdisponering 
er konsistente med årsregnskapet og i samsvar med lov og forskrifter. 

Konklusjon om registrering og dokumentasjon 

Basert på vår revisjon av årsregnskapet som beskrevet ovenfor, og kontrollhandlinger vi har funnet 
nødvendig i henhold til internasjonal standard for attestasjonsoppdrag (ISAE) 3000 
«Attestasjonsoppdrag som ikke er revisjon eller forenklet revisorkontroll av historisk finansiell 
informasjon», mener vi at ledelsen har oppfylt sin plikt til å sørge for ordentlig og oversiktlig 
registrering og dokumentasjon av selskapets regnskapsopplysninger i samsvar med lov og god 
bokføringsskikk i Norge. 

 
Oslo, 18. juni 2021  
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS  
 
 
 
Jone Bauge  
Statsautorisert revisor 
(elektronisk signert) 
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Signers:

Name

This document package contains:
-  Closing page (this page)
-  The original document(s)
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This file is sealed with a digital signature.
The seal is a guarantee for the authenticity 
of the document.
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FIBO UK LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

- 1 -

The directors present their annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Principal activities
The principal activity of the company is that of manufacturing and distributing wall panels.

Directors
The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signature of the financial statements were as 
follows:

G S Beattie
A Carlson
E Koffeld
M Prytz (Resigned 30 April 2021)
P R Olsen (Appointed 30 April 2021)

Business review
Fair review of the business

The company's activities during the year have been impacted by the Coronavirus pandemic, resulting in a reduction in 
turnover from £7,628,055 in 2019 to £6,104,019 in 2020. The directors are pleased that the company has remained 
profitable and maintained its profit margins.

The Group continues to invest in new product development, marketing and sales to support increased sales and 
expand the company's market share.

Unit 2020 2019
Sales £ 6,104,019 7,628,055
Gross Profit £ 1,295,718 1,482,648
Working Capital £ 1,559,107 1,455,357
Gross Profit Margin % 21.2 19.4

Principal risk and uncertainties
The markets for the company's products remain competitive and the company seeks to expand it's strong market 
position. There is exposure to fluctuation in the Norwegian Krona exchange rates, however, this is managed at group 
level.

The pandemic outbreak during 2020 has clearly had a signfiicant negative impact on both people and financial 
markets and the day to day operations of the business have been disrupted. The company maintains close links with 
it's parent companies where additional support can be provided if necessary. The directors have reviewed the balance 
sheet and the cash flow requirements for the coming months and are very confident about the future growth.
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FIBO UK LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

- 2 -

Statement of directors' responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year.  Under that law the 
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.  Under company law the directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company 
and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.  In preparing these financial statements, International 
Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors:
�
�

�

�

properly select and apply accounting policies;
present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and 
understandable information;
provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable 
users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's financial 
position and financial performance; and
make an assessment of the company's ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and 
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  They are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities.

Statement of disclosure to auditor
So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the company's auditor is unaware. Additionally, the directors individually have taken all the 
necessary steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of all relevant audit 
information and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that information.

On behalf of the board

..............................
G S Beattie
Director

Date: .................................Stieng,Herm
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FIBO UK LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF FIBO UK LIMITED

- 3 -

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Fibo UK Limited (the 'company') for the year ended 31 December 
2020 which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of financial position, the statement 
of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, including significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.

In our opinion the financial statements:
�

�
�

give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2020 and of its profit for the 
year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a 
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report.

Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial statements 
and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the 
annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the 
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit:
�

�

the information given in the directors' report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
the directors' report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
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FIBO UK LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

TO THE MEMBERS OF FIBO UK LIMITED

- 4 -

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors' report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

�

�
�
�

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the financial statements, the 
directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do 
so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council's website at: https://
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.
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FIBO UK LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

TO THE MEMBERS OF FIBO UK LIMITED

- 5 -

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures 
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above and on the Financial Reporting Council’s website, to detect 
material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud.

We obtain and update our understanding of the entity, its activities, its control environment, and likely future 
developments, including in relation to the legal and regulatory framework applicable and how the entity is 
complying with that framework. Based on this understanding, we identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. This includes consideration of the risk of acts by the entity that were contrary to applicable laws and 
regulations, including fraud.

In response to the risk of irregularities and non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud, we 
designed procedures which included: 

�

�

�

�

Enquiry of management and those charged with governance around actual and potential litigation and
claims as well as actual, suspected and alleged fraud;
Assessing the extent of compliance with the laws and regulations considered to have a direct material 
effect on the financial statements or the operations of the company through enquiry and inspection;
Reviewing financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations; 
Performing audit work over the risk of management bias and override of controls, including testing of 
journal entries and other adjustments for appropriateness, evaluating the business rationale of 
significant transactions outside the normal course of business and reviewing accounting estimates for 
indicators of potential bias.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irregularities, including 
those leading to a material misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with regulation. This risk 
increases the more that compliance with a law or regulation is removed from the events and transactions 
reflected in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to become aware of instances of non-
compliance. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the 
company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Michael Wesley FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Azets Audit Services .........................
Chartered Accountants
Statutory Auditor Secure House

Lulworth Close
Chandlers Ford
Southampton
Hampshire
SO53 3TL

19 July 2021
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FIBO UK LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

- 6 -

2020 2019
Notes £ £

Revenue 3 6,104,019 7,628,055
Cost of sales (4,808,301) (6,145,407)

Gross profit 1,295,718 1,482,648

Other operating income 50,021 -
Administrative expenses (1,183,898) (1,230,250)

Operating profit 4 161,841 252,398

Finance costs 7 (1,425) (5,780)

Profit before taxation 160,416 246,618

Income tax expense 8 (24,125) (40,967)

Profit and total comprehensive income for the 
year 19 136,291 205,651

The income statement has been prepared on the basis that all operations are continuing operations.
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FIBO UK LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020
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2020 2019
Notes £ £

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 9 66,414 35,210
Property, plant and equipment 10 55,367 29,923

121,781 65,133

Current assets
Inventories 11 698,288 984,671
Trade and other receivables 12 1,472,350 1,606,523
Cash and cash equivalents 634,301 600,705

2,804,939 3,191,899

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 14 1,201,041 1,670,478
Current tax liabilities 25,940 42,969
Lease liabilities 15 18,851 23,095

1,245,832 1,736,542

Net current assets 1,559,107 1,455,357

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 15 25,614 1,507

Net assets 1,655,274 1,518,983

Equity
Called up share capital 18 10,000 10,000
Retained earnings 19 1,645,274 1,508,983

Total equity 1,655,274 1,518,983

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on ......................... 
and are signed on its behalf by:

..............................
G S Beattie
Director

Company Registration No. 01561013

15-07-2021
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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Share 
capital

Retained 
earnings

Total

£ £ £

Balance at 1 January 2019 10,000 1,303,332 1,313,332

Year ended 31 December 2019:
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year - 205,651 205,651

Balance at 31 December 2019 10,000 1,508,983 1,518,983

Year ended 31 December 2020:
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year - 136,291 136,291

Balance at 31 December 2020 10,000 1,645,274 1,655,274
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2020 2019
Notes £ £ £ £

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 22 171,376 422,194

Interest paid (1,425) (5,780)
Tax paid (41,154) (38,029)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 128,797 378,385

Investing activities
Purchase of intangible assets (54,459) (36,883)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (10,015) (3,139)

Net cash used in investing activities (64,474) (40,022)

Financing activities
Payment of lease liabilities (30,727) (33,635)

Net cash used in financing activities (30,727) (33,635)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 33,596 304,728

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 600,705 295,977

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 634,301 600,705
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FIBO UK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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1 Accounting policies

Company information
Fibo UK Limited is a private company limited by shares incorporated in England and Wales. The registered 
office is Watermeadow House, Chesham, Buckinghamshire, United Kingdom, HP5 1LF. The company's 
principal activities and nature of its operations are disclosed in the directors' report.

1.1 Accounting convention
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted for use in the European Union and with those parts of the Companies Act 
2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS, except as otherwise stated.

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the company. 
Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The principal accounting policies 
adopted are set out below.

1.2 Going concern
The directors have at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the 
company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus the 
directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

1.3 Revenue
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods have passed to the buyer (usually on dispatch of the goods), the amount of revenue can be 
measured reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

1.4 Intangible assets other than goodwill
Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are recognised at cost and are subsequently 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over 
their useful lives on the following bases:

Software 25% straight line

1.5 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost or 
valuation, net of depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over 
their useful lives on the following bases:

Leasehold land and buildings 6.66% straight line
Fixtures and fittings 25% straight line
Plant and equipment 25% straight line
Hardware and computer equipment 25% straight line
Motor vehicles 33% straight line

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale 
proceeds and the carrying value of the asset, and is recognised in the income statement.
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In the case of right-of-use assets, expected useful lives are determined by reference to comparable owned 
assets or the lease term, if shorter. Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are 
updated as required.

1.6 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell. Cost 
comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been 
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be 
incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. If inventory is impaired, the loss is recognised immediately 
within the income statement.

1.7 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

1.8 Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised in the company's statement of financial position when the company 
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are classified into specified 
categories, depending on the nature and purpose of the financial assets.

At initial recognition, financial assets classified as fair value through profit and loss are measured at fair 
value and any transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss. Financial assets not classified as fair value 
through profit and loss are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 

Financial assets held at amortised cost
Financial instruments are classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost where the objective is 
to hold these assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, and the contractual cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest. They arise principally from the provision of goods and services to 
customers (eg trade receivables). They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs directly 
attributable to their acquisition or issue, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, less provision for impairment where necessary.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators 
of impairment at each reporting end date.

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment 
have been affected.

Derecognition of financial assets
Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to another 
entity.

1.9 Financial liabilities
The company recognises financial debt when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instruments. Financial liabilities are classified as either 'financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss' or 'other financial liabilities'.
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Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss when the financial liability 
is held for trading. A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

�
�

�

it has been incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term, or 
on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the company 
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit taking, or 
it is a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging 
instrument.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value with any gains or losses arising 
on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, trade payables and other short-term monetary liabilities, are 
initially measured at fair value net of transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the financial 
liability. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. For the 
purposes of each financial liability, interest expense includes initial transaction costs and any premium 
payable on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is outstanding.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when, the company’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled, or they expire.

1.10 Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as 
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The company’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting end date.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction 
that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting end date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 
asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period 
when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income 
statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred 
tax is also dealt with in equity. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the company has a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate 
to taxes levied by the same tax authority.
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1.11 Employee benefits
The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense, unless those costs 
are required to be recognised as part of the cost of inventories or non-current assets.  

The cost of any unused holiday entitlement is recognised in the period in which the employee’s services 
are received.

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the company is demonstrably 
committed to terminate the employment of an employee or to provide termination benefits.

1.12 Retirement benefits
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due.

1.13 Leases
At inception, the company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease within the scope of IFRS 
16. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Where a tangible asset is acquired through a 
lease, the company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
Right-of-use assets are included within property, plant and equipment, apart from those that meet the 
definition of investment property.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date plus any initial direct costs 
and an estimate of the cost of obligations to dismantle, remove, refurbish or restore the underlying asset 
and the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement 
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The 
estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of other property, 
plant and equipment. The right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are unpaid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the company's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments included in the 
measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed payments, variable lease payments that depend on an 
index or a rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, and the cost of any 
options that the company is reasonably certain to exercise, such as the exercise price under a purchase 
option, lease payments in an optional renewal period, or penalties for early termination of a lease.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when 
there is a change in: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate; the company's 
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; or the company's 
assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease liability 
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to 
zero.

The company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of 
machinery that have a lease term of 12 months or less, or for leases of low-value assets including IT 
equipment. The payments associated with these leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.
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1.14 Grants
Government grants are recognised at the fair value of the asset received or receivable when there is 
reasonable assurance that the grant conditions will be met and the grants will be received.

A grant that specifies performance conditions is recognised in income when the performance conditions 
are met. Where a grant does not specify performance conditions it is recognised in income when the 
proceeds are received or receivable. A grant received before the recognition criteria are satisfied is 
recognised as a liability.

2 Adoption of new and revised standards and changes in accounting policies

There are no new accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards effective from 1 
January 2020 that have an impact on the company.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, several new but not yet effective accounting 
standards and amendments to existing accounting standards and interpretations have been published by
the IASB. None of these standards or amendments to existing standards have been adopted early by the
company and have not been disclosed as they are not expected to have a material impact on the 
company's financial statements.

As part of its exit from the European Union, the UK has been in a transition period up to 31 December 2020. 
From 1 January 2021, the company is required to apply UK-adopted IFRS. In the short term, UK and EU-
adopted IFRS are expected to be identical as all existing EU-adopted IFRS are brought into UK Law and 
become UK-adopted IFRS as at 31 December 2020. Going forward, any changes to IFRS will be applied 
once adopted by the UK.

3 Revenue
2020 2019

£ £
Revenue analysed by class of business
Sale of goods 6,104,019 7,628,055

2020 2019
£ £

Other significant revenue
Government grants received 50,021 -

All of the company's revenue is generated in the United Kingdom.

Government grants received are in relation to the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme.
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4 Operating profit
2020 2019

£ £
Operating profit for the year is stated after charging/(crediting):
Government grants (50,021) -
Fees payable to the company's auditor for the audit of the company's 
financial statements 7,110 6,365
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 35,162 35,931
Amortisation of intangible assets 23,254 1,673
Write downs of inventories recognised as an expense 84,830 26,184

5 Employees

The average monthly number of persons (including directors) employed by the company during the year 
was:

2020 2019
Number Number

12 11

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
2020 2019

£ £

Wages and salaries 520,085 539,227
Social security costs 65,200 63,886
Pension costs 37,044 31,401

622,329 634,514

6 Directors' remuneration
2020 2019

£ £

Remuneration for qualifying services 161,012 160,167
Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes 8,014 7,569

169,026 167,736

The number of directors for whom retirement benefits are accruing under defined contribution schemes 
amounted to 1 (2019 - 1).
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7 Finance costs
2020 2019

£ £

Interest on lease liabilities 1,425 5,780

8 Income tax expense
2020 2019

£ £
Current tax
UK corporation tax on profits for the current period 24,125 40,967

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows:

2020 2019
£ £

Profit before taxation 160,416 246,618

Expected tax charge based on a corporation tax rate of 19.00% 30,479 46,857
Effect of expenses not deductible in determining taxable profit 497 590
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation (6,989) (6,730)
Temporary timing difference 138 250

Taxation charge for the year 24,125 40,967

9 Intangible assets
Software

£
Cost
Additions 36,883

At 31 December 2019 36,883
Additions - purchased 54,459

At 31 December 2020 91,341
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£
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Amortisation and impairment
Charge for the year 1,673

At 31 December 2019 1,673
Charge for the year 23,254

At 31 December 2020 24,927

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2020 66,414

At 31 December 2019 35,210

10 Property, plant and equipment
Leasehold 

land and 
buildings

Fixtures and 
fittings

Plant and 
equipment

Hardware and 
computer 

equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Total

£ £ £ £ £ £
Cost
At 1 January 2019 - 12,857 7,709 9,470 - 30,036
Additions - 1,466 - 1,673 - 3,139
Adjustment on transition to 
IFRS 16 23,639 - - - 34,598 58,237

At 31 December 2019 23,639 14,323 7,709 11,143 34,598 91,412
Additions - 240 - 9,775 50,591 60,606
Disposals (23,639) - - - (25,840) (49,479)

At 31 December 2020 - 14,563 7,709 20,918 59,349 102,539

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment
At 1 January 2019 - 10,562 7,709 7,287 - 25,558
Charge for the year 17,903 837 - 1,459 15,732 35,931

At 31 December 2019 17,903 11,399 7,709 8,746 15,732 61,489
Charge for the year 5,736 1,555 - 2,879 24,992 35,162
Eliminated on disposal (23,639) - - - (25,840) (49,479)

At 31 December 2020 - 12,954 7,709 11,625 14,884 47,172
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10 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold 
land and 

buildings

Fixtures and 
fittings

Plant and 
equipment

Hardware and 
computer 

equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

(Continued)
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Carrying amount
At 31 December 2020 - 1,609 - 9,293 44,465 55,367

At 31 December 2019 5,736 2,924 - 2,397 18,866 29,923

At 31 December 2018 - 2,295 - 2,183 - 4,478

Property, plant and equipment includes right-of-use assets, as follows:

Right-of-use assets 2020 2019
£ £

Net values
Property - 5,736
Motor vehicles 44,465 18,866

44,465 24,602

Depreciation charge for the year
Property 5,736 17,903
Motor vehicles 24,992 15,732

30,728 33,635

11 Inventories
2020 2019

£ £

Finished goods 698,288 984,671

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense in the year amounted to £3,467,236 (2019 -
£5,444,535). This is included within cost of sales. 

12 Trade and other receivables
2020 2019

£ £

Trade receivables 1,413,311 1,575,532
Other receivables 16,236 -
Prepayments 42,803 30,991

1,472,350 1,606,523
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Trade receivables disclosed above are classified as loans and receivables and are therefore measured at 
amortised cost.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables is approximately equal to 
their fair value. 

No significant receivable balances are impaired at the reporting end date.

13 Fair value of financial liabilities

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial liabilities carried at amortised cost in the 
financial statements is approximate to their fair values.

14 Trade and other payables
2020 2019

£ £

Trade payables 148,897 88,905
Amounts owed to fellow group undertakings 684,360 1,316,659
Accruals 211,936 174,805
Social security and other taxation 151,118 89,062
Other payables 4,730 1,047

1,201,041 1,670,478

15 Lease liabilities
2020 2019

Maturity analysis £ £

Within one year 18,851 23,095
In two to five years 25,614 1,507

Total undiscounted liabilities 44,465 24,602

Lease liabilities are classified based on the amounts that are expected to be settled within the next 12 
months and after more than 12 months from the reporting date, as follows:

2020 2019
£ £

Current liabilities 18,851 23,095
Non-current liabilities 25,614 1,507

44,465 24,602
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2020 2019
Amounts recognised in profit or loss include the following: £ £

Interest on lease liabilities 1,425 5,780

The company has leases for its office and motor vehicles. With the exception of short-term leases, each 
lease is reflected on the balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The company classifies 
its right-of-use assets in a consistent manner to its property, plant and equipment (see Note 9). The lease 
liabilities are secured by the related underlying assets.

The company has elected not to recognise a lease liability for short term leases (leases with an expected 
term of 12 months or less). Payments made under such leases are expensed on a straight-line basis. 
During the year, the expense relating to payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability 
was £29,693 (2019: £5,490). At 31 December 2020, the company's commitment to short-term leases was 
£nil (2019: £nil).

16 Retirement benefit schemes

Defined contribution schemes
The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all qualifying employees. The assets of 
the scheme are held separately from those of the company in an independently administered fund.

The total costs charged to income in respect of defined contribution plans is £37,044 (2019 - £31,401).

17 Risk Management

Credit risk
The Company finances its operations through a mixture of equity and group borrowings. The exposure to 
credit risk is mitigated by selling to a diverse range of customers and where necessary, obtaining either 
letter of credit or payments in advance. 

The Company does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or counter-party, nor 
does it have any major concentration of credit risk related to any financial instruments. Stieng,Herm
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Maximum credit risk
2020 2019

£ £
Trade and other receivables 1,413,311 1,575,532

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Company's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that sufficient resources and flexibility is 
maintained to allow the Company to meet it's obligations without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Company's reputation.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates or interest rates, that 
will affect the Company's income. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control 
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Capital risk
The capital of the company is represented by the net assets attributable to the members. The company's 
objective when managing the capital is to safeguard the ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide returns for members and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain a strong capital base to 
support the development of the investment activities of the company. The directors monitor capital on the 
basis of the value of net assets attributable to members.

18 Share capital
2020 2019 2020 2019

Ordinary share capital Number Number £ £
Issued and fully paid
of £1 each 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

Ordinary shares have the following rights, preferences and restrictions:

The ordinary shares have equal voting rights, equal rights to dividends and equal rights on distribution. 
They are not liable to be redeemed.

19 Retained earnings
2020 2019

£ £

At the beginning of the year 1,508,983 1,303,332
Profit for the year 136,291 205,651

At the end of the year 1,645,274 1,508,983

Retained earning are cumulative profits generated by the company less distributions to shareholders via 
dividends. These are either reinvested in the business or kept as a reserve for specific objective. 
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20 Related party transactions

Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the directors, who are the only key management personnel, is set out in Note 6
Directors' remuneration.

Other transactions with related parties
During the year the company made purchases of £3,735,088 (2019: £5,307,054) from Fibo-Trespo AS, a
fellow group subsidiary company. At the balance sheet date, the company owed Fibo-Trespo AS £516,001
(2019: £1,159,807).

During the year the company incurred management charges of £168,359 (2019: £156,852) from Fibo-
Trespo Group AS, the parent entity. At the balance sheet date, the company owed £168,359 (2019: 
£156,852) to Fibo-Trespo Group AS.

21 Controlling party

Fibo UK Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Fibo-Trespo Group AS, a company incorporated in 
Norway. 

The results of the company are included in the consolidated financial statements of Fibo-Trespo Holding 
AS, as a company incorporated in Norway, Head Office Industrivn 2, N -4580 Lyngdal, Norway.

The ultimate parent company is FSN Capital Fund IV, a fund under management of FSN Capital Partners 
AS. The directors consider that there is no one ultimate controlling party. 

22 Cash generated from operations
2020 2019

£ £

Profit for the year after tax 136,291 205,651

Adjustments for:
Taxation charged 24,125 40,967
Finance costs 1,425 5,780
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 23,254 1,673
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 35,162 35,931

Movements in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 286,383 (121,258)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 134,173 (83,494)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (469,437) 336,944

Cash generated from operations 171,376 422,194
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FIBO UK LIMITED

DETAILED TRADING AND PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020 2019
£ £ £ £

Revenue
Sales of goods 6,104,019 7,628,055

Cost of sales
Finished goods purchases 3,753,619 4,837,181
Carriage inwards and import duty 476,296 473,868
Distribution fee 275,000 590,000
Write down of stock 84,830 26,184
Packaging 218,556 218,174

(4,808,301) (6,145,407)

Gross profit 21.23% 1,295,718 19.44% 1,482,648

Other operating income
Coronavirus job retention scheme grant 50,021 -
Administrative expenses (1,183,898) (1,230,250)

Operating profit 161,841 252,398

Finance costs
Interest on right of use liability (1,425) (5,780)

Profit before taxation 2.63% 160,416 3.23% 246,618
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FIBO UK LIMITED

SCHEDULE OF ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020 2019
£ £

Administrative expenses
Wages and salaries 361,458 380,060
Social security costs 44,517 43,105
Staff recruitment costs 8,360 6,493
Private medical care 9,151 9,076
Staff training 3,307 658
Staff pension costs defined contribution 29,030 23,832
Directors' remuneration 158,627 159,167
Directors' social security costs 20,683 20,781
Directors' pension costs - defined contribution scheme 8,014 7,569
Management charge 168,359 156,852
Rent re operating leases 29,693 13,066
Property repairs and maintenance 1,135 2,150
Premises insurance 10,338 8,636
Computer running costs 17,132 9,222
Leasing - motor vehicles - 2,776
Motor running expenses 19,892 31,318
Travelling expenses 10,834 33,366
Professional subscriptions - 452
Legal and professional fees 9,135 10,750
Accountancy 22,387 41,026
Audit fees 7,110 6,365
Bank charges 2,140 2,361
Bad and doubtful debts 27,184 -
Postage and stationery 23,309 15,927
Advertising 121,236 193,514
Telecommunications 8,344 6,709
Entertaining 2,753 2,586
Sundry expenses 1,354 4,829
Amortisation 23,254 1,673
Depreciation 35,162 35,931
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